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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The information contained in this report should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes contained elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Certain statements made in this report are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These
statements are based upon beliefs of, and information currently available to, us as of the date hereof, as well as estimates and assumptions made by us.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which are only predictions and speak only as of the date hereof.
When used herein, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” “future,” “i plan,” “predict,” “project,” “target,” “potential,” “will,”

"o " u ” o " ou " u " o

intend,
“would,” “could,” “should,” “continue” or the negative of these terms and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Such statements reflect
our current view with respect to future events and are subject to risks, uncertainties, assumptions, and other factors, including the risks relating to our
business, industry, and our operations and results of operations. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should the underlying
assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may differ significantly from those anticipated, believed, estimated, expected, intended, or planned.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels



of activity, performance, or achievements. Except as required by applicable law, including the securities laws of the United States, we do not intend to
update any of the forward-looking statements to conform these statements to actual results.

Forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include statements about:

our ability to achieve and sustain profitability of our existing lines of business and through our wholly owned subsidiaries;

our ability to raise sufficient capital to continue to acquire cybersecurity companies;

our ability to attract and retain qualified cybersecurity talent;

our ability to identify potential acquisition targets within predetermined parameters;

our ability to successfully execute acquisitions, integrate the acquired businesses, and create synergies as a global cybersecurity consolidator;

our ability to attract and retain qualified key technology or management personnel and to expand our management team;

the accuracy of estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements, profitability, and needs for additional financing;

our dependence on establishing and maintaining a strong brand;

the occurrence of service interruptions and security or privacy breaches and related remediation efforts and fines;

system failures or capacity constraints;

our ability to efficiently acquire customers and maintain high client retention rates;

the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on our business and our ability to effectively manage the exposure to such fluctuations;
our ability to maintain our relationships with our partners;

adverse consequences of our substantial level of indebtedness and our ability to repay our debt;

our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual property;

our ability to maintain or improve our market shares;

business interruptions resulting from geo-political actions, including war, terrorism, and disease outbreaks (such as COVID-19, the war in Ukraine,
tensions and conflict affecting the Middle East, and geopolitical tensions involving China);

sufficiency of cash and cash equivalents to meet our needs for at least the next 12 months;

our ability to grow internationally;

beliefs and objectives for future operations;

our ability to stay in compliance with laws and regulations currently applicable to, or which may become applicable to our business both in the United
States and internationally;

economic and industry trends or trend analysis;

anticipated income tax rates, tax estimates and tax standards;

expectations regarding the impact of inflation, action taken by central banks to counter inflation, rising interest rates, and changes in foreign exchange
rates on our business and financial results;

the future trading price of our common stock;

our ability to maintain an effective system of internal controls and accurately report our financial results and remediate material weaknesses;

our expectation regarding the outcome of any regulator investigation or litigation;

the potential impact of shareholder activism on our business and operations;

our ability to navigate through the increasingly complex cybersecurity regulatory environment; and any other statements regarding our future
operations, financial condition, growth prospects and business strategies.

These statements are only predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, including the risks in the section
entitled “Risk Factors” set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, any of which may cause our or our industry’s
actual results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance, or
achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks may cause our or our industry’s actual results, levels of activity, or
performance to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, or performance expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. These accounting
principles require us to make certain estimates, judgments, and assumptions. We believe that the estimates, judgments, and assumptions upon which we
rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these estimates, judgments, and assumptions are made. These estimates,
judgments, and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements as well as the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. Our financial statements would be affected to the extent there are material differences
between these estimates and actual results. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and notes thereto
appearing elsewhere in this report.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Unless otherwise indicated or the context requires otherwise, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” and “our company” refer to CISO Global, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, and our wholly owned subsidiaries. Unless otherwise specified, all dollar amounts are expressed in United States dollars.

Our Business
General

We are a cybersecurity and compliance company comprised of highly trained and seasoned security professionals who work with clients to
enhance or create a better cyber posture in their organization. Cybersecurity, also known as computer security or information technology security, is the
protection of computer systems and networks from information disclosure, theft of or damage to their hardware, software, or electronic data, as well as
from the disruption or misdirection of the services they provide. The cybersecurity industry has a supply and demand issue wherein there is more
demand for cybersecurity services than there are expert and seasoned compliance and cybersecurity professionals available in the market. We seek to
identify, attract, and retain highly skilled cyber and compliance teams and bring them together to provide holistic cyber services. We accomplish this
through acquisitions, direct hiring, and incentivizing employees with stock options to help retain them. On an ongoing basis, we seek to identify cyber
talent that is culturally aligned and that offers operating leverage through both existing customer revenue and relationships. We have invested in
enterprise solutions and executive talent to integrate our different organizations into an ecosystem that works together to provide complete and holistic
cybersecurity through cross pollination of solutions. The ecosystem is intended to provide additional revenue opportunities and drive overall recurring
revenue.

We emphasize to clients the critical nature of having their work force create a continuously aware security culture. Once engaged, we strive to
become the trusted advisors for customers’ cybersecurity and compliance needs by providing tailored security solutions based upon their organizational
needs. We do not focus on selling cybersecurity products; we are product-agnostic so that we can provide solutions that fit the customer’s security needs,
financial realities, and future strategy. Our approach is to evaluate the client’s organization holistically, identify compliance requirements, and secure the
infrastructure while helping to create a culture of security.

We provide a full range of cybersecurity consulting and related services, encompassing all three pillars of compliance, cybersecurity, and culture.



Our services include compliance services, secured managed services, security operations center (“SOC") services, virtual Chief Information Security
Officer (“"vCISO”) services, incident response, certified forensics, technical assessments, and cybersecurity training. We believe that culture is the
foundation of every successful cybersecurity and compliance program. To deliver that outcome, we developed our unique offering of MCCP+ (“Managed
Compliance & Cybersecurity Provider + Culture”), which is the only holistic solution that provides all three of these pillars under one roof from a dedicated
team of subject matter experts. In contrast to the majority of cybersecurity firms that are focused on a specific technology or service, we seek to
differentiate ourselves by remaining technology agnostic, focusing on accumulating highly sought-after topic experts. We continually seek to identify and
acquire cybersecurity talent to expand our service scope and geographical coverage to provide the best possible service for our clients. We believe that
bringing together a world-class team of technological experts with multi-faceted expertise in the critical aspects of cybersecurity is key to providing
technology agnostic solutions to our clients in a business environment that has suffered from a chronic lack of highly skilled professionals, thereby setting
us apart from competitors and in-house security teams. Our goal is to create a culture of security and to help quantify, define, and capture a return on
investment from information technology and cybersecurity spending.

Offering this set of cybersecurity services allows us to capture more revenue with greater efficiency, facilitating greater profitability and stronger
customer retention. The benefit to our customers is that they receive an efficient engagement from a single provider that covers a wide range of their
needs. This means their challenges are addressed more thoroughly and problems are resolved more rapidly when compared to working with multiple
vendors. This leads to the best possible outcome, which enables our customers to commit to us for the long term.
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We believe that our business model is differentiated from other companies in the industry in that our employees are not consultants; they are
dedicated partners available on a recurring monthly contract. Due to the numerous challenges in hiring experienced cybersecurity and compliance
professionals, assimilating our team of industry and subject matter experts into our clients’ teams is the ideal solution.

We are technology agnostic. Whereas, most cybersecurity firms are locked into working with a single technology, we seek to differentiate
ourselves by remaining technology agnostic. This approach enables us to work with any business, no matter what systems or tools they use. For our
customers, the benefit is equally valuable as they are able to choose the best tools and technology for their business needs without affecting their
relationship with us.

We believe that building a world-class technology team with industry-specific and subject-matter expertise is the key to providing cutting-edge
solutions to our clients. We will continue to identify and acquire cybersecurity talent to expand our scope of services and geographical footprint to fortify
our capability to deliver excellence to our customers. Furthermore, our goal is to stay a step ahead of threat actors and regulatory obligations to keep our
customers safe and compliant.

The Cybersecurity Challenge

As the world has become increasingly connected through the Internet, cyberattacks have prevailed and evolved, in different forms, causing
uncontainable threats to the integrity and privacy of enterprise and personal data and resulted in significant economic losses globally. A report published
by Cybersecurity Ventures stated that damages from global cybercrime is predicted to hit $10.5 trillion annually by 2025. Cybersecurity Ventures
estimated that consumers and organizations will fall victim to a ransomware attack every two seconds at an approximate cost of $265 billion annually in
2031. This is up from $20 billion and every 11 seconds in 2021. As a result, ransomware is one of the fastest growing types of cybercrime. Moreover, an
Accenture survey reported that 68% of business leaders feel their cybersecurity risks are increasing. Cybersecurity Ventures has also estimated that
worldwide global cybersecurity spending will exceed $1.75 trillion cumulatively from the fiscal years 2021 to 2025, with $459 billion expected to be spent
on an annual basis in 2025. The New York Times reported that in 2021 there would be 3.5 million unfilled job openings in the cybersecurity field. Three
years later, despite widespread university and government investments into education programs and recruitment efforts, the rates are roughly the same,
based upon a report from Cybersecurity Ventures, and that disparity between supply and demand will remain through at least 2025.

In response to the increasing economic damage caused by heightened cybersecurity risks, regulatory bodies have pushed the implementation of
new cybersecurity legislations, and cyber insurance companies have increased minimum cybersecurity underwriting requirements, as well as premium
costs. We believe that we are well positioned in a fast-growing industry to provide businesses with a wide scope of cybersecurity services and with
significant opportunities for growth. We support clients from 17 historical acquisitions with expanded service offerings. With 1,100 clients, this represents
a tremendous opportunity for cross-selling and upselling. Additionally, we have built and continue to expand an extensive channel and partnership
ecosystem, providing training, support, and partner marketing content to establish reliable streams of new revenue with new clients. In addition, our
strategy around IP allows us to further penetrate our existing customers, new markets, and opens up additional partnership opportunities.

Cybersecurity Service Offerings

We offer a comprehensive range of cybersecurity services to protect our clients’ digital assets and ensure compliance with industry standards
and regulations. Our services fall into two main categories: Security Managed Services and Professional Services.
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Security Managed Services

Our Security Managed Services include the following offerings:

e Compliance Services: We help clients implement appropriate controls, prioritize risks, and ensure adherence to industry standards and regulations,
such as Cybersecurity Maturity Model Certification (“CMMC”), Federal Risk and Authorization Management Program (“FedRAMP”), Federal
Information Security Modernization Act (“FISMA”), Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA™), Health Information Trust
Alliance (“HITRUST"), Import Export Code (“IEC"), Internal Organization for Standardization (“ISO”), National Institute of Standards and Technology
(“NIST"), and more. Our experienced experts possess relevant certifications and provide continuous monitoring and support.

e Cyber Defense Operations: Our U.S.-based SOC provides 24/7 threat monitoring, alerting, validation, and proactive threat hunting. We offer
Managed Detection and Response (“MDR”), Extended Detection and Response (“XDR”), Security Information and Event Management (“SIEM”), and
Patch and Vulnerability Management services, ensuring a unified solution for cyber resiliency.

e Secured Managed Services: We offer fully managed Security Managed Services (“SMS”), combining secure network architecture, our portfolio of

internally developed cybersecurity software, SOC services, compliance support, remediation teams, and advanced firewall management. Our
engineers and architects can manage secure cloud migrations, design new systems, and implement solutions to minimize security risks efficiently.

Cybersecurity Professional Services

Our Professional Services include the following offerings:



e Incident Response and Digital Forensics: Our experienced team specializes in identifying and remediating cyber attacks, using real-world hacking
techniques to investigate the entire environment discreetly, assess the scope of the attack, and effectively remediate any damages or persistent
threats.

e Security Testing and Training: We provide security testing services, including penetration testing (red team and purple team), attack simulation
exercises, and training programs, including CMMC (Certified Cyber Profession (“CCP”) and Cybersecurity Capability Assessment (“CCA")),

Computing Technology Industry Association (“CompTIA”), International Information System Security Certification Consortium (“ISC 2"), to increase
clients’ cybersecurity readiness and resiliency.
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Growth Strategy

We are following a phased growth strategy. In Phase |, we established a foundation of end-to-end cybersecurity experts through acquiring niche
companies with unparalleled expertise and talent. Today, our experts span the United States and Latin America and each have their own special
expertise, industry specific knowledge, familiarity with regulatory frameworks and focal areas that fall into four key pillars of cybersecurity: risk and
compliance, cyber defense operations, security testing and training, and secure IT and architecture. These practice areas, led by a seasoned executive
team of industry thought leaders, are enabling us to effectively tackle a rapidly expanding market.

In Phase Il of our growth strategy, we are supporting clients from 17 historical acquisitions with expanded service offerings. With only a 9%
penetration into 1,100 clients for multiple services consumed, this represents a tremendous opportunity for cross-selling and upselling. Additionally, we
have built and continue to expand an extensive channel and partnership ecosystem, providing training, support, and partner marketing content to
establish reliable streams of new revenue with new clients.

Phase Il also includes the development and launch of key software-first intellectual property (“IP”) technologies that can effectively address many
of the cybersecurity challenges facing enterprises today. Leveraging machine learning (“ML"), artificial intelligence (“Al”), deep learning, and neural net
technologies, as well as proprietary DarkNet threat intelligence, we are developing multi-layered cybersecurity technologies to help drive the cyber
effectiveness leading to resiliency.

Equipped with a comprehensive team, our focus in Phase Il will be fueling organic growth with our intellectual property. With a complete portfolio
of scalable solutions that are underpinned by an end-to-end team of cybersecurity and compliance experts, we can expand our technology offerings
through product led growth strategies. Optimizing user experience and hands-free purchasing through digital interfaces, the company can grow its clients
without adding demand to its services team. Such scalability will serve to increase revenue and margins concurrently.

We are focused on the development of our own Intellectual Property suite which incorporates Al, Neural Nets and the latest generation of
algorithms. Our portfolio includes the following software-first solutions:

ARGO Security Management — A security management platform which is able to aggregate, then curate security data in real time from a client’s
entire environment, including network asset information, currently deployed cyber tools, SOC, vulnerability management, secure managed IT and
penetration testing data.

CISO Edge Cloud Security Platform — A cloud-first security solution designed to protect users from untrusted and malicious online threats. CISO
Edge uses advanced Al deep learning as well as artificial neural networks to provide advanced threat detection and monitoring.

CHECKLIGHT®Endpoint Security Monitoring — A powerful, proactive security monitoring software that detects potential threats to networks and
provides advance alerts so attacks can't take hold. Relying on the same cybersecurity software engine used by several federal agencies, it
identifies unauthorized processes associated with fraudulent phishing attacks, hacking, imposter scams, malware, ransomware, and viruses.

DISC Next Gen VPN — A token exchange-protected remote access solution that replaces traditional VPN connections with enhanced security and
access verification.

Skanda Breach Assessment Tool — A next-generation, analysis tool that applies Al-based automation and ML technologies, which looks beyond
vulnerabilities identified by most other technology to deliver continuous security assessments.

Our Corporate and Acquisition History

We were formed on March 5, 2019 as a Delaware corporation. Our principal offices are located at 6900 East Camelback Road, Suite 900,
Scottsdale, Arizona 85251.

On October 2, 2019, we filed a registration statement on Form 10-12G with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) to effect
registration of our common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, under the Exchange Act. The registration statement became effective on December 1,
2019.

On February 29, 2024, our board of directors approved a 1-for-15 reverse stock split of our common stock. The record date for the reverse stock
split was the close of business on March 7, 2024, with share distribution occurring on March 8, 2024. As a result of the reverse stock split, stockholders
received one share of CISO Global, Inc. common stock, par value $0.00001, for each 15 shares they held as of the record date. All share and per share
amounts have been retroactively restated for the effects of this reverse stock split. Common stock underlying our outstanding warrants, convertible notes,
and options have also been adjusted, and the conversion and exercise prices have also been adjusted.
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We have substantially expanded our business in recent years through a number of acquisitions. The following table sets forth certain information
regarding such acquisitions:

Acquired Company, Location Type of Acquisition Date Services Provided by Acquired Company
GenResults, LLC (“GenResults”) Stock April 12, 2019 Cybersecurity services.

Arizona®

VCAB Six Corporation (“VCAB”) Merger April 12, 2019 N/AG)

Texas



TalaTek, LLC (“TalaTek”) Merger October 1, 2019 Integrated risk management services, including risk

Virginia assessments, IT audits, cybersecurity services, and
managed compliance services.

Technologyville, Inc. Stock May 25, 2020 Managed IT services.

lllinois

Clear Skies Security, LLC Stock August 1, 2020 Security assessment and penetration testing.

Georgia

Alpine Security, LLC Merger December 16, 2020 Integrated risk management services.

Missouri

Catapult Acquisition Corporation Merger August 12, 2021 Integrated risk management services.

(“VeloclT”)

New Jersey

Atlantic Technology Systems, Inc., and Stock October 1, 2021 Integrated risk management services.

Atlantic Technology Enterprises, Inc.

(collectively, “Atlantic™)

New Jersey

RED74 LLC (“RED74") Merger November 9, 2021 Integrated risk management services.

New Jersey

Ocean Point Equities, Inc. (“Arkavia”) Stock December 1, 2021 Cybersecurity services.

Santiago, Chile

True Digital Security, Inc. (“True Digital”) Stock January 19, 2022 Cybersecurity and compliance.

New York

Florida

Oklahoma

Creatrix, Inc. Stock June 1, 2022 Identity management, systems integration and

Tennessee software engineering, biometrics, vetting,

Maryland credentialing, and case management.

CyberViking, LLC Stock July 1, 2022 Application security services, incident response,

Georgia threat hunting, and creation and management of

Oregon security operation centers.

Servicios Informaticos CUATROi, S.P.A., Stock August 25, 2022 Managed services and cybersecurity.

Comercializadora CUATROI S.P.A.,

CUATROI Peru, S.A.C., and

CUATROI S.A.S.

Santiago, Chile

Bogota, Columbia, and Lima, Peru

NLT Networks, S.P.A., Stock September 1, 2022 Security solutions and managed services.

NLT Technologias, Limitada,

NLT Servicios Profesionales, S.P.A., and

White and Blue Solutions, LLC

Providencia, Chile

Florida

SB Cyber Technologies, LLC Stock July 14, 2023 Managed services and compliance.

Virginia

(1) Prior to our acquisition of GenResults, GenResults was wholly owned by an entity affiliated with David G. Jemmett, our Chief Executive Officer
and a director of our company. Due to the companies being under common control, we accounted for the acquisition as a reorganization.

(2) At the time of the VCAB Merger, VCAB was subject to a bankruptcy proceeding and had minimal assets, no equity owners, and no liabilities,
except for approximately 1,500 holders of Class 5 Allowed General Unsecured Claims and a holder of allowed administrative expenses
(collectively the “Claim Holders”). Pursuant to the terms of the VCAB Merger, and in accordance with the bankruptcy plan, we issued an
aggregate of 133,334 shares of our common stock (the “Plan Shares”) to the Claim Holders as full settlement and satisfaction of their respective
claims. As provided in the bankruptcy plan, the Plan Shares were issued pursuant to Section 1145 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. We
entered into the VCAB Merger to increase our stockholder base to, among other things, assist us in satisfying the listing standards of a national

securities exchange.
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Customers

Our recent acquisitions have resulted in expansion of our customer base and increased usage within existing customers. None of our customers
individually accounted for more than 10.0% of our consolidated revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, nor are we dependent upon a

few major customers.

Competition

The cybersecurity market is highly fragmented. We primarily compete with established and emerging security product vendors. While the market

for traditional endpoint and IT operations solutions has historically been competitive, we believe as we look to enter into adjacent markets and expand our
total addressable market, we may face new competitors. We believe we compete favorably with our competitors on the basis of these factors as a result
of our intelligence and expertise from the frontlines, as well as the features and performance of our solutions, the ease of integration of our solutions in
diverse IT environments, the breadth of our services, the integration of our SaaS solution offerings in our platform, the measurement and reporting
capabilities of our validation technologies, and the reputation of our consulting organization. However, many of our competitors have substantially greater



financial, technical and other resources, greater name recognition, larger sales and marketing budgets, deeper customer relationships, broader
distribution, and larger and more mature intellectual property portfolios.

We face direct competition from all small-to-medium-sized cybersecurity service providers nationwide given the broad service scope we currently
provide. Many competitors provide cloud-based services, which means our competition is not restricted by regions. It is critical for our executive
management team to identify and attract strategic acquisition targets in order to strengthen our competitive advantage as a cybersecurity consolidator,
which we believe brings higher service quality, more diverse service scope, and broader geographical coverage at a lower cost.

Intellectual Property

We believe that our intellectual property rights are valuable and important to our business. We rely on trademarks, patents, copyrights, trade
secrets, license agreements, intellectual property assignment agreements, confidentiality procedures, non-disclosure agreements, and employee non-
disclosure and invention assignment agreements to establish and protect our proprietary rights. Though we rely in part upon these legal and contractual
protections, we believe that factors such as the skills and ingenuity of our employees and the functionality and frequent enhancements to our solutions
are larger contributors to our success in the marketplace.

We continue to grow our portfolio of intellectual property rights in connection with our products, services, research and development, and other
activities to protect our proprietary technology relevant to our business. We intend to pursue additional intellectual property protection to the extent we
believe it would be beneficial and cost-effective.

If we become more successful, we believe that competitors will be more likely to try to develop products that are similar to ours and that may
infringe our proprietary rights. It may also be more likely that competitors or other third parties will claim that our products infringe their proprietary rights.
In particular, large and established companies in the cybersecurity industry have extensive patent portfolios and are regularly involved in both offensive
and defensive litigation. From time-to-time, third parties, including certain of these large companies and non-practicing entities, may assert patent,
copyright, trademark, and other intellectual property rights against us, our channel partners, our cloud platform providers, or our end-customers, whom
our standard license and other agreements obligate us to indemnify against such claims. Successful claims of infringement by a third party, if any, could
prevent us from distributing certain products or performing certain services, require us to expend time and money to develop non-infringing solutions, or
force us to pay substantial damages (including, in the United States, treble damages if we are found to have willfully infringed patents), royalties or other
fees. We cannot assure you that we do not currently infringe, or that we will not in the future infringe, upon any third-party patents or other proprietary
rights.

-

Government Regulation

We are not aware of any specific regulations that govern cybersecurity firms or the areas in which we operate. While there are a few federal
cybersecurity regulations, they govern industries that we serve and exist to focus on specific industries.

Three of the main cybersecurity regulations are HIPAA, the 1999 Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, and the 2002 Homeland Security Act, which included
the Federal Information Security Management Act (“FISMA”). The three regulations mandate that healthcare organizations, financial institutions, and
federal agencies, respectively, should protect their systems and information. FISMA, which applies to every government agency, requires the
development and implementation of mandatory policies, principles, standards, and guidelines on information security. However, the regulations do not
address numerous computer related industries, such as Internet Service Providers and software companies. Furthermore, the regulations do not specify
what cybersecurity measures must be implemented and require only a “reasonable” level of security.

In addition, the National Cybersecurity Division is another regulatory body that is a division of the Office of Cybersecurity & Communications
within the U.S. Department of Homeland Security’s Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency.

Human Capital Management

We believe that our future success will depend, in part, on our continued ability to attract, hire, and retain qualified personnel. In particular, we
depend on the skills, experience, and performance of our senior management and engineering and technical personnel. We compete for qualified
personnel with other cyber security companies and industry experts.

We provide competitive compensation and benefits programs to help meet the needs of our employees. In addition to salaries, these programs
(which vary by country/region and employment classification) include incentive compensation plan, pension, healthcare and insurance benefits, paid time
off, family leave, and on-site services, among others. We also use targeted equity-based grants with vesting conditions to facilitate retention of personnel,
particularly for our key employees.

The success of our business is fundamentally connected to the well-being of our people. Accordingly, we are committed to the health and safety
of our employees. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we implemented significant changes that we determined were in the best interest of our
employees, as well as the communities in which we operate, and which comply with government regulations. This includes having employees work from
home, while implementing additional safety measures for employees continuing critical on-site work.

Environmental, Social, and Governance Efforts
Environmental Commitment

We are committed to protecting the environment and attempt to mitigate any negative impact of our operations. We monitor resource use,
improve efficiency, and at the same time reduce our emissions and waste.

Social Responsibility

We are a trusted cybersecurity expert providing safe, efficient, and sustainable services to our existing and new communities. Our success is the
direct result of the dedication and strength of our team and promotes equity, diversity, integrity, inclusion, reliability and accountability. We believe that a
combination of diverse team members and an inclusive culture contributes to our success. Each member is a valued part of our team bringing a diverse
perspective to help grow business and achieve our goals. Our tradition of serving employees, customers, and investors is at the core of our culture. For
third-party vendor selection and oversight, we have standard operating procedures that apply to employees and subcontractors who, on our behalf,
oversee and conduct technical protocols.

-10-

Employees



As of December 31, 2023, we had 402 employees, of which 397 were full-time. In addition, we utilize independent contractors for projects of short
duration or where specialized knowledge or experience is needed for a complex project. We are not dependent on any independent contractor, and we
believe adequate replacements would be available in the event any such independent contractor becomes unavailable to us. We believe our relations
with our employees is good.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, our proxy and information statements and all
amendments to those reports will be available free of charge through our website at www.ciso.inc as soon as practicable after such material is
electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Except as otherwise stated in these documents, the information contained on our website or available by
hyperlink from our website is not incorporated by reference into this report or any other documents we file, with or furnish to, the SEC.

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company

We qualify as an “emerging growth company” as the term is used in The Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”), and
therefore, we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various public company reporting requirements, including:

e arequirement to only have two years of audited financial statements and only two years of related selected financial data and management’s
discussion and analysis;

e exemption from the auditor attestation requirement on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting;
e reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation; and

e exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory stockholder vote on executive compensation and any golden parachute
payments.

We may take advantage of these provisions for up to five years or such earlier time that we are no longer an emerging growth company. We
would cease to be an emerging growth company if we have more than $1.07 billion in annual revenue, issue more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible
debt over a three-year period, or become a large accelerated filer. So long as we remain an emerging growth company, we may choose to take
advantage of some, but not all, of the available benefits of the JOBS Act. We have taken advantage of some of the reduced reporting requirements in our
filings. Accordingly, the information contained herein may be different than the information you receive from other public companies in which you hold
stock. In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as
those standards apply to private companies. We have elected to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and,
therefore, we will not be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a number of very significant risks. Readers of this Annual Report on Form 10-K should carefully
consider the following risks and uncertainties in addition to other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in evaluating our company and its
business before purchasing shares of our common stock. Our business, operating results and financial condition could be seriously harmed due to any of
the following risks. An investor in our common stock could lose all or part of their investment due to any, or a combination of these risks.
Risk Factor Summary
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

e We will need to raise capital in order to realize our business plan and growth strategy, the failure of which could adversely impact our operations.
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e We incurred significant operating losses during the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, and we have limited cash flow.
Unless we increase revenue and cash flow or raise additional capital, we may be unable to take advantage of any acquisition opportunities that
arise or expand our business, all of which could adversely impact us.

e We will need to grow the size and capabilities of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.

e We depend on key personnel who would be difficult to replace, and our business plans will likely be harmed if we lose their services or cannot
hire additional qualified personnel.

e We operate in an industry that is experiencing a shortage of qualified compliance and cybersecurity professionals. If we are unable to recruit and
retain key management and technical and sales personnel, our business would be negatively affected.

e We depend on independent contractors to provide certain services for which we do not have the expertise internally. Any compromise in the
service quality may delay our business processes and cause economic loss.

e We have recently acquired multiple businesses. Our growth strategy is driven by successful acquisitions and integration of additional businesses
that provide comparable or complementary services. Our ability to grow is limited if we fail to identify and consummate acquisitions.

e We intend to grow our client base significantly through acquisitions of other service providers. If we fail to retain existing clients and attract new
clients through acquisitions, we may never achieve profitability.

e Our business strategy may impose limitations in our ability to accurately forecast future revenue and operating results.

Our future results may be affected by various legal and regulatory proceedings and legal compliance risks, including those involving intellectual

property, governmental regulations, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and other anti-bribery, anti-corruption, or other matters.

We are subject to risks from operating internationally.

Our operations in certain emerging markets expose us to political, economic and regulatory risks.

Adverse economic conditions in the United States and international economies may adversely impact our business operating units.

Breaches of network or information technology security could have an adverse effect on our business.

If we fail to meet our service level obligations under our service level agreements, we may be subject to certain penalties and could lose clients.

The nature of our business involves significant risks and uncertainties that may not be covered by insurance or indemnification.

We indemnify our officers and directors against liability to us and our security holders, and such indemnification could increase our operating

costs.

Our industry is highly competitive, and there is no assurance that we will compete successfully.

Our success depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property and our proprietary technologies.

e Increasingly complex cybersecurity regulations and standards may have significant impact on our business, and it may require us to substantially
invest in our development capabilities to meet compliance requirements and may negatively impact our ability to offer certain services and remain
profitable.

e We may become subject to disputes, including litigation, that could negatively impact our business, profitability, and financial condition.

If we incur additional debt, we will be subject to restrictive covenants and debt service obligations that could negatively impact our operations.



e The requirements of being a public company, including compliance with the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and the requirements of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Nasdag, may strain our resources, increase our costs and divert management’s attention, and we may be unable to
comply with these requirements in a timely or cost-effective manner.

e The preparation of our financial statements involves use of estimates, judgments, and assumptions, and our financial statements may be
materially affected if our estimates prove to be inaccurate.

e The auditor’'s opinion on our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, included in this annual report on
Form 10-K, contain an explanatory paragraph relating to our ability to continue as a going concern.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

e The market price of our common stock is volatile and may fluctuate in a way that is disproportionate to our operating performance.
e Future sales of shares of our common stock by existing stockholders could depress the market price of our common stock.
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e Provisions in our certificate of incorporation, our by-laws and Delaware law might discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control of our
company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the trading price of our common stock.

e FINRA sales practice requirements may limit a stockholder’s ability to buy and sell our stock.

e If we issue additional shares in the future, it will result in the dilution of our existing stockholders.

e We are eligible to be treated as an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure
requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make our common stock less attractive to investors.

e Our directors, a former director and executive officers beneficially own a substantial majority of our outstanding capital stock and will have the
ability to control our affairs.

e Our failure to meet the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq could result in a delisting of our common stock.

e Following a reverse stock split, the resulting market price of our common stock may not attract new investors, including institutional investors,
and may not satisfy the investing requirements of those investors. Consequently, the trading liquidity of our common stock may not improve.

e We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock.

e Our business could be negatively impacted by shareholder activism.

e Our share price may be volatile, and you may be unable to sell your shares.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We will need to raise capital in order to realize our business plan and growth strategy, the failure of which could adversely impact our
operations.

Our growth strategy is based upon increasing the number of our clients and our consolidated revenue by making successful acquisitions and
integrating businesses that provide comparable or complementary cyber security services. As of December 31, 2023, our business was not profitable.
Without adequate funding, a significant increase in revenue, and continued successful integration of our acquired targets, we may not be able to achieve
profitability in the existing lines of business and attract further capital. As of March 31, 2024, we had available cash resources of approximately
$1,575,856.

We expect to continue to finance our operations with available net operating cash flows and will need to raise additional capital in the future by
issuing equity or other forms of securities, which could have significant dilutive impact on the ownership interest of existing stockholders. Furthermore,
any newly issued securities could have rights, preferences, and privileges senior to those of our existing common stock.

We may have difficulty obtaining additional funds as and when needed, and we may have to accept terms that would adversely affect our
stockholders. In addition, any adverse conditions in the credit and equity markets may adversely affect our ability to raise funds when needed. Any failure
to achieve adequate funding will delay our acquisition efforts and could lead to abandonment of one or more of our acquisition initiatives, as well as
prevent us from responding to competitive pressures or take advantage of unanticipated acquisition opportunities. Any additional equity financing will
likely be dilutive to stockholders, and certain types of equity financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants or other provisions that would limit
how we conduct our business or finance our operations.

We incurred significant operating losses during the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, and we have limited cash
flow. Unless we increase revenue and cash flow or raise additional capital, we may be unable to take advantage of any acquisition
opportunities that arise or expand our business, all of which could adversely impact us.

We are unable to predict if and when we will be able to generate significant positive cash flow or achieve profitability. Our plan regarding these
matters is to strengthen our revenue and continue improving operational efficiencies across the business. There can be no assurances that we will be
successful in increasing revenue, improving operational efficiencies or that financing will be available or, if available, that such financing will be available
under favorable terms. In the event that we are unable to generate adequate revenue to cover expenses and cannot obtain additional financing, we may
need to cut back or curtail our expansion plans.
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We will need to grow the size and capabilities of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.

As our acquisition strategies develop, we must carefully integrate managerial, operational, sales, marketing, financial, and other personnel in the
expanded organization and manage costs. Future growth will impose significant added responsibilities on members of management, including the
following:

e identifying, integrating, managing, and motivating qualified employees, particularly strong sales force and cybersecurity talent;
e executing post-acquisition integration effectively, and managing integration costs; and
e improving our operational, financial, and management controls, reporting systems, and procedures.

Our future financial performance and our ability to commercialize our strategic acquisitions will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively
manage any future growth. Our management may also have to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away from day-to-day activities in order to
devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities. This lack of long-term experience working together may adversely impact our
senior management team'’s ability to effectively manage our business and growth.

We depend on key personnel who would be difficult to replace, and our business plans will likely be harmed if we lose their services
or cannot hire additional qualified personnel.

Our success depends substantially on the efforts and abilities of our senior management and executive officers. We currently do not maintain key



man insurance for any of our senior management or key personnel. The competition for qualified management and key personnel is intense. The loss of
services of one or more of our key employees, or the inability to hire, train, and retain key personnel, especially executive managers with cybersecurity
industry knowledge, could delay the execution of new acquisitions and launch of new service programs, disrupt our business, and interfere with our ability
to execute our business plan.

We operate in an industry that is experiencing a shortage of qualified compliance and cybersecurity professionals. If we are unable to
recruit and retain key management and technical and sales personnel, our business would be negatively affected.

To execute our growth strategy, we must continue to attract and retain highly skilled compliance and cybersecurity experts. Competition for these
employees is intense, especially for compliance experts and cybersecurity professionals, as there is a global shortage of these professionals who can
provide the technical and strategic skills required for us to deliver high levels of services to our clients and potential clients. We may not be successful in
attracting and retaining qualified employees. We have from time-to-time experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and
retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate qualifications. Many of the companies with which we compete for these highly skilled employees have
greater resources than we have. In addition, in making employment decisions, particularly in the high-technology industry, job candidates often consider
the value of the stock options, restricted stock grants, or other stock-based compensation they are to receive in connection with their employment.
Declines in the value of our stock could adversely affect our ability to attract or retain key employees and result in increased employee compensation
expenses. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, our business and future growth prospects could be
severely harmed.

We depend on independent contractors to provide certain services for which we do not have the expertise internally. Any compromise
in the service quality may delay our business processes and cause economic loss.

We currently rely, and for the foreseeable future will continue to rely, in substantial part on certain independent organizations, advisors, and
consultants to provide certain services. There can be no assurance that the services of these independent organizations, advisors, and consultants will
continue to be available to us on a timely basis when needed, or that we can find qualified replacements. In addition, if we are unable to effectively
manage our outsourced activities or if the quality or accuracy of the services provided by consultants is compromised for any reason, some of our
business activities may be delayed or terminated, and we may not be able to mitigate negative impacts or otherwise advance our business. There can be
no assurance that we will be able to manage our existing consultants or find other competent outside contractors and consultants on economically
reasonable terms, if at all. If we are not able to effectively expand our organization by hiring new employees and expanding our groups of consultants and
contractors, we may not be able to successfully implement the tasks necessary to further expand and, accordingly, may not achieve our business goals.
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We have recently acquired multiple businesses. Our growth strategy is driven by successful acquisitions and integration of additional
businesses that provide comparable or complementary services. Our ability to grow is limited if we fail to identify and consummate
acquisitions.

We have completed the acquisition of certain complementary businesses, and we intend to consider additional potential strategic transactions,
which could involve acquisitions of businesses or assets, joint ventures, or investments in businesses or technologies that expand, complement, or
otherwise relate to our business. We may also consider, from time to time, opportunities to engage in joint ventures or other business collaborations with
third parties. Should our relationships fail to materialize into significant agreements, or should we fail to work efficiently with these companies, we may
lose sales and marketing opportunities and our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Any business acquisition creates risks such as, among others: (i) the need to integrate and manage the businesses acquired with our own
business; (ii) additional demands on our resources, systems, procedures, and controls; (iii) disruption of our ongoing business; and (iv) diversion of
management’s attention from other business concerns. Moreover, these transactions could involve: (a) substantial investment of funds or financings by
issuance of debt or equity securities; (b) substantial investment with respect to technology transfers and operational integration; and (c) the acquisition or
disposition of lines of businesses. Also, such activities could result in one-time charges and expenses and have the potential to either dilute the interests
of our existing stockholders or result in the issuance of, or assumption of debt. Such acquisitions, investments, joint ventures, or other business
collaborations may involve significant commitments of financial and other resources. Any such activities may not be successful in generating revenue,
income, or other returns, and any resources we committed to such activities will not be available to us for other purposes. Moreover, if we are unable to
access the capital markets on acceptable terms or at all, we may not be able to consummate acquisitions, or may have to do so on the basis of a less
than optimal capital structure. Our inability to take advantage of growth opportunities or address risks associated with acquisitions or investments in
businesses may negatively affect our operating results.

Additionally, any impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets acquired in an acquisition or in an investment, or charges to earnings
associated with any acquisition or investment activity, may materially reduce our earnings. Future acquisitions or joint ventures may not result in their
anticipated benefits and we may not be able to properly integrate acquired technologies or businesses with our existing operations or successfully
combine personnel and cultures. Failure to do so could deprive us of the intended benefits of those acquisitions.

We intend to grow our client base significantly through acquisitions of other service providers. If we fail to retain existing clients and
attract new clients through acquisitions, we may never achieve profitability.

Through acquisition of other service providers, we will inherit an increasingly larger client base, which creates cross-selling and up-selling
opportunities. We need high-quality service and exemplary client management to retain and grow our client base. We also plan to launch sales and
marketing efforts, including trade show appearances, sales demos, and advertising campaigns in various forms to promote our brand name. If our
marketing efforts do not materialize, we may lose existing clients or fail to obtain new clients. Our inability to grow sales as we expand in operations may
result in continuing losses, and we may not be profitable for an extended period of time. In addition, even if we are able to make future acquisitions, we
will incur additional costs to consummate them, which may result in a shortage in our capital resources. We may also incur difficulties in integrating new
businesses with our current operations.

Our business strategy may impose limitations in our ability to accurately forecast future revenue and operating results.

Our operating results are dependent on a variety of factors, including purchasing patterns of our clients, competitive pricing, debt servicing, and
general economic trends. Our revenue and operating results may fluctuate if our sales targets are not met, new service offerings receive poor client
response, or client acquisition costs increase due to competition. In addition to these factors, our acquisition strategy may impose additional risks to the
predictability of our operating results. Revenue streams may be volatile due to the uncertainty in identifying attractive acquisition candidates and our
ability to consummate new acquisitions. Unexpected expenses may be incurred during due diligence and post-acquisition. Management intends to
manage risk carefully with the acquisitions; however, there can be no assurance that we will be able to identity and consummate acquisitions that
improve our results of operations.
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Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require considerable time and expense.

Our revenue recognition is difficult to predict because of the length and unpredictability of the sales cycle for our solutions, particularly with
respect to large organizations and government entities. For example, in light of current macroeconomic conditions, we have observed a lengthening of the
sales cycle for some prospective customers that we attribute to higher cost-consciousness around IT budgets. Customers often view the subscription to
our solutions as a significant strategic decision and, as a result, frequently require considerable time to evaluate, test and qualify our solutions prior to
entering into or expanding a relationship with us. Large enterprises and government entities in particular, often undertake a significant evaluation process
that further lengthens our sales cycle. Our direct sales team develops relationships with our customers, and works with our channel partners on account
penetration, account coordination, sales and overall market development. We spend substantial time and resources on our sales efforts without any
assurance that our efforts will produce a sale. Security solution purchases are frequently subject to budget constraints, multiple approvals and
unanticipated administrative, processing and other delays. As a result, it is difficult to predict whether and when a sale will be completed. The failure of
our efforts to secure sales after investing resources in a lengthy sales process would adversely affect our business, operating results and financial
condition.

Because we recognize revenue from subscriptions to our solutions over the term of the subscription, downturns or upturns in new
business will not be immediately reflected in our operating results.

We generally recognize revenue from customers ratably over the term of their subscription, which is generally one to three years. As a result, a
substantial portion of the revenue we report in each period is attributable to the recognition of deferred revenue relating to agreements that we entered
into during previous periods. Consequently, any increase or decrease in new sales or renewals in any one period will not be immediately reflected in our
revenue for that period. Any such change, however, would affect our revenue in future periods. Accordingly, the effect of downturns or upturns in new
sales and potential changes in our rate of renewals will not be fully reflected in our operating results until future periods. We may also be unable to timely
reduce our cost structure in line with a significant deterioration in sales or renewals that would adversely affect our business, operating results, and
financial condition.

We provide service level commitments under some of our customer contracts. If we fail to meet these contractual commitments, we
could be obligated to provide partial refunds or our customers could be entitled to terminate their contracts and our business would suffer.

Certain of our customer agreements contain service level commitments, which contain specifications regarding the availability of our solutions
and our support services. Failure of or disruption to our infrastructure or third-party hosting service providers could impact the performance of our
solutions and the availability of services to customers. If we are unable to meet our stated service level commitments or if we suffer extended periods of
poor performance or unavailability of our solutions, we may be contractually obligated to provide affected customers with credit, partial refunds or
termination rights. To date, there has not been a material failure to meet our service level commitments, and we do not currently have any material
liabilities accrued on our consolidated balance sheets for such commitments. Our business, operating results, and financial condition would be adversely
affected if we suffer performance issues or downtime that exceeds the service level commitments under our agreements with our customers.
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Our business is subject to the risks of warranty claims from real or perceived defects in our solutions or their misused by our
customers or third parties and provisions in certain agreements potentially expose us to substantial liability and other losses.

We may be subject to liability claims for damages related to errors or defects in our solutions. A material liability claim or other occurrence that
harms our reputation or decreases market acceptance of our solutions will harm our business and operating results. Although we generally have limitation
of liability provisions in our terms and conditions of sale, they may not fully or effectively protect us from claims as a result of federal, state or local laws or
ordinances, or unfavorable judicial decisions in the United States or other countries. The sale and support of our solutions also entails the risk of product
liability claims. We employ measures in the form of policy and technical controls to limit unauthorized access to our solutions by our employees,
customers and third-parties, however, these measures may not fully or effectively protect our solutions from unauthorized access. Additionally, we
typically provide indemnification to customers, partners or other third parties we do business with for certain losses suffered or expenses incurred as a
result of third-party claims arising from our infringement of a third party’s intellectual property. We also provide unlimited liability for certain breaches of
confidentiality, as defined in our master subscription agreement. We also provide limited liability in the event of certain breaches of our master
subscription agreement. Certain of these contractual provisions survive termination or expiration of the applicable agreement. To date, we have not
incurred any material costs because of such obligations. However, as we continue to grow, indemnification claims against us for the obligations listed will
increase. When our customers or other third parties we do business with make intellectual property rights or other indemnification claims against us, we
will incur significant legal expenses and may have to pay damages, license fees and/or stop using technology found to be in violation of the third party’s
rights. We may also have to seek a license for the technology. Such licenses may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all, and may significantly
increase our operating expenses or may require us to restrict our business activities and limit our ability to deliver certain solutions or features. We may
also be required to develop alternative non-infringing technology, which could require significant effort and expense and/or cause us to alter our solutions,
which could harm our business. Large indemnity obligations, whether for intellectual property or in certain limited circumstances, other claims, would
harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Additionally, our solutions may be used by our customers and other third parties who obtain access to our solutions for purposes other than for
which our solutions was intended. We maintain insurance to protect against certain claims associated with the use of our solutions, but our insurance
coverage may not adequately cover the claims asserted against us. In addition, even claims that ultimately are unsuccessful could result in our
expenditure of funds in litigation, divert management'’s time and other resources, and harm our business and reputation. We have offered some of our
customers a limited warranty, subject to certain conditions. Any failure or refusal of our insurance providers to provide the expected insurance benefits to
us after we have remediated warranty claims would cause us to incur significant expense or cause us to cease offering warranties which could damage
our reputation, cause us to lose customers, expose us to liability claims by our customers, negatively impact our sales and marketing efforts, and have an
adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition. Further, although the terms of the warranty do not allow those customers to use
warranty claim payments to fund payments to persons on the U.S. Treasury Department's Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC), list of Specially
Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons or who are otherwise subject to U.S. sanctions, we cannot assure you that all of our customers will comply
with our warranty terms or refrain from taking actions, in violation of our warranty and applicable law.

Our future results may be affected by various legal and regulatory proceedings and legal compliance risks, including those involving
intellectual property, governmental regulations, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and other anti-bribery, anti-corruption, or other
matters.

We may be subject to various legal and regulatory proceedings, and are subject to certain legal compliance risks in the areas of intellectual
property, governmental regulation, U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and related anti-bribery and anti-corruption regulations. The outcome of any such
legal proceedings may differ from our expectations because the outcomes of litigation, including regulatory matters, are often difficult to reliably predict.
Various factors or developments can lead us to change current estimates of liabilities and related insurance requirements where applicable, or make such
estimates for matters previously not susceptible of reasonable estimates, such as a significant judicial ruling or judgment, a significant settlement,
significant regulatory developments, or changes in applicable law. A future adverse ruling, settlement, or unfavorable development could result in future
charges that could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or cash flows in any particular period.

We are subject to risks from operating internationally.



We operate internationally, and our growth strategy depends in part on our ability to expand our operations in foreign markets, including by way of
acquisitions. International operations and business expansion plans are subject to numerous risks, including the following:

e the burden of complying with complex and changing foreign regulatory, tax, accounting and legal requirements;

e Political, social, or economical unrest, terrorism, hostilities or war, including the current military conflict between Russia and the Ukraine and in the
Middle East;

e changes in U.S. and other national government trade policies affecting the markets for our services;

e changes in regulatory practices, tariffs and taxes;
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e the need to develop superior products or services, thereby gaining greater market acceptance and expanding their product and service offerings
more efficiently or rapidly;

e potential non-compliance with a wide variety of laws and regulations, including anti-corruption, export control and anti-boycott laws and similar non-

U.S. laws and regulations

increased sovereign risk, such as defaults by or deterioration in the economies and credit ratings of governments, particularly in emerging markets;

logistical and communication challenges;

the interpretation of contractual provisions governed by foreign laws in the event of a contract dispute; and

currency exchange rate fluctuations, devaluations and other conversion restrictions.

Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, financial condition, results of operations and stock price.
Our operations in certain emerging markets expose us to political, economic and regulatory risks.

Our growth strategy depends in part on our ability to expand our operations in emerging markets, including, among others, countries in South
America, and Europe. However, some emerging markets have greater political, economic and currency volatility and greater vulnerability to infrastructure
and labor disruptions than more established markets. In many countries, particularly those with emerging economies, engaging in business practices
prohibited by laws and regulations with extraterritorial reach, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and the U.K. Bribery Act, or local anti-
bribery laws may be more common. These laws generally prohibit companies and their employees, contractors or agents from making improper
payments to government officials, including in connection with obtaining permits or engaging in other actions necessary to do business. Failure to comply
with these laws could subject us to civil and criminal penalties that could materially and adversely affect our reputation, financial condition, results of
operations and stock price. Failure to manage political, economic and regulatory risks in emerging markets could adversely affect our sales, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows and stock price.

Adverse economic conditions in the United States and international economies may adversely impact our business operating units.

General macro-economic conditions, such as a rise in interest rates, inflation in the cost of goods and services including labor, a recession or an
economic slowdown in the United States or internationally, could adversely affect demand for our services and make it difficult to accurately forecast and
plan our future business activities. For example, U.S. and global markets have been experiencing volatility and disruption due to interest rate and inflation
increases, such as higher inflation rates in the U.S., which rose in the second half of 2021 and have remained above the Federal Reserve’s inflation
target, as well as the continued escalation of geopolitical tensions, including those as a result of the conflicts between Russia and Ukraine and in the
Middle East. We have experienced and continue to experience inflationary pressures in certain areas of our business. Although our business has not yet
been materially negatively impacted by such inflationary pressures, we cannot be certain that neither we nor our customers will be materially impacted by
continued pressures. To the extent conditions in the domestic and global economy change, our business could be harmed as current and potential
customers may reduce or postpone spending or choose not to purchase our services or products, which they may consider discretionary. If our customers
face decreased consumer demand, increased regulatory burdens or more limited access to international markets, we may face a decline in demand for
our products and services, and our operating results could be adversely impacted.

To the extent conditions in the domestic and global economy change, our business could be harmed as current and potential customers may
reduce or postpone spending or choose not to purchase or renew our services, which they may consider discretionary. If our customers face decreased
consumer demand, increased regulatory burdens, or more limited access to international markets, we may face a decline in the demand for our services
and our operating results could be adversely impacted.

Uncertain and adverse economic conditions may also lead to a decline in the ability of our customers to use or access credit, which could
adversely affect our business. In addition, changing economic conditions may also adversely affect third parties with which we have entered into
relationships and upon which we depend in order to grow our business. As a result, we may be unable to continue to grow in the event of future economic
slowdowns.
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Breaches of network or information technology security could have an adverse effect on our business.

Cyber-attacks or other breaches of network or IT security may cause equipment failures or disrupt the systems and operations of us and our
clients. The potential liabilities associated with these events could exceed the insurance coverage we or our clients maintain, if any. An inability to operate
as a result of such events, even for a limited period of time, may result in significant expenses or loss of market share to other competitors in the market
we serve. In addition, a failure to protect our, or our client’s, enterprises, networks, privacy of customer, and employee confidential data against breaches
of network or IT security could result in damage to our reputation. To date, we have not been subject to cyber-attacks or other cyber incidents which,
individually or in the aggregate, resulted in a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, or financial condition.

Security threats to our own IT infrastructure may affect our clients indirectly. A party who is able to compromise the security measures on our
networks or the security of our infrastructure could misappropriate our proprietary information or the personal information of our clients, cause
interruptions or malfunctions in our operations or our clients’ operations, or damage our computers or systems and those of our clients. As security is a
primary competitive factor in our industry, such a compromise could be particularly harmful to our brand and reputation. We may be required to expend
significant resources to protect against such threats or to alleviate problems caused by breaches in security. As techniques used to breach security
change frequently, and are generally not recognized until launched against a target, we may not be able to implement security measures in a timely
manner o, if and when implemented, we may not be able to determine the extent to which these measures could be circumvented. If we are unable to
protect sensitive information, our clients or governmental authorities could question the adequacy of our threat mitigation and detection processes and
procedures. Any breaches that may occur could expose us to increased risk of lawsuits, regulatory penalties, loss of existing or potential customers, harm
to our reputation, and increases in our security costs, which may not be fully insured or indemnified by other means. Additionally, breaches of our, or our
clients’, systems could similarly result in a loss of confidence in our services or damage to our brand and reputation. Occurrence of any of these events
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, or prospects.



Because our services are aimed at protecting clients from, and limiting the impact of, critical business interruptions and losses related to cyber-
attacks, if our client's experience losses related to cyber-attacks that result in lost profits or other indirect or consequential damages to our clients, our
clients may expose us to lawsuits. Our service agreements with our clients typically contain provisions limiting our liability. However, we cannot provide
assurances that a court would enforce any contractual limitations on our liability. The outcome of any such lawsuit would depend on the specific facts of
the case and any legal and policy considerations that we may not be able to mitigate. In such cases, we could be liable for substantial damage awards
that may exceed our liability insurance coverage by unknown but significant amounts, which could materially impair our financial condition.

If we fail to meet our service level obligations under our service level agreements, we may be subject to certain penalties and could
lose clients.

We have service level agreements with many of our managed services clients under which we guarantee specified levels of service availability.
These arrangements require us to estimate the level of service we will provide. If we fail to meet our service level obligations under these agreements, we
may be subject to penalties, which could result in higher than expected costs, and we may lose clients, which could lead to decreased revenue and
decreased gross and operating margins. If we fail to meet our service level obligations under these agreements, our reputation may suffer as a result.

The nature of our business involves significant risks and uncertainties that may not be covered by insurance or indemnification.

We provide services in circumstances where insurance or indemnification may not be available to us. Our existing insurance coverages may not
be sufficient or additional insurance may not be available to protect us against operational risks and other uncertainties that we face. Liabilities or claims
arising from our services in excess of any indemnity or insurance coverage (or for which indemnity or insurance coverage is not available or is not
obtained) could harm our financial condition, cash flows, and operating results. Any claim, even if fully covered or insured, could negatively affect our
reputation in the marketplace and make it more difficult for us to compete effectively. The defense of such claims may be costly and time-consuming and
could divert the attention of management.
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We indemnify our officers and directors against liability to us and our security holders, and such indemnification could increase our
operating costs.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws allow us to indemnify our officers and directors against claims associated with carrying out the duties
of their offices. Our bylaws also allow us to reimburse them for the costs of certain legal defenses. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under
the Securities Act may be permitted to our officers, directors, or control persons, the SEC has advised that such indemnification is against public policy
and is therefore unenforceable.

Our industry is highly competitive, and there is no assurance that we will compete successfully.

Our current and potential competitors vary by size, service offerings, and geographic location. Competitors include technology companies,
consulting companies, telecommunication companies, technology resellers, hardware and software companies, and others. Many of our competitors have
entrenched relationships in particular industries or have gained a reputation for expertise in a specific sector of the cybersecurity market, including
services, software, and hardware. Primary competitive factors in our market include security, reliability and functionality; customer service and technical
expertise; reputation and brand recognition; financial strength; breadth of products and services offered; price; and scalability. Many of our current and
potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical, and marketing resources; more diversified product and service offerings; larger
customer bases; longer operating histories; greater brand recognition; and more established relationships in the industry than we do. As a result, some of
these competitors may be able to:

e adapt more rapidly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements;

e develop superior products or services, thereby gaining greater market acceptance and expanding their product and service offerings more efficiently
or rapidly;

bundle products and services that we may not offer or in a manner that provides our competitors with a price advantage;

take advantage of acquisitions and other opportunities more readily;

maintain a lower cost basis;

adopt more aggressive pricing policies and devote greater resources to the promotion, marketing, and sales of their products and services; and
devote greater resources to the research and development of their products and services.

Many of these companies have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, and other resources than we do and may be better positioned
to acquire, offer, and service complementary products and technologies. These companies and alliances resulting from possible combinations may create
more compelling product and service offerings; be able to offer greater pricing flexibility than we can; or engage in business practices that make it more
difficult for us to compete effectively, including on the basis of sales and marketing programs (such as providing greater incentives to our channel partners
to sell a competitor's product), technology, or product functionality. Competition could result in, among other things, a substantial loss of customers,
reduction in revenue, or increase in expenses, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, or
prospects.

Our success depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property and our proprietary technologies.

We rely on trade secrets to protect intellectual property, proprietary technology, and processes, which we have or may develop in the future.
There can be no assurances that secrecy obligations will be honored or that others will not independently develop similar or superior technology. The
protection of intellectual property and/or proprietary technology through claims of trade secret status has been the subject of increasing claims and
litigation by various companies both in order to protect proprietary rights as well as for competitive reasons even where proprietary claims are
unsubstantiated. The prosecution of proprietary claims or the defense of such claims is costly and uncertain given the uncertainty and rapid development
of the principles of law pertaining to this area. We may also be subject to claims by other parties regarding the use of intellectual property, technology
information, and data, which may be deemed proprietary to others.
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Increasingly complex cybersecurity regulations and standards may have significant impact on our business, and it may require us to
substantially invest in our development capabilities to meet compliance requirements and may negatively impact our ability to offer certain
services and remain profitable.

Federal and state legislatures continue to advance policy proposals in recent years to address cyber threats directed at governments and private
businesses. As threats continue to evolve and expand and as the pace of new technologies accelerates, legislatures are making cybersecurity measures
a high priority. At the federal and state level, hundreds of bills or resolutions have been introduced and considered that deal significantly with
cybersecurity. These proposals are at multiple stages of development and may shape out new standards concerning different areas. Our business
expansion strategy focuses on accretive acquisitions of other cybersecurity service providers in the top thirty U.S. markets to achieve greater service



coverage. The complex regulatory environment in each state may require us to dedicate additional resource to ensure our service scope and service
quality are in compliance with the standards enacted in each state we operate business in. We may incur additional legal and compliance costs, and our
service scope may be restrained due to compliance requirements. This will cause a delay in our service launch and negatively impact our operating
results. We may also face litigations if we fail to respond accordingly to these regulatory measures in certain states.

We may become subject to disputes, including litigation, that could negatively impact our business, profitability, and financial
condition.

We may become subject to disputes with third parties from time to time. Any such dispute could result in litigation between us and the other
parties. Whether or not any dispute actually proceeds to litigation, we may be required to devote significant management time and attention and financial
resources to its resolution (through litigation, settlement, or otherwise), which would detract from our management’s ability to focus on our business. Any
such resolution could involve the payment of damages or expenses by us, which may be significant. In addition, any such resolution could involve our
agreement with terms that restrict the operation of our business.

If we incur additional debt, we will be subject to restrictive covenants and debt service obligations that could negatively impact our
operations.

If we incur additional debt for operations or acquisitions, a portion of our cash flow will have to be dedicated to the payment of principal and
interest on such indebtedness. Typical loan agreements also might contain restrictive covenants, which may impair our operating flexibility. Such loan
agreements would also provide for default under certain circumstances, such as failure to meet certain financial covenants. A default under a loan
agreement could result in the loan becoming immediately due and payable and, if unpaid, a judgment in favor of such lender which would be senior to the
rights of our stockholders. A judgment creditor would have the right to foreclose on any of our assets resulting in a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results, or financial condition.

The requirements of being a public company, including compliance with the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and the
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Nasdaq, may strain our resources, increase our costs, and divert management’s attention, and
we may be unable to comply with these requirements in a timely or cost-effective manner.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, and the corporate governance standards of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Nasdag. We have a limited operating history as a public company, and these requirements may place a strain on our
management, systems, and resources. In addition, we have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, significant legal, accounting, insurance, and other
expenses. The Exchange Act requires us to file annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition within specified
time periods and to prepare a proxy statement with respect to our annual meeting of stockholders. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain
effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. Nasdaq requires that we comply with various corporate
governance requirements. To maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting and comply with the Exchange Act and Nasdaq requirements, significant resources and management oversight are required. This may divert
management’s attention from other business concerns and lead to significant costs associated with compliance, which could have a material adverse
effect on us and the market price of our common stock.

The expenses incurred by public companies generally for reporting and corporate governance purposes have been increasing. We expect these
rules and regulations to continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs and to make some activities more time-consuming and costly. These
laws and regulations could also make it more difficult or costly for us to obtain certain types of insurance, including director and officer liability insurance,
and we may be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. These laws
and regulations could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our Board of Directors or its committees or as our
executive officers. Advocacy efforts by stockholders and third parties may also prompt even more changes in governance and reporting requirements.
We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur or the timing of these costs. Furthermore, if we are unable to satisfy our
obligations as a public company, we could be subject to delisting of our common stock, fines, sanctions, and other regulatory action and potentially civil
litigation.
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The preparation of our financial statements involves use of estimates, judgments, and assumptions, and our financial statements may
be materially affected if our estimates prove to be inaccurate.

Financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States require the use of estimates,
judgments, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts. Different estimates, judgments, and assumptions reasonably could be used that would
have a material effect on the financial statements, and changes in these estimates, judgments, and assumptions are likely to occur from period to period
in the future. These estimates, judgments, and assumptions are inherently uncertain, and, if they prove to be wrong, then we face the risk that charges to
income will be required.

The auditor’s opinion on our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, included in this annual
report on Form 10-K, contain an explanatory paragraph relating to our ability to continue as a going concern.

The auditor’s opinion on our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 includes an explanatory paragraph
stating that our losses and negative cash flows from operations and uncertainty in generating sufficient cash to meet our operating obligations raise
substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. While we are pursuing a variety of funding sources and transactions that could raise
capital, there can be no assurances that we will be successful in these efforts or will be able to resolve our liquidity issues or eliminate our operating
losses. If we are unable to obtain sufficient funding, we would need to significantly reduce our operating plans and curtail some or all of our strategic
plans. Accordingly, our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected, and we may be unable
to continue as a going concern. If we are unable to continue as a going concern, we may have to liquidate our assets and may receive less than the value
at which those assets are carried on our audited consolidated financial statements, and it is likely that investors will lose all or a part of their investment. If
we seek additional financing to fund our business activities in the future and there remains substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going
concern, investors or other financing sources may be unwilling to provide additional funding on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

Risks Related to our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock is volatile and may fluctuate in a way that is disproportionate to our operating performance.
Our stock price may experience substantial volatility as a result of a number of factors, including, among others:

sales or potential sales of substantial amounts of our common stock;

announcements about us or about our competitors or new product introductions;

the loss or unanticipated underperformance of our global distribution channels;

litigation and other developments relating to our patents or other proprietary rights or those of our competitors;
conditions in the cybersecurity and IT services industries;



governmental regulation and legislation;

variations in our anticipated or actual operating results;

changes in securities analysts’ estimates of our performance, or our failure to meet analysts’ expectations;
foreign currency values and fluctuations; and

overall political and economic conditions.

Many of these factors are beyond our control. In addition to recent events, the stock markets have historically experienced substantial price and
volume fluctuations. These fluctuations often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies. These broad
market and industry factors could reduce the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance.
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Future sales of shares of our common stock by existing stockholders could depress the market price of our common stock.

We had an aggregate of 11,949,959 issued and outstanding shares of common stock as of December 31, 2023. Approximately 4,303,871 shares
were in street name. The remainder of the outstanding shares may be sold, subject to certain volume limitations, pursuant to Rule 144 or other available
exemptions. Also, in the future, we may issue additional securities in connection with financings and acquisitions. The amount of our common stock
issued in connection with an investment or acquisition could constitute a material portion of our then outstanding stock. Due to these factors, sales of a
substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the
holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation, our by-laws, and Delaware law might discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control
of our company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the trading price of our common stock.

Provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our amended and restated by-laws, and Delaware law may have the effect of
deterring unsolicited takeovers or delaying or preventing a change in control of our company or changes in our management, including transactions in
which our stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares over then current market prices. In addition, these provisions may limit the
ability of stockholders to approve transactions that they may deem to be in their best interests. These provisions include the ability of our Board of
Directors to designate the terms of and issue new series of preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could include the right to approve an
acquisition or other change in our control or could be used to institute a rights plan, also known as a poison pill, that would work to dilute the stock
ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, likely preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our Board of Directors.

The existence of the forgoing provisions and anti-takeover measures could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for
shares of our common stock. They could also deter potential acquirers of our company, thereby reducing the likelihood that an investor in our company
could receive a premium for their common stock in an acquisition.

Our Board of Directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, or repeal our by-laws by majority vote, while such action by stockholders would
require a super majority vote.

These anti-takeover provisions and other provisions under Delaware law could discourage, delay, or prevent a transaction involving a change in
control of our company, including actions that our stockholders may deem advantageous, or negatively affect the trading price of our stock. These
provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and cause us to take other
corporate actions they desire.

FINRA sales practice requirements may limit a stockholder’s ability to buy and sell our stock.

The Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”) has adopted rules that require that, in recommending an investment to a client, a
broker-dealer must have reasonable grounds for believing that the investment is suitable for that customer. Prior to recommending speculative low-priced
securities to their non-institutional customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information about the customer’s financial status,
tax status, investment objectives, and other information. Under interpretations of these rules, FINRA believes that there is a high probability that
speculative low-priced securities will not be suitable for certain customers. FINRA requirements will likely make it more difficult for broker-dealers to
recommend that their customers buy our common stock, which may have the effect of reducing the level of trading activity in the shares, resulting in
fewer broker-dealers may be willing to make a market in our shares, potentially reducing a stockholder’s ability to resell shares of our common stock.
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If we issue additional shares in the future, it will result in the dilution of our existing stockholders.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 300,000,000 shares of our common stock and up to
50,000,000 shares of preferred stock. Our Board of Directors may choose to issue some or all of such shares to acquire one or more companies and to
fund our overhead and general operating requirements. The issuance of any such shares will reduce the book value per share and may contribute to a
reduction in the market price of the outstanding shares of our common stock. If we issue any such additional shares, such issuance will reduce the
proportionate ownership and voting power of all current stockholders. Further, such issuance may result in a change of control of our company.

We are eligible to be treated as an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we cannot be certain if the reduced
disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may
take advantage of exemptions from various reporting and other requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth
companies, including (i) not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (ii) reduced
disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and (iii) exemptions from the requirements of
holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We
could be an emerging growth company for up to five years, although circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the extended transition period
provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public
and private companies until those standards apply to private companies. We have elected to take advantage of the extended transition period for
complying with the revised accounting standards. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with effective
dates generally applicable to public companies.

Investors may find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions, reduced reporting requirements, and extended
transition periods. If investors find our common stock less attractive as a result of any of the foregoing, there may be a less active trading market for our
common stock and our stock price may be more volatile or may decrease.



Our directors, a former director and executive officers beneficially own a substantial majority of our outstanding capital stock and will
have the ability to control our affairs.

Our current directors and executive officers, and a former director beneficially own approximately 51.90% of our outstanding capital stock. By
virtue of these holdings, they effectively control the election of the members of our Board of Directors, our management, and our affairs and may prevent
us from consummating corporate transactions such as mergers, consolidations, or the sale of all or substantially all of our assets that may be favorable
from our standpoint or that of our other stockholders.

Our failure to meet the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq could result in a delisting of our common stock.

If we fail to satisfy the continued listing requirements of Nasdag, such as the corporate governance requirements or the minimum closing bid price
requirement, Nasdaq may take steps to delist our common stock. On March 29, 2023, we received a letter from the listing qualifications staff of Nasdaq
providing notification that the bid price for our common stock had closed below $1.00 per share for the previous 30 consecutive business days and our
common stock no longer met the minimum bid price requirement for continued listing under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2). In accordance with Nasdaq
Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we had an initial period of 180 calendar days to regain compliance. To regain compliance, the closing bid price of our common
stock had to be $1.00 per share or more for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days at any time before the expiration of the initial compliance period.
We were unable to regain compliance with Rule 5550(a)(2) during the initial compliance period, but pursuant to Nasdaq rules we were eligible for an
additional 180 calendar day compliance period. To qualify, we needed to meet the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares
and all other initial listing standards for the Nasdaqg Capital Market, with the exception of the minimum bid price requirement, and we were required to
provide written notice of our intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period, by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary.
Subsequently, on December 28, 2023, we received a letter from the listing qualifications staff of Nasdaq providing notification that the bid price for our
common stock had closed below $0.10 per share for the previous 10 consecutive trading days and our common stock no longer met the minimum bid
price requirement for continued listing under Nasdag Listing Rule 5550(a)(2). Accordingly we were subject to the provisions contemplated under Nasdaq
Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A)(iii), and as a result, Nasdaq determined to delist our securities. We were granted an appeal with Nasdaq's Hearings Panel on
March 28, 2024. On March 8, 2024, our 1-for-15 reverse split became effective, increasing the bid price for our common stock above $1.00 per share. On
March 22, 2024, we received notification from Nasdag that we had regained compliance with the bid price requirements as set forth under Nasdagq Listing
Rule 550(a)(2). As a result of regaining compliance, our appeal with Nasdaq's Hearing Panel was cancelled.

We must continue to maintain a minimum closing bid price over $1.00 per share pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A). If our closing bid
price falls below $1.00 per share for more than 30 consecutive trading days, we may again be deemed noncompliant with Nasdaq'’s continued listing
requirements.
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The liquidity of the shares of our common stock may be affected adversely by the reverse stock split undertaken to address such compliance
failure, given the reduced number of shares that are outstanding following a reverse stock split. In addition, reverse stock splits may increase the number
of stockholders who own odd lots (less than 100 shares) of our common stock, creating the potential for such stockholders to experience an increase in
the cost of selling their shares and greater difficulty effecting such sales.

In the event that we again become non-compliant with Rule 5550(a)(2) and cannot re-establish compliance within the required timeframe, our
common stock could be delisted from Nasdag, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and which would cause the value of
our common stock to decline. If our common stock is not eligible for listing or quotation on another market or exchange, trading of our common stock
could be conducted in the over-the-counter market or on an electronic bulletin board established for unlisted securities such as the Pink Sheets or the
OTC Bulletin Board. In such event, it would become more difficult to dispose of, or obtain accurate price quotations for, our common stock, and there
would likely be a reduction in our coverage by security analysts and the news media, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline further.
In addition, it may be difficult for us to raise additional capital if we are not listed on a national securities exchange.

Following a reverse stock split, the resulting market price of our common stock may not attract new investors, including institutional
investors, and may not satisfy the investing requirements of those investors. Consequently, the trading liquidity of our common stock may
not improve.

Although we believe that a higher market price of our common stock may help generate greater or broader investor interest, there can be no
assurance that a reverse stock split will result in a share price that will attract new investors, including institutional investors. In addition, there can be no
assurance that the market price of our common stock will satisfy the investing requirements of those investors. As a result, the trading liquidity of our
common stock may not necessarily improve.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock.

We have never paid any cash dividends, and currently do not intend to pay any dividends for the foreseeable future. We intend to retain any
future earnings to the extent necessary to develop and expand our business. Payment of cash dividends, if any, will depend, among other factors, on our
earnings, capital requirements, and the general operating and financial condition, and will be subject to legal limitations on the payment of dividends out of
paid-in capital. Because we do not intend to declare dividends, any gain on an investment in our company will need to come through an increase in the
stock price. This may never happen, and investors may lose all of their investment.

Our business could be negatively impacted by shareholder activism.

In recent years, shareholder activists have become involved in numerous public companies. Shareholder activists frequently propose to involve
themselves in the governance, strategic direction, and operations of companies. Shareholder activists have also become increasingly concerned with
companies’ efforts with respect to environmental, sustainability and governance standards. Responding to actions by activist shareholders, such as
requests for special meetings, potential nominations of candidates for election to our Board of Directors, requests to pursue a strategic combination or
other transaction, or other special requests may disrupt our business and divert the attention of management and employees. In addition, any perceived
uncertainties as to our future direction resulting from such a situation could result in the loss of potential business opportunities, be exploited by our
competitors, cause concern to our current or potential customers, and make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and business
partners, all of which could negatively impact our business. Shareholder activism could result in substantial costs. In addition, actions of activist
shareholders may cause significant fluctuations in our stock price based on temporary or speculative market perceptions or other factors that do not
necessarily reflect the underlying fundamentals of our business.
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Our share price may be volatile, and you may be unable to sell your shares.

The trading price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and these fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in



our common stock. Since shares of our common stock were sold in our initial public offering (IPO) in January 2021 at a price of $75.00) per share, the

reported high and low sales prices of our common stock have ranged from $1.120 to $138.15(1) per share through March 31, 2024. Factors that may
cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate include:

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;

significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of technology companies in general, and of companies in our industry;
actual or anticipated changes in our results of operations or fluctuations in our operating results;

whether our operating results meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors;

failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of our company, changes in financial estimates or ratings by any securities analysts who
follow our company, or our failure to meet the estimates or the expectations of investors;

announcements of new products or technologies, commercial relationships, acquisitions, or other events by us or our competitors;
actual or anticipated developments in our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape generally;

actual or perceived privacy or data security incidents;

litigation involving us, our industry or both;

regulatory developments in the U.S., foreign countries, or both;

general economic conditions and trends;

the commencement or termination of any share repurchase program;

new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

the availability of our services, security breaches or perceived security breaches, and vulnerabilities;

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations, or principles;

actions instituted by activist shareholders or others;

major catastrophic events, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, outbreaks of pandemic diseases, such as COVID-19, or
responses to these events;

sales of large blocks of our stock; or

e departures of key personnel.

In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss of investor confidence, the trading price of our
common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, operating results or financial condition. The trading price of our common stock might
also decline in reaction to events affecting other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought

against that company. If our stock price is volatile, we may become the target of securities litigation, which could result in substantial costs and a
diversion of management’s attention and resources.

@) Share price adjusted to reflect a 1-for-15 reverse stock split that occurred on March 8, 2024.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

We maintain a comprehensive process for identifying, assessing, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats as part of our broader risk
management system and processes. We obtain input, as appropriate, for our cybersecurity risk management program on the security industry and threat
trends from multiple sources. Teams of dedicated security professionals oversee cybersecurity risk management and mitigation, incident prevention,
detection, and remediation. Leadership for these teams are professionals with deep cybersecurity expertise across multiple industries, including our Chief
Information Security Officer. Our executive leadership team, along with input from the above teams, are responsible for our overall enterprise risk
management system and processes and regularly consider cybersecurity risks in the context of other material risks to the company.
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As part of our cybersecurity risk management system, our incident management teams track and log security incidents across our company and our
customers to remediate and resolve any such incidents. Significant incidents are reviewed by a cross-functional working group to determine whether
further escalation is appropriate. Any incident assessed as potentially being or potentially becoming material is immediately escalated for further
assessment and then reported to designated members of our senior management. We consult with outside counsel as appropriate, including on
materiality analysis and disclosure matters, and our senior management makes the final materiality determinations and disclosure and other compliance
decisions. Our management apprises our independent registered public accounting firm of matters and any relevant developments.

The Audit Committee has oversight responsibility for risks and incidents relating to cybersecurity threats, including compliance with disclosure
requirements, cooperation with law enforcement, and related effects on financial and other risks, and reports any findings and recommendations, as
appropriate, to the full Board for consideration. Senior management regularly discusses cyber risks and trends and, should they arise, any material
incidents with the Chief Information Security Officer.

Our business strategy, results of operations and financial condition have not been materially affected by risks from cybersecurity threats, including
as a result of previously identified cybersecurity incidents, but we cannot provide assurance that they will not be materially affected in the future by such
risks or any future material incidents. For more information on our cybersecurity related risks, see Iltem 1A Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in Scottsdale, Arizona where we currently lease approximately 3,300 square feet of office space. We own
office space in Santiago, Chile, which is primarily used for our secured managed services and administration in Latin America. We lease additional
offices, none of which we believe to be material to our operations, located throughout the United States and Chile for our service delivery and
administrative personnel.

We believe our existing facilities are sufficient for our current needs. Although we have recently closed or consolidated certain of our facilities, in
the future, we may need to add new facilities or expand our existing facilities to meet our evolving business needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are currently not a party to any material legal proceedings.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES



Not applicable.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information

Until January 13, 2022, our common stock was traded under OTC Market Group’s OTCQB. Since January 13, 2022, our common stock has been
listed for trading on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the symbol “CISO”

As of December 31, 2023, there were 765 holders of record of our common stock, and the last reported sale price of our common stock on The
Nasdaq Stock Market LLC on April 2, 2024 was $1.28. A significant number of shares of our common stock are held in either nominee name or street
name brokerage accounts, and consequently, we are unable to determine the total number of beneficial owners of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

To date, we have paid no dividends on our common stock and do not expect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We plan to retain all
earnings to provide funds for the operations of our company. In the future, our Board of Directors will decide whether to declare and pay dividends based
upon our earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, and other factors that our Board of Directors may consider relevant. We are not under any
contractual restriction as to present or future ability to pay dividends.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

In May 2023, we issued 200,000 shares (3,000,000 on a pre-reverse split basis) of our common stock to Trending Equities Corp. in exchange for
providing marketing and investor relations services.

In May 2023, we issued a warrant to Titan Partners Group, LLC, the Placement Agent for our registered direct offering, to purchase 40,000
shares (600,000 on a pre-reverse split basis) of our common stock at a price of $3.75 per share ($0.25 on a pre-reverse split basis). The warrant is
exercisable at any time on or after November 12, 2023, and expires on May 16, 2028.

In November 2023, we issued 133,334 (2,000,000 on a pre-reverse split basis) shares of our common stock to LendSpark Corporation as
additional consideration to enter into a loan agreement in which we received gross proceeds of $2,200,000.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes contained elsewhere in this Annual Report and is intended to provide information necessary to
understand our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022 and
highlight certain other information which will enhance a reader’s understanding of our financial condition, changes in financial condition, and results of
operations. In particular, the discussion is intended to provide an analysis of significant trends and material changes in our financial position and the
operating results of our business during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. These historical
consolidated financial statements may not be indicative of our future performance. This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations contains numerous forward-looking statements, all of which are based on our current expectations and could be affected by
the uncertainties and risks described throughout this filing, particularly in “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Our Business

We provide a comprehensive suite of cybersecurity consulting and related services that encompass all three critical pillars: compliance,
cybersecurity, and organizational culture.

Our services include managed security, compliance assessments, SOC support, vCISO services, incident response, digital forensics, technical
assessments, and cybersecurity training. We've developed a unique offering called MCCP+ that delivers all three of these pillars through a dedicated
team of subject matter experts.

Unlike many cybersecurity firms focused on specific technologies or services, we remain technology-agnostic. Instead, we concentrate on
building a world-class team of cybersecurity and compliance experts with diverse skillsets. Our goal is to provide our clients with truly holistic solutions
that address the chronic shortage of highly skilled cybersecurity professionals.

Underpinning our services is a steadfast belief that establishing a strong culture of security is essential for organizational resilience. We work
closely with our clients to cultivate this security-first mindset, helping them quantify the return on their cybersecurity investments.

We have developed innovative software-based IP powered by machine learning, Al, and dark web threat intelligence. These multilayered
technologies aim to enhance cyber effectiveness and drive greater resiliency for enterprises.

With a comprehensive portfolio of scalable IP solutions and an end-to-end team of experts, we are poised for organic growth. By optimizing the
user experience and leveraging digital interfaces, we can expand our client base without adding strain to our services team. This scalability will enable us
to drive increased revenue and margins concurrently.
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Financial Highlights
Our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2023 included the following:

e Total revenue increased by $10.5 million to $57.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31,
2022.



e Total gross profit increased by $3.3 million to $6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31,
2022.

Results of Operations
Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2023, to the Year Ended December 31, 2022
Our financial results for the year ended December 31, 2023 are summarized as follows in comparison to the year ended December 31, 2022:

For the Year Ended

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Variance

Revenue:

Security managed services $ 50,078,925 $ 40,920,420 $ 9,158,505

Professional services 6,979,832 5,629,197 1,350,635

Total revenue 57,058,757 46,549,617 10,509,140

Cost of revenue:

Security managed services 23,671,605 15,431,523 8,240,082

Professional services 900,582 844,287 56,295

Cost of payroll 21,613,207 20,036,182 1,577,025

Stock based compensation 4,823,829 7,512,304 (2,688,475)

Total cost of revenue 51,009,223 43,824,296 7,184,927

Total gross profit 6,049,534 2,725,321 3,324,213
Operating expenses:

Professional fees 3,695,187 2,067,603 1,627,584

Advertising and marketing 474,121 804,218 (330,097)

Selling, general and administrative 26,744,543 23,106,451 3,638,092

Stock-based compensation 7,712,671 9,885,191 (2,172,520)

Impairment of goodwill 45,194,717 - 45,194,717
Total operating expenses 83,821,239 35,863,463 47,957,776
Loss from operations (77,771,705) (33,138,142) (44,633,563)
Other income (expense):

Other income (expense) (13,640) 43,332 (56,972)

Interest expense, net (2,881,416) (680,921) (2,200,495)
Total other income (expense) (2,895,056) (637,589) (2,257,467)
Loss before income taxes $ (80,666,761)  $ (33,775,731) $ (46,891,030)
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Revenue

Security managed services revenue increased by $9,158,505, or 22%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022, primarily due to having a full year of ownership of CUATROi and NLT Secure, and new and existing customer revenue growth.

Professional services revenue increased by $1,350,635, or 24%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022, primarily due to having a full year of ownership of CUATROIi and NLT Secure.

Expenses

Cost of Revenue

Security managed services cost of revenue increased by $8,240,082, or 53%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2022, due primarily to having a full year of ownership of CUATROI and NLT Secure compared to only four months in 2022, which
increased our revenues from hardware and software sales and their related costs.

Professional services cost of revenue increased by $56,295, or 7%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022, due to our increase in revenue from professional services from having a full year of ownership of CUATROi and NLT Secure

compared to only four months in 2022.

Cost of payroll increased by $1,577,025, or 8%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022,
due to headcount costs of CUATROi and NLT Secure having a full year of ownership compared to only four months in 2022.

Stock-based compensation decreased by $2,688,475, or 36%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended

December 31, 2022, due to the timing of recognition of the reversal of expense for options forfeited by former employees, a decrease in the nhumber of
options granted in 2023, and a decline in the fair value of new options granted resulting from the decline in our share price.

Operating Expenses

Professional fees increased by $1,627,584, or 79%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022,
due to an increase in accounting, legal and other professional fees incurred related to our periodic SEC filings and our efforts to raise additional capital,
offset by a reduction in accounting and audit fees.

Advertising and marketing expenses decreased by $330,097, or 41%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to December 31,
2022, due to utilizing internal resources for advertising and marketing activities.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased $3,638,092, or 16%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year



ended December 31, 2022, due to the costs of CUATROi and NLT Secure having a full year of ownership compared to only four months in 2022.

Stock-based compensation expenses decreased by $2,172,520, or 22%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022, due to the timing of recognition of the reversal of expense for options forfeited by former employees, a decrease in the number of
options granted in 2023, and a decline in the fair value of new options granted resulting from the decline in our share price.
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Impairment of goodwill increased by $45,194,717, or 100%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December
31, 2022, due to the fair value of our reporting units falling below their carrying value in 2023, whereas in the carrying fair value of these reporting units
exceeded their carrying value in 2022.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest expense, net increased by $2,200,495, or 323%, during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December
31, 2022, due to an increase in our debt assumed through acquisitions during 2022 and obtaining short-term loans to fund operating capital in 2023.

Working Capital

Our working capital as of December 31, 2023, as compared to our working capital as of December 31, 2022, is summarized as follows:

As of
December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Current assets $ 10,957,814 $ 14,398,795
Current liabilities 26,071,102 23,213,039
Working capital (deficit)/surplus $ (15113,283) $ (8,814,244)

The decrease in current assets is primarily due to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and prepaid expenses and other
current assets of $770,721, $2,176,570, and $524,379 respectively. The increase in current liabilities is primarily due to the increase in accounts payable
and accrued expenses of $7,640,990, offset by a decrease in loans and convertible notes payable of $4,567,367
Cash Flows

Our cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to our cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022, can be
summarized as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Net cash used in operating activities $ (5,920,112) $ (10,681,007)
Net cash used in investing activities (160,158) (6,048,944)
Net cash provided by financing activities 6,193,046 15,777,909
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (883,497) 60,170
Decrease in cash $ (770,721) $ (891,872)

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $5,920,112 for the year ended December 31, 2023 and was primarily due to cash used to fund a net
loss of $80,231,083, adjusted for non-cash expenses in the aggregate of $64,085,528 and additional cash increases from changes in the levels of
operating assets and liabilities in the aggregate of $10,225,443, primarily as a result of an increase in accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued
expenses, and deferred revenue. Net cash used in operating activities was $10,681,007 for the year ended December 31, 2022 and was primarily due to
cash used to fund a net loss of $33,775,182, adjusted for non-cash expenses in the aggregate of $20,752,668 and additional cash increases from
changes in the levels of operating assets and liabilities in the aggregate of $2,341,507, primarily as a result of an increase in accounts payable and other
deferred revenue.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities of $160,158 for the year ended December 31, 2023, was primarily due to cash paid to purchase property
and equipment. Net cash used in investing activities of $6,048,944 for the year ended December 31, 2022, was primarily due to cash paid as part of the
acquisition of True Digital.
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Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $6,193,046, which was primarily due to cash received from
the sale of our common stock, and net proceeds from loans and convertible notes payable of $6,655,493 and $11,975,631, respectively, and offset by the
payment of loans and convertible notes payable of $12,929,931. Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was
$15,777,909, which was primarily due to cash received from the sale of our common stock, and net proceeds from loans and notes payable of
$10,689,087 and $6,061,585, respectively, and offset by the payment of loans of $2,452,905.

Liquidity

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis that we will continue as a going concern, which
contemplates realization of assets and satisfying liabilities in the normal course of business. At December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of
$158,018,687 and working capital deficit of $15,113,288. For the year ended December 31, 2023, we had negative cash flows from operations of
$5,920,112. Although our company is showing positive revenue and gross profit trends, we expect to incur further losses through the end of 2024.

To date, we have funded operations primarily through the sale of equity in public offerings, private placements, loan proceeds, and revenue
generated by our services. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we received $6,655,493 from public and private offerings of our common stock,



$11,975,631 in net proceeds from our loans and convertible notes payable, and $491,853 from the exercise of stock options. On June 27, 2022, our
Registration Statement on Form S-3 was declared effective, and we may offer and sell from time to time, in one or more series, any of our securities, for
total gross proceeds up to $300,000,000. As of December 31, 2023, we had $291,351,048 of available funding from our S-3 Registration Statement from
which we may issue our securities to fund current and future operations.

Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. However, due to losses incurred, substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern exists.

We are evaluating strategies to obtain the required additional funding for future operations. These strategies may include, obtaining equity
financing, issuing debt or entering into other financing arrangements, and restructuring of operations to grow revenues and decrease expenses. However,
we may be unable to access further equity or debt financing when needed. As such, there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional
liquidity when needed or under acceptable terms, if at all.

The ability for us to continue as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to successfully accomplish the plan described in the Growth
Strategy paragraph and eventually attain profitable operations. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying
amounts and classification of assets, liabilities, and reported expenses that may be necessary if the Company were unable to continue as a going
concern.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the periods. Our significant estimates and assumptions include the recoverability and useful lives of long-lived assets, stock-based
compensation, and the valuation allowance related to our deferred tax assets. Certain of our estimates, including the carrying amount of intangible assets
and goodwill, could be affected by external conditions, including those unique to us and general economic conditions. It is reasonably possible that these
external factors could have an effect on our estimates and could cause actual results to differ from those estimates.

Fair Value Measurement

The fair value measurement guidance clarifies that fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be
determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in the valuation of an asset or liability. It establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels
of the fair value hierarchy under the fair value measurement guidance are described below:

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 - Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of
the asset or liability; or

Level 3 - Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable (supported
by little or no market activity).

Business Combination

We allocate the purchase price of an acquired business to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their
estimated fair values on the acquisition date. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. The
purchase price allocation process requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially at the acquisition date with respect to
intangible assets. Direct transaction costs associated with the business combination are expensed as incurred. The allocation of the consideration
transferred in certain cases may be subject to revision based on the final determination of fair values during the measurement period, which may be up to
one year from the acquisition date. We include the results of operations of the business that it has acquired in its consolidated results prospectively from
the date of acquisition.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of trademarks, customer bases, non-compete agreements and intellectual property with original estimated useful
lives with a range of 2 to 15 years. Once placed into service, we amortize the cost of the intangible assets over their estimated useful lives on a straight-
line basis.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of the acquired business over the estimated fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at least annually at year end, at the reporting unit level or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting level by first performing a
qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If the reporting
unit does not pass the qualitative assessment, then the reporting unit’s carrying value is compared to its fair value. The fair values of the reporting units
are estimated using a market approach. Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. Failure to
maintain a similar market value may cause a future impairment of goodwill at the reporting unit.
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Impairment of Long-lived Assets

We will periodically evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used when events and circumstances warrant such a review
and at least annually. The carrying value of a long-lived asset is considered impaired when the anticipated undiscounted cash flow from such asset is
separately identifiable and is less than its carrying value. In that event, a loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds
the fair value of the long-lived asset. Fair value is determined primarily using the anticipated cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk
involved. Losses on long-lived assets to be disposed of are determined in a similar manner, except that fair values are reduced for the cost to dispose.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize compensation expense for equity-based awards based on the grant date fair values of the awards. For options with
service or performance-based vesting conditions, the grant date fair value is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which requires
management to make assumptions and apply judgment in determining the grant date fair value.

The most significant assumptions and judgments include estimating the expected option term, the expected stock price volatility and the risk-free
interest rates. The assumptions used in our option pricing model represent management’s best estimates. If factors change and different assumptions
are used, our equity-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. We record forfeitures when they occur, based on our lack of
historical data available to estimate an appropriate forfeiture rate. Changes in our forfeiture rate can have a significant impact on our equity-based
compensation expense since the cumulative effect of adjusting the forfeiture rate is recognized in the period in which the estimate is changed.

We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the assumptions related to our equity-based awards on a prospective basis. As we continue to
accumulate additional data related to our awards, we may refine our estimates, which could materially impact our future equity-based compensation
expense.

Revenue Recognition

Our agreements with clients are primarily service contracts that range in duration from a few months to three years. We recognize revenue when
control of these services is transferred to the client for an amount, referred to as the transaction price, which reflects the consideration to which we are
expected to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

A contract with a client exists only when:

the parties to the contract have approved it and are committed to perform their respective obligations;

we can identify each party’s rights regarding the distinct services to be transferred (“performance obligations”);

we can determine the transaction price for the services to be transferred; and

the contract has commercial substance, and it is probable that we will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the
goods or services that will be transferred to the client.

We do not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component since we expect, at contract inception,
that the period between the time of transfer of the promised goods or services to the client and the time the client pays for these goods or services to be
generally one year or less. Our credit terms to clients generally average thirty days, although in some cases payments are required in 15 days.

We do not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with original expected duration of one year or less.

See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 included elsewhere in this Annual Report
for additional information regarding revenue recognition and deferred revenue.

Reimbursed Expenses
We include reimbursed expenses in revenue and costs of revenue as we are primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the
specified service, including the integration of the related services into a combined output to the client, which are inseparable from the integrated service.

These costs include such items as consumables, transportation and travel expenses, over which we have discretion in establishing prices.
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Costs of Revenue

Costs of revenue include (i) compensation and benefits for billable employees and consultants directly involved with delivering services offerings
and engagements; (i) consumables used for the services; and (iii) other expenses directly related to service contracts such as professional services,
meals and travel expenses.
Volatility in Stock-Based Compensation

We determine the expected stock price volatility based on the historical volatilities of our peer group, blended with our historical volatility, since
there is not a sufficient trading history for our common stock. Industry peers consist of several public companies in the technology industry similar to us in
size, stage of life cycle and financial leverage. We intend to continue to consistently apply this process using the same or similar public companies and
continue increasing the blended proportion of our historical volatility until a sufficient trading history of our common stock becomes available. If
circumstances change such that the identified companies are no longer similar to us, we will revise our peer group to substitute more suitable companies
in this calculation.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, revenue or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Because we are a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information called for by this Item.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information called for by Item 8 is included beginning on page F-1 contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.



ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. In designing
disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible
disclosure controls and procedures. The design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.
Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design
and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on this evaluation, our CEO and CFO
concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective to
provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC'’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to
our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Description of Material Weakness as of December 31, 2022

The ineffectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting was due to the following material weaknesses which are indicative of many
small companies with small number of staff:

° lack of risk assessment procedures on internal controls to detect financial reporting risks in a timely manner; and

° lack of documentation on policies and procedures that are critical to the accomplishment of financial reporting objectives.
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Remediation

As a result of identification of the material weakness noted above, we implemented a remediation plan that addressed the material weakness in
internal control over financial reporting. We designed, documented, and implemented new controls to assess risks on internal controls over financial
reporting and policies and procedures critical to financial reporting objectives. We have evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of the controls
implemented and concluded that the controls are adequately designed and have operated effectively for a sufficient period to conclude that the material
weakness has been remediated.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In addition, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we completed formal risk assessment procedures and documentation of policies and procedures
critical to the accomplishment of financial reporting objectives.

Other than the remediation of our material weakness, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the year ended December 31, 2023, that have materially affected, or that are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting based on the framework
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Our
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of its principal executive and principal financial officers and effected
by our Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of its consolidated financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Based on our assessment under this framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2023.

Our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
pursuant to Section 404 until we are no longer an “emerging growth company” nor a non-accelerated filer.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not applicable.
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PART Il



ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our Directors and Executive Officers. The age of each Director and Executive Officer
listed below is given as of April 9, 2024.

Name Age Position
David G. Jemmett 57 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Kyle J. Young 41 Interim Chief Operating Officer
Debra L. Smith 53 Chief Financial Officer and Director
Ret. General Robert C. Oaks ) 88 Director
Reid S. Holbrook () @ (3) 76 Director
Andrew K. McCain @ @ 61 Director
Ernst M. (KiKi) VanDeWeghe, 1l ) (@) (3) 65 Director
Brett Chugg 55 Director

(1) Member of the Audit Committee
(2 Member of the Compensation Committee
(3) Member of the Governance and Nominating Committee

Our Executive Officers
David G. Jemmett — Chief Executive Officer and Director

Mr. Jemmett has served as our Chief Executive Officer and a director of our company since our formation in March 2019. He also founded
GenResults in June 2015, which we subsequently acquired in April 2019. From January 2014 to December 2014, Mr. Jemmett served as Chief Executive
Officer of NantCloud, LLC, a provider of secure cloud-hosted applications for healthcare customers, and Chief Technology Officer of NantWorks, LLC, a
parent company for the “Nant” family of companies. From 2005 to 2013, Mr. Jemmett served as founder and Chief Executive Officer of ClearDATA
Networks Corporation, a HIPAA compliant hosting company specializing in healthcare. He has been a guest speaker on CBS, CNN, MSNBC and
CSPAN, and has spoken before the U.S. Senate Subcommittee on Telecommunications and Internet Security regarding internet technologies in 1998.

We believe Mr. Jemmett is qualified to serve as a director of our company due to his extensive business background, his experience in the
cybersecurity industry, and his significant equity ownership in our company.

Kyle J. Young - Interim Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Young has served as our Interim Chief Operating Officer since March 2023. Previously Mr. Young served as our Executive Vice President,
Operations from January 2022 to March 2023 and as our Vice President, Operations from February 2021 to January 2022. Mr. Young served in various
roles at BeyondTrust Software, a U.S.-based cybersecurity vendor, from December 2007 to February 2022, most recently serving as its Vice President,
Business and Sales Operations. Mr. Young holds a bachelor's degree in Speech Communications & Rhetoric from the University of lllinois Urbana-
Champaign.

Debra L. Smith - Chief Financial Officer and Director

Ms. Smith has served as our Chief Financial Officer since June 2021. Ms. Smith served as our Executive Vice President of Finance and
Accounting from February 2021 to June 2021. Prior to joining our company, Ms. Smith served as Executive Vice President of Finance at Arrivia Inc. from
January 2020 to February 2021 and Controller and, subsequently, Chief Accounting Officer at BeyondTrust from October 2016 to January 2020. Ms.
Smith received a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting, Summa Cum Laude, from DeVry University and a Master's degree in Counseling with
Honors from Argosy University.
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Our Directors
Ret. General Robert C. Oaks - Director

Ret. General Oaks has served as a director of our company since May 2019. He is a retired U.S. Air Force general who served as commander in
chief of the U.S. Air Forces in Europe, and commander, Allied Air Forces Central Europe, with headquarters at Ramstein Air Base, Germany. He retired
as a four-star General and Commander and Chief of U.S. Air Forces Europe and NATO Central Europe in 1994 after serving 34 years. Following his
retirement, Ret. General Oaks was employed at U.S. Airways as Senior Vice President from 1994 to 2000. In 2000, Oaks resigned from this position
when he was called to serve the LDS Church, where he served until 2009, when he was released as a general authority. He earned a Bachelor of
Science degree in Military Science from the U.S. Air Force Academy and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from Ohio State University prior
to graduating from the Naval War College. Ret. General Oaks currently serves as the official Liaison for the Church of Jesus Christ to the U.S. Armed
Forces.

We believe Ret. General Oaks is qualified for service as a director of our company due to his experience with national security issues, including
cybersecurity, through his extensive military service.

Reid S. Holbrook - Director

Mr. Holbrook has served as a director of our company since May 2019. Since 2013, Mr. Holbrook has been a Principal at Mountain Summit
Advisors, a specialty firm focused on mergers and acquisitions of primarily healthcare technology and services companies, and a strategic advisor to
Health Catalyst, a company focused on data analytics and warehousing primarily in healthcare. He served as the Executive Vice President of Medicity, a
population health management company with solutions for health information exchange, business intelligence, and provider and patient engagement,
from 2002 to 2013. In 1998, Mr. Holbrook founded KLAS where he remains as a board member. He has served in executive positions at IHC, GTE,
Sunquest Information Systems, Integrated Medical Networks and is a founder of Park City Solutions. Mr. Holbrook is a HIMSS Fellow. He holds a Master
of Science from Utah State University and a Bachelor of Science from Brigham Young University.

We believe Mr. Holbrook is qualified for service as a director of our company as a result of his significant experience in the healthcare technology
sector.

Andrew K. McCain - Director

Mr. McCain has served as a director of our company since May 2019. He has served as the President and Chief Executive Officer for Hensley



Beverage Company since January 2024, and previously served as President and Chief Operating Officer from 2014 through January 2024. He is a board
member of the Arizona Super Bowl Host Committee, the Arizona 2016 College Football Championship Local Organizing Committee, Chairman of
Hensley Employee Foundation, and a Patrons Committee member of United Methodist Outreach Ministries’ New Day Centers. He is past Chairman of the
Board of the Fiesta Bowl, past Chairman of the Anheuser-Busch National Wholesaler Advisory Panel, and past Chairman of the Greater Phoenix
Chamber of Commerce. Mr. McCain received his Bachelor of Arts in Mathematics in 1984 and an MBA in 1986 from Vanderbilt University.

We believe Mr. McCain is qualified for service as a director of our company due to his significant business experience and leadership.
Ernst M. (Kiki) VanDeWeghe, Ill - Director

Mr. VanDeWeghe has served as a director of our company since May 2021. He has served as the Executive Vice President, Basketball
Operations of the National Basketball Association since 2013. Prior to that, Mr. VanDeWeghe was the general manager of the Denver Nuggets and the
New Jersey Nets and a head coach of the New Jersey Nets. Prior to that he played professionally for the Los Angeles Clippers, New York Knicks,
Portland Trail Blazers, and the Denver Nuggets. Mr. VanDeWeghe attended UCLA where he received a degree in Economics.

We believe Mr. VanDeWeghe is qualified for service as a director of our company due to his business acumen and experience as an
organizational leader.
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Brett Chugg - Director

Mr. Chugg has served as a director of our company since February 2024. He has most recently served as Senior Managing Director at Koch
Disruptive Technologies, a venture and growth equity investment group at Koch Industries and in other roles with Koch Industries since 1998. Mr. Chugg
has also served as a Director on several high-growth company boards. Mr. Chugg attended Weber State University where he received a degree in
English and received his MBA in 1998 from Bringham Young University.

We believe Mr. Chugg is qualified to serve as a director due to his experience as an investor and leader in technology with global and multi-
industry experience.

Board Constitution

Our Board of Directors currently consists of seven members. All directors hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders. At each
annual meeting of stockholders, the successors to directors whose terms then expire are elected to serve from the time of election and qualification until
the next annual meeting following election.

Director Independence

Our Board of Directors is comprised of a majority of independent directors, as “independence,” is defined by the listing standards of The Nasdaq
Stock Market and by the SEC. Our Board of Directors has concluded that each of Messrs. Oaks, Holbrook, McCain, and Mr. VanDeWeghe are
“independent”, having concluded that any relationship between such director and our company, in its opinion, does not interfere with the exercise of
independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. Mr. Jemmett and Ms. Smith are employee directors. Mr. Scott served on our Board
of Directors since April 2019 and resigned in May 2023. Mr. Scott was an independent director.

Board Committees

Our Board of Directors has three standing committees: the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, and Governance and Nominating
Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors was established in accordance with Rule 10A-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act. The current
members of our Audit Committee are Messrs. McCain, Holbrook, and VanDeWeghe, with Mr. McCain serving as the chair. Each member of the Audit
Committee meets the independence and other requirements to serve on our Audit Committee under The Nasdaq Stock Market Rules and the rules of the
SEC. In addition, our Board of Directors determined that each of Messrs. McCain and Holbrook is considered an “audit committee financial expert” as
defined in the rules of the SEC.

The Audit Committee was formed in 2021. Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee, a copy of which is
posted in the Investor Resources and Corporate Governance section of our website at www.ciso.inc/investor-relations/charter-of-the-audit-committee.
The principal functions of the Audit Committee are to oversee our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of our consolidated
financial statements; oversee our relationship with our independent auditors, including selecting, evaluating, and setting the compensation of, and
approving all audit and non-audit services to be performed by the independent auditors; and facilitate communication among our independent registered
public accounting firm and our financial and senior management.

Compensation Committee

We have a standing Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors. The members of our Compensation Committee are Messrs. Holbrook,
VanDeWeghe, and McCain, with Mr. Holbrook serving as the chair. Each member of the Compensation Committee meets the independence and other
requirements to serve on our Compensation Committee under The Nasdaq Stock Market Rules and the rules of the SEC.

The Compensation Committee was formed in 2021. Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Compensation Committee, a
copy of which is posted in the Investor Resources and Corporate Governance section of our website at www.ciso.inc/investor-relations/charter-of-the-
compensation-committee. The Compensation Committee has responsibilities relating to the performance evaluation and the compensation of our Chief
Executive Officer; the compensation of our executive officers and directors; and our significant compensation arrangements, plans, policies, and
programs, including our stock compensation plans. Certain of our executive officers, our outside counsel, and consultants may occasionally attend the
meetings of the Compensation Committee. However, no officer of our company is present during discussions or deliberations regarding that officer's own
compensation.
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Governance and Nominating Committee

We have a standing Governance and Nominating Committee of our Board of Directors. The current members of our Governance and Nominating



Committee are Messrs. Oaks, Holbrook and VanDeWeghe, with Mr. VanDeWeghe serving as the chair. Each of Messrs. Oaks, Holbrook and
VanDeWeghe meets the independence and other requirements to serve on our Governance and Nominating Committee under The Nasdaq Stock Market
Rules and the rules of the SEC.

The Governance and Nominating Committee was formed in 2021. Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Governance and
Nominating Committee, a copy of which is posted in the Investor Resources and Corporate Governance section of our website at www.ciso.inc/investor-
relations/charter-of-the-nominating-and-corporate-governance-committee. The Governance and Nominating Committee considers the performance of the
members of our Board of Directors and nominees for director positions and evaluates and oversees corporate governance and related issues.

The goal of the Governance and Nominating Committee is to ensure that our directors possess a variety of perspectives and skills derived from
high-quality business and professional experience. The Governance and Nominating Committee seeks to achieve a balance of knowledge, experience,
and capability on our Board of Directors. To this end, the Governance and Nominating Committee seeks nominees with the highest professional and
personal ethics and values, an understanding of our business and industry, diversity of business experience and expertise, a high level of education,
broad-based business acumen, and the ability to think strategically. Although the Governance and Nominating Committee uses these and other criteria to
evaluate potential nominees to our Board of Directors, it has no stated minimum criteria for such nominees. The Governance and Nominating Committee
does not use different standards to evaluate nominees depending on whether they are proposed by our directors and management or by our
stockholders. To date, we have not paid any third parties to assist us in this process.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (“Code of Ethics”) that sets forth various policies and procedures to promote ethical
behavior and that applies to all our directors, officers and employees. The Code of Ethics is publicly available on our website at www.ciso.inc.
Amendments to the Code of Ethics and any grant of a waiver from a provision of the Code of Ethics requiring disclosure under applicable SEC rules will
be disclosed on our website.

Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, requires officers and directors of our company and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of a
registered class of our company’s equity securities to file initial statements of beneficial ownership of common stock (Form 3) and statements of changes
in beneficial ownership of common stock (Forms 4 or 5) with the SEC. Officers, directors, and greater than 10% stockholders are required by SEC
regulations to furnish us with copies of all such forms they file.

Based solely on our review of such reports and certain representations from each reporting person, we believe that during 2023, all Section 16(a)
filing requirements were satisfied on a timely basis.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table shows the total compensation paid or accrued during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 to our Chief Executive
Officer, and our next two most highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive officers on December 31, 2023, (collectively, our
“named executive officers”).

Non-qualified

. Non-Equity Deferred
Stock  Option  |ncentive Plan Compensation All Other
Name and Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards  Compensation Earnings Compensation Total
Position Year _ () ) ) (OIS ©) ©) ©)>@ ($)

David G. Jemmett 2023 315,105 62,500 - - - - 14,118 391,723
Chief Executive Officer 2022 250,000 116,651 - - - - 225 366,876
Debra L. Smith 2023 280,642 53,125 - - - - 7,576 341,343
Chief Financial Officer 2022 200,000 60,500 - 892,200 - - 225 1,152,925
Kyle J. Young 2023 274,392 48,000 - - - - 12,168 334,560
Interim Chief Operating

officer (3 2022 - - - - - - - -

(1) The amounts in this column reflect the fair value on the grant date of the option awards granted to the named executive officer, calculated in
accordance with ASC Topic 718. Stock options were valued using the Black-Scholes model. The grant-date fair value does not necessarily reflect
the value of shares which may be received in the future with respect to these awards. The grant-date fair value of the stock options in this column is
a non-cash expense that reflects the fair value of the stock options on the grant date and therefore does not affect our cash balance. The fair value of
the stock options will likely vary from the actual value the holder receives because the actual value depends on the number of options exercised and
the market price of our common stock on the date of exercise. For a discussion of the assumptions made in the valuation of the stock options, see
Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

(2) The amounts in the “All Other Compensation” column consist of certain benefits provided to our NEOs, which are generally available to our similarly
situated employees, including 401(k) company matching and technology stipend. For Mr. Jemmett, the amounts in this column consist of 401(k)
company matching contributions ($13,218) and a technology stipend ($900). For Mr. Young, the amounts in this column consist of 401(k) company
matching contributions of ($11,268) and a technology stipend ($900).

(3) Mr. Young was appointed to serve as our Interim Chief Operating Officer on March 31, 2023.
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Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2023

The following table summarizes the outstanding equity awards held by each named executive officer as of December 31, 2023.



Number of Number of
Shares Shares
Underlying Underlying
Unexercised Unexercised Option
Options (#) Options (#) Exercise Option
Name Grant Date Exercisable Unexercisable Price ($) Expiration Date
David G. Jemmett - - - - -
Debra L. Smith February 1,2021 @ 33,332 5 30.00 February 1, 2026
December 31, 2021 @ 166 166 75.00 December 31, 2031
January 14, 2022 (V@) 21,863 11,470 45.30 January 14, 2032
Kyle J. Young February 1,2021 @ 33,332 . 30.00 February 1, 2026
December 31, 2021 @ 166 166 75.00 December 31, 2031
January 14, 2022 V@) 21,863 11,470 45.30 January 14, 2032

(1) 30% of the shares underlying this option vested on the one-year anniversary of the grant date with the remainder vesting month over the subsequent
24-month period.

(2) 25% of the shares underlying this option vested on the one-year anniversary of the grant date with the remainder vesting monthly over the
subsequent 36-month period.

(3) On August 22, 2022, we repriced these option grants to reflect an exercise price equal to the fair value of our common stock. Vesting provisions of
these option grant remained on the same terms as the original option grant.

Retirement Plans

We maintain a tax-qualified Section 401(k) retirement savings plan for our executive officerss and other employees who satisfy the eligibility
requirements. Under this plan, participants may elect to make pre-tax or Roth contributions of up to a certain portion of their current compensation, not to
exceed the applicable statutory income tax limitation. We provided matching contributions made by participants in the plan up to a maximum of 3.5% of
eligible compensation annually, subject to limitations in our 401(k) plan applicable to highly compensated employees. We intend for the plan to qualify
under Section 401(a) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), enabling contributions by participants to the plan, and income
earned on plan contributions, to not be taxable to participants until withdrawn from the plan.

Employment Agreements with our Named Executive Officers
David G. Jemmett

On September 30, 2019, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Jemmett to serve as our Chief Executive Officer (the “Jemmett
Employment Agreement”). The Jemmett Employment Agreement is evergreen and can be terminated by either party. Pursuant to the Jemmett
Employment Agreement, the Board of Directors approved an increase to Mr. Jemmett's annual base salary from $250,000 to $375,000 and may be
increased hereafter from time to time at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Mr. Jemmett's base salary may be increased in accordance with our
normal compensation and performance review policies. He is entitled to receive a discretionary annual bonus of up to 100% of his annual base salary, at
the discretion of our Board of Directors, based on performance and our objectives. Subject to approval by our Board of Directors, Mr. Jemmett is entitled to
stock options under our 2019 Equity Incentive Plan. The stock options will vest at 33% on the one-year anniversary of the Jemmett Employment
Agreement and the remaining 66% of the options will vest monthly over the next 12 months. As of December 31, 2022, our Board of Directors had not
approved or granted any stock options to Mr. Jemmett. On December 31, 2022, a bonus of $62,500 was accrued for Mr. Jemmett and subsequently paid
in equal installments on April 28, May 31, and June 30, 2023. Mr. Jemmett is also eligible to participate in our standard benefit plans.
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Debra L. Smith

On December 31, 2020, we entered into an employment agreement with Ms. Smith to serve as our Executive Vice President of Finance, effective
as of February 1, 2021 (the “Smith Employment Agreement”). Pursuant to the Smith Employment Agreement, the Board of Directors approved an
increase to Ms. Smith’s annual base salary from $200,000 to $350,000 and may be increased hereafter from time to time at the discretion of the Board of
Directors. Ms. Smith also earns a guaranteed bonus of $60,000 to be paid quarterly, and an additional $60,000 at the end of each fiscal year at the
discretion of our Board of Directors. A bonus of $53,125 was accrued for Ms. Smith and subsequently paid in installments on March 31, April 28, May 31,
and June 30, 2023. Ms. Smith is also eligible to participate in our standard benefit plans. On June 18, 2021, we appointed Ms. Smith to serve as Chief
Financial Officer. The terms of the original Smith Employment Agreement remained in force.

Kyle J. Young

On March 31, 2023, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Young to serve as our Chief Operating Officer (the “Young Employment
Agreement”). The Young Employment Agreement is evergreen and can be terminated by either party. Pursuant to the Young Employment Agreement,
the Board of Directors approved an increase to Mr. Young's annual base salary from $200,000 to $350,000, and an annual bonus between 20% and
100% of base annual salary at the discretion of our Board of Directors. A bonus of $47,500 was accrued for Mr. Young and subsequently paid in
installments on April 28, May 31, and June 30, 2023. Mr. Young is also eligible to participate in our standard benefit plans.

Director Compensation

The following table sets forth for each non-employee director certain information concerning their compensation for the year ended December
31, 2023:

Fees
Earned Nonqualified
or . Non-equity Deferred
Paid in Stock Option Incentive Plan  Compensation All Other
Cash Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation Total
Name () (3) (8) @ ) (8) (8) (8)

Reid S. Holbrook - = = = - - B
Andrew K. McCain - - - - - R R



Ret. General Robert C. Oaks - - = . - - B

Stephen Scott ® - - - - - % 159,000  $159,000
Ernest M. (Kiki) VanDeWeghe, Il - = o - - - _

Notes:
(1) All directors receive reimbursement for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in attending Board meetings and for participating in our business.

(2) The amounts in this column reflect the fair value on the grant date of the option awards granted to the named executive, calculated in accordance
with ASC Topic 718. Stock options were valued using the Black-Scholes model. The grant-date fair value does not necessarily reflect the value of
shares which may be received in the future with respect to these awards. The grant-date fair value of the stock options in this column is a non-cash
expense that reflects the fair value of the stock options on the grant date and therefore does not affect our cash balance. The fair value of the stock
options will likely vary from the actual value the holder receives because the actual value depends on the number of options exercised and the
market price of our common stock on the date of exercise. For a discussion of the assumptions made in the valuation of the stock options, see Note
10 to our consolidated financial statements, which are included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

(3) Mr. Scott received payment of $11,500 per month under the terms of an independent consulting agreement to provide services relating to our
strategic and business development, and sales and marketing. In July 2023, we entered into a new independent consulting agreement with Mr. Scott
to provide similar services for payment for $15,000 per month. Mr. Scott resigned as a Director on May 10, 2023.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of April 5, 2024 for (a) the
named executive officers, (b) each of our directors, (c) all of our current directors and executive officers as a group and (d) each stockholder known by us
to own beneficially more than 5% of our common stock. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting
or investment power with respect to the securities. We deem shares of common stock that may be acquired by an individual or group within 60 days of
April 5, 2024 pursuant to the exercise of options or warrants to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of such individual
or group but are not deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person shown in the table. Except as
indicated in footnotes to this table, we believe that the stockholders named in this table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares
of common stock shown to be beneficially owned by them based on information provided to us by these stockholders. Percentage of ownership is based
on 12,232,379 shares of common stock outstanding on April 5, 2024.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Holders

Name and Address of Amount and Nature of
Beneficial Owner 1) Beneficial Ownership Percent
Jemmett Enterprises, LLC 4,429,00012) 36.21%
Stephen H. Scott, Jr. 1,203,335 9.84%

Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers

Name and Address of Amount and Nature of
Beneficial Owner () Beneficial Ownership Percent

David G. Jemmett 4,629,001 37.84%

Debra L. Smith 59,090 *

Kyle J. Young 59,0906 *

Ret. General Robert C. Oaks 26,666(7) *

Reid S. Holbrook 26,666(7) *
Andrew K. McCain 529,444(8) 4.22%

Kiki VanDeWeghe 13,3339 *

Brett Chugg — —
Directors & Executive Officers as a Group (8 persons) 5,343,290(10) 42.00%

Notes:

*  Less than 1% of the outstanding shares of common stock.

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of record is c/o CISO Global, Inc., 6900 E. Camelback Road, Suite 900, Scottsdale, Arizona 85251.
(2) Mr. Jemmett is the managing member of Jemmett Enterprises, LLC and has voting and dispositive power over such shares.

(3) Consists of (i) 853,334 shares held directly by Mr. Scott; (i) 333,334 shares beneficially held by TVMT LLC; and (iii) 16,667 shares beneficially held
by JLS 401k Trust.

4

=

Consists of (i) 4,429,000 shares held by Jemmett Enterprises, LLC, of which Mr. Jemmett is the managing member and has voting and dispositive
power over such shares; (i) 133,334 shares held by Xander LLC, of which Mr. Jemmett and his wife are the sole members and have voting and
dispositive power over such shares; and (iii) 66,667 shares held by Dana Borgman Trust.

(5) Consists of 59,090 shares issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after April 5, 2024.

(6) Consists of 59,090 shares issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after April 5, 2024.

(7) Consists of 26,666 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after April 5, 2024.

(8

~

Consists of (i) 25,000 shares held indirectly as executor of the Andrew and Lucy McCain Family Trust, for which Mr. McCain has voting and
dispositive power; (ii) 200,000 shares held by Hensley & Company, for which Mr. McCain has voting and dispositive power; (iii) 26,666 shares
issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after April 5, 2024; and (iv) 277,778 shares issuable upon the conversion of a note
payable held by Hensley & Company.

(9) Consists of 13,333 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after April 5, 2024.



(10)Includes 211,511 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and 277,778 shares issuable upon conversion of a note payable.
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The following table sets forth information with respect to our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of stock options under our
equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2023:

Number of Securities

Remaining Available

for Future Issuance
Under Equity

Number of Securities Compensation Plans
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average (Excluding
Exercise of Exercise Price of Securities Reflected
Plan Category Outstanding Options Outstanding Options in Column (a))
() (b) (c)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 2,105,168 $ 31.63 4,232,853
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —
Total 2,105,168 $ 31.63 4,232,853

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Transactions with Related Persons

Except as set out below, during the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no transactions, or currently proposed transactions, in which we
were or are to be a participant and the amount involved exceeds the lesser of $120,000 or one percent of the average of our total assets at year-end for
the last two completed fiscal years, and in which any of the following persons had or will have a direct or indirect material interest:

e any director or executive officer of our company;

e any person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, shares carrying more than 5% of the voting rights attached to our outstanding shares of
common stock;

e any promoters and control persons; and

e any member of the immediate family (including spouse, parents, children, siblings and in laws) of any of the foregoing persons.

Independent Consulting Agreement with Stephen Scott

In August 2020, we entered into an Independent Consulting Agreement with Stephen Scott, a then director of our company, with respect to
advisory and consulting services relating to our strategic and business development, and sales and marketing. Mr. Scott received a consulting fee of
$11,500 per month for such services.

In July 2023, we entered into an Independent Consulting Agreement with Mr. Scott, to provide, on a non-exclusive basis, advisory and consulting
services relating to our strategic and business development, intellectual property development, banking relationships, and strategic M&A for a period of
one year. Mr. Scott will receive a consulting fee of $15,000 per month for such services under the terms of this agreement. During the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, we paid consulting fees to Mr. Scott in the amounts of $159,000 and $138,000, respectively.

Managed Services Agreement with Hensley Beverage Company

In July 2021, we entered into a 1-year Managed Services Agreement with Hensley Beverage Company, an entity affiliated with Mr. McCain, a
director of our company, to provide secured managed services. We also may be engaged by Hensley Beverage Company from time to time to provide
other related services outside the scope of the Managed Services Agreement. While the agreement provides for a term through December 31, 2021, the
agreement will continue until terminated by either party. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we received $1,417,398 and $850,445,
respectively from Hensley Beverage Company for contracted services and had an outstanding receivable balance of $152,213 and $15,737 as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Convertible Note Payable with Hensley Beverage Company

In March 2023, we issued an unsecured convertible note to Hensley & Company in the principal amount of $5,000,000 bearing an interest rate of
10.00% per annum. The principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest is due on March 20, 2025. At any time prior to or on the maturity
date, Hensley & Company is permitted to convert all or any portion of the outstanding principal amount and all accrued and unpaid interest thereon into
shares of our common stock at a conversion price of $18.00 per share ($1.20 on a pre-reverse split basis). During the year ended December 31, 2023,
we recorded interest expense of $388,888 and as of December 31, 2023, we had accrued interest of $388,888. Andy McCain, a director of our company,
is President and Chief Executive officer of Hensley & Company.

Director Independence

See “Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance — Director Independence” and “Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance —
Board Committees” in Item 10 above.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Our Audit Committee has appointed Semple, Marchal & Cooper, LLP (“SMC”) to audit the consolidated financial statements of our company for
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023. The following table sets forth the fees billed to our company for professional services rendered by SMC for the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Services 2023 2022




Audit fees @)

$ 498,395 $ 369,481
Audit-related fees ) 51,863 104,663
Tax fees ©) 65,827 50,213
All other fees 17,235 -
Total fees $ 633,320 $ 524,357
(€] Audit fees consisted of billing for professional services normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings, including (i) fees

associated with the audits of our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and, (ii) fees associated with quarterly
reviews for the quarters ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, June 30, 2023 and 2022, and September 30, 2023 and 2022.

2 Audit related fees consisted of billings for professional services for reviews of our periodic filings under form 10-K and 10-Q and acquisition audits
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

(3) Tax fees consisted primarily of tax related advisory and preparation services.
Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies

The charter of our Audit Committee provides that the authority and responsibilities of our Audit Committee include the pre-approval of all audit
and permitted non-audit and tax services that may be provided by our independent auditors or other registered public accounting firms, and the
establishment of policies and procedures for the Audit Committee’s pre-approval of permitted services by our independent auditors or other registered
public accounting firms on an on-going basis.

For audit services, each year our independent auditor provides our Audit Committee with an engagement letter outlining the scope of the audit
services proposed to be performed during the year, which must be formally accepted by our Audit Committee before the audit commences prior to
engagement of an independent auditor for next year's audit, management will submit an aggregate of services expected to be rendered during that year
for each of three categories of services to our Audit Committee for approval.

All of the services provided by SMC described above under the caption “Audit-Related Fees” were approved by our Audit Committee pursuant to
our Audit Committee’s pre-approval policies.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of the report:

(1) For a list of the financial statements included herein, see the index to the financial statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, incorporated into this Item by reference.

(2) Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not required or not applicable or the information is included in the
consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits.
Exhibit Incorporated by Reference
Number Exhibit Description Form  Exhibit Filing Date
2.1 Agreement for the Purchase and Sale of Limited Liability Company Interests of GenResults, LLC dated 10-12G 10.1 10/2/2019
April 12, 2019

2.2%* Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Regqistrant, TalaTek, LLC, TalaTek Merger Sub and 10-12G 2.2 10/2/2019
Baan Alsinawi dated September 23, 2019

2.3 Stock Purchase Agreement by and among the Registrant, Technologyville, Inc. and Brian Yelm dated May 8-K 10.1 5/29/2020
25, 2020

2.4 Share Purchase Agreement among the Reqistrant, Clear Skies Security, LLC and all of its Members dated 8-K 10.1 8/6/2020
July 31, 2020

2.5%* Adgreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Registrant, Alpine Merger Sub, LLC, Alpine Security, 8-K 10.1 12/21/2020
LLC and Christian Espinosa dated December 16, 2020

2.6%* Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Registrant, Catapult Acquisition 8-K 10.1 08/02/2021
Merger Sub, LLC, Catapult Acquisition Corporation, the shareholders of Catapult Acquisition Corporation
and Darek Hahn dated July 26, 2021

2.7 Stock Purchase Agreement by and among the Registrant, Atlantic Technology Systems, Inc., Atlantic 8-K 10.1 10/07/2021
Technology Enterprises, Inc., and James Montagne and Miriam Montagne as sole shareholders, dated
October 1, 2021

2.8%* Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Registrant, RED74 Merger Sub, LLC, RED74 LLC 8-K 10.1 11/15/2021
Ticato Holdings, Inc. and Tim Coleman dated October 8, 2021

2.9%* Stock Purchase Agreement by and among the Registrant, Southford Equities, Inc., a British Virgin Islands 8-K 10.1 12/06/2021

based company and David Esteban Alfaro Medina, Roberto Andrés Arriagada Poblete and Camilo Orlando
Garrido Briones dated December 1, 2021

2.10 Stock Purchase Agreement among the Registrant and certain shareholders of True Digital Security Inc. 8-K 10.1 01/06/2022
dated January 5, 2022
2.11**  Agreement and Plan of Merger among the Registrant and certain shareholders of True Digital Security Inc. 8-K 10.2 01/06/2022
dated January 5, 2022
3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant 10-Q 3.1 08/15/2022
3.1(a) Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant 8-K 3.1 04/10/2023
3.1(b)  Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant 8-K 3.1 03/07/2024
3.2 Second Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant 8-K 3.1 10/10/2023
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant 10-K 4.1 03/30/2020
4.2 Description of Securities Registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act 10-K 4.2 03/31/2023
4.3 Form of Underwriter Warrant S-1 4.3 12/14/2021
4.4 Form of Placement Agent Warrant 8-K 4.1 05/17/2023

10.1 Stock Repurchase Agreement between the Registrant and Alan Kierman dated September 1, 2019 10-K 10.4 03/30/2020


https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000101054919000217/exh101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000101054919000217/exh22.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315220010156/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315220014825/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315220024005/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315221018334/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315221024894/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315221028742/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315221030535/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315222000504/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315222000504/ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315222022449/ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223011759/ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315224009208/ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223036765/ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315220005173/ex4-1.htm
file:///tmp/T11687/23ec9e51-699f-498e-ad51-d94c8e5a2fff/ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315221031439/ex4-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223018004/ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315220005173/ex10-4.htm

10.2# 2019 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended 10-Q 10.3 08/15/2022

10.3(a)# Form of Stock Option Agreement 10-K 10.3 04/15/2022
10.4# Employment Agreement between the Registrant and David G. Jemmett dated September 30, 2019 10-12G 10.2 010/2/2019
10.5 Purchase Agreement and 5% Unsecured Convertible Note by the Registrant payable to Neil Stinchcombe 8-K 10.1 11/02/2021

dated October 27, 2021

10.5(a) Letter Agreement between the Registrant and Neil Stinchcombe dated March 27, 2023 10-K 10.5(a) 03/31/2023
10.6# Employment Agreement by and between Debra L. Smith and the Registrant dated December 31, 2020 10-K 10.10 04/15/2022
10.7# Employment Agreement by and between David A. Bennett and the Registrant dated February 12, 2022 10-K 10.7  03/31/2023
10.8# Employment Agreement by and between Ashley N. Devoto and the Registrant dated December 23, 2021 10-K 10.8  03/31/2023
10.9 Form of Lockup Agreement S-1/A 10.14 01/07/2022

10.10 Purchase Agreement, dated March 20, 2023, by and between the Registrant and Hensley & Company dba 8-K 10.1 03/20/2023
Hensley Beverage Company

10.11 10% Unsecured Convertible Note by the Registrant payable to Hensley & Company, dated March 20, 2023 8-K 10.2 03/20/2023

10.12# Employment Agreement by and between Kyle J. Young and the Registrant dated March 30, 2023 10-K 10.12 03/31/2023

10.13# 2023 Equity Incentive Plan S-8 10.2 10/31/2023

10.14 Placement Agency Agreement, dated May 16, 2023, by and between the Registrant and each Purchaser 8-K 10.2 05/17/2023
thereto

10.15 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated May 16, 2023, by and between the Registrant and each 8-K 10.1 05/17/2023

Purchasers thereto
21.1* Subsidiaries of the Registrant
23.1* Consent of Semple, Marchal & Cooper LLP
23.2* Consent of Baker Tilly Chile Ltda.
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer
32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
32.2 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer
97.1* CISO Global, Inc. Executive Officer Incentive Compensation Recovery Policy
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH Inline XBRL Schema Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRL Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (Embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

*Filed herewith.
**Certain exhibits, annexes, and/or schedules have been omitted from this filing pursuant to ltem 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. We agree to furnish
supplementally a copy of any omitted exhibit, annex, or schedule to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
# Management contracts and compensatory plans and arrangements.
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CISO GLOBAL, INC.

By: /s/ David G. Jemmett

Name: David G. Jemmett
Title:  Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
Date: April 16, 2024

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

By: /s/ David G. Jemmett

Name: David G. Jemmett

Title:  Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)
Date: April 16, 2024

By: /s/ Debra L. Smith

Name: Debra L. Smith

Title:  Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

Date: April 16, 2024

By: /s/ Robert C. Oaks

Name: Ret. General Robert C. Oaks
Title:  Director

Date: April 16, 2024

By: /s/ Reid S. Holbrook
Name: Reid S. Holbrook
Title:  Director

Date: April 16, 2024

By: /s/ Andrew K. McCain
Name: Andrew K. McCain



https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315222022449/ex10-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315222010123/ex10-3_a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000101054919000217/exh102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315221026994/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223010229/ex10-5a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315222010123/ex10-10.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223010229/ex10-7.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223010229/ex10-8.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315222000600/ex10-14.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223008267/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223008267/ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223010229/ex10-12.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223038844/ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223018004/ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1777319/000149315223018004/ex10-1.htm
file:///tmp/T11687/23ec9e51-699f-498e-ad51-d94c8e5a2fff/ex21-1.htm
file:///tmp/T11687/23ec9e51-699f-498e-ad51-d94c8e5a2fff/ex23-1.htm
file:///tmp/T11687/23ec9e51-699f-498e-ad51-d94c8e5a2fff/ex23-2.htm
file:///tmp/T11687/23ec9e51-699f-498e-ad51-d94c8e5a2fff/ex31-1.htm
file:///tmp/T11687/23ec9e51-699f-498e-ad51-d94c8e5a2fff/ex31-2.htm
file:///tmp/T11687/23ec9e51-699f-498e-ad51-d94c8e5a2fff/ex32-1.htm
file:///tmp/T11687/23ec9e51-699f-498e-ad51-d94c8e5a2fff/ex32-2.htm
file:///tmp/T11687/23ec9e51-699f-498e-ad51-d94c8e5a2fff/ex97-1.htm

Title:  Director
Date: April 16, 2024

By: /s/ Ernest M. (Kiki) VanDeWeghe, IiI
Name: Ernest M. (Kiki) VanDeWeghe, Il
Title:  Director

Date: April 16, 2024

By: /s/ Brett Chugg
Name: Brett Chugg
Title:  Director

Date: April 16, 2024
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SEMPLE, MARCHAL & COOPER, LLP

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND CONSULTANTS

3101 NORTH CENTRAL AVENUE, SUITE 1600, PHOENIX, ARIZONA 85012

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders of
CISO Global, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Scottsdale, Arizona

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CISO Global, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the other auditors, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its consolidated
operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We did not audit the combined financial statements of the Company’s wholly-owned “South American Subsidiaries,” which include the consolidated
balance sheets of Arkavia Networks SpA. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Arkavia Networks Limitada and Arkavia Networks, as of December 31, 2023
and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholder’s equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022;
the combined balance sheets of Servicios Informaticos CUATROi, S.P.A., Comercializadora CUATROI S.P.A., CUATROi Peru S.A.C., and CUATROi
S.A.S. (entities under common ownership and management) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the related combined statements of operations,
stockholder’s equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023 and the period from August 26, 2022 (Acquisition) to December 31, 2022;
and the combined balance sheets of NLT Networks, S.P.A., NLT Tecnologias, Limitada, NLT Servicios Profesionales, S.P.A. and White and Blue
Solutions, LLC (entities under common ownership and management) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the related combined statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023 and the period from September 1, 2022 (Acquisition) to
December 31, 2022; and the related notes (collectively “combined financial statements”). The combined financial statements of the South American
Subsidiaries reflect total assets of $21.9 million and $39.5 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and total revenues of $23.1 and $10.0
million for the periods then ended. Those statements were audited by another auditor whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as
it relates to the amounts included for the South American Subsidiaries, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.

Going Concern Uncertainty

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations, negative cash flows from operations and
has a net capital deficiency that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters
are also described in Note 2. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.



Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are
required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company'’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

/s/ Semple, Marchal & Cooper, LLP

Certified Public Accountants

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.

Phoenix, Arizona
April 16, 2024
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@ pakertilly
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM www.bakertilly.cl

To Board of Directors and Stockholders of
CIS0 Glebal, Inc,
1/2

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the combined balance sheets of CIS0 Global Chile Latam comprising the companies Arkavia
Metworks SpA. and its whally-owned subsidiaries Arkavia Metworks Limitada and Arkavia Metworks (collectively
"Arkavia”), as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related consclidated statements of operations, stockhalders’
aequity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022; the combined balance sheets of Servicias
Informaticos CUATROI, 5.P.A., Comercializadora CUATROI S.P.A., CUATROI Peru 5.A.C., and CUATROI 5.4.5. (entities
under common ownership and management, collectively “CUATROI”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the
related combined statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the period ended December
2023 and August 26, 2022 [Acquisition) to December 31, 2022; and the combined balance sheets of MLT
Metworks, S.P.A., NLT Tecnologias, Limitada, NLT Servicios Profesionales, 5.P.A. and White and Blue Solutions, LLC
[entities under comman ewnership and management, callectively “MLT") as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the
related combined statements of operaticns, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the period ended December
2023 and September 1, 2022 (Acquisition) to December 31, 2022; and the related notes (collectively “combined
financial statements”) (Arkavia, together with CUATROI and MLT, the “Company”). In our opinion, such combined
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the combined financial position as December 31, 2023 and
2022, and the results of its combined operations and its cash flows for the periods then ended, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These combined financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion an the combined financial statements based on cur audits. We are a public accounting firm
registerad with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be
independent with raspect to the Company with respect to the Company in accordance with U.5, federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCADE.

‘We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAQB. Those standards require that we plan
and perfarm the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to parfarm, an audit of its internal eontrol over financial reparting. As part of aur audits, we are required to
obtaln an understanding of Internal contral over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, Accordingly, we express no
such opinian,

AUDITORIA - COMSULTORIA - ASESORIAS TRIBUTARIAS

Baker Tilly Chile trading as Baker Tilly is 2 member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd,, the members of which are separate
and independent legal entities.
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@ bakertilly

Board of Directors and Stackhaolders of www.bakertilly.cl
CIS0 Global, Inc.
2f2

Qur audits include perferming procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the combined financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclesures in the consolidated
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the combined financial statements. We
believe that aur audits and the repart of other auditors provide a reasonable basis far our opinlon.

BAKER TILLY CHILE LTDA.

Santiaga, Chile, April 16, 2024

We have sgfved as auditors since 2021,

Baker Tilly Chite Auditores Consullores Lida., rading as Baker Tilly Chile i5 a member of the global netwark of Baker Tilly

International Lid., the members of which are separate and independant lagal entifies.

AUDITORIA - COMSULTORIA - ASESORIAS TRIBUTARIAS

Baker Tilly Chile trading as
and independeant legal
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Baker Tilly is 2 member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which are separata

CISO GLOBAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,062,442 1,833,163
Accounts receivable, net 5,685,727 7,862,297
Inventory 218,890 11,803
Prepaid cost of revenue 2,592,828 2,634,667
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,200,271 1,724,650
Contract assets 197,656 332,215
Total Current Assets 10,957,814 14,398,795
Property and equipment, net 3,677,474 4,680,495
Right of use asset, net 762,228 255,687
Intangible assets, net 3,778,244 8,475,229
Goodwill 31,519,844 76,664,017
Prepaid cost of revenue, net of current portion 888,255 -
Other assets 71,523 22,592
Total Assets $ 51,655,382 104,496,815




LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 15,951,327 $ 8,310,337
Deferred revenue 4,158,969 4,472,140
Lease liability 219,342 121,731
Loans payable 3,691,464 7,758,831
Convertible notes payable 2,050,000 2,550,000
Total Current Liabilities 26,071,102 23,213,039
Long-term Liabilities:
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 1,099,734 -
Loans payable, net of current portion 2,748,788 4,243,802
Convertible notes payable, related party 5,000,000 -
Lease liability, net of current portion 596,307 159,205
Deferred tax liability - 435,678
Total Liabilities 35,515,931 28,051,724

Commitments and Contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock, $ .00001 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized; 11,949,959 and
9,697,921 issued outstanding at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively 119 97
Preferred stock, $ .00001 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and
outstanding on December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively

Additional paid-in capital 172,837,842 153,170,351
Accumulated translation adjustment 1,320,177 1,062,247
Accumulated deficit (158,018,687) (77,787,604)
Total Stockholders’ Equity 16,139,451 76,445,091
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 51,655,382 $ 104,496,815

The accompanying footnotes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CISO GLOBAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Revenue:

Security managed services $ 50,078,925 $ 40,920,420

Professional services 6,979,832 5,629,197

Total revenue 57,058,757 46,549,617

Cost of revenue:

Security managed services 23,671,605 15,431,523

Professional services 900,582 844,287

Cost of payroll 21,613,207 20,036,182

Stock based compensation 4,823,829 7,512,304

Total cost of revenue 51,009,223 43,824,296

Total gross profit 6,049,534 2,725,321
Operating expenses:

Professional fees 3,695,187 2,067,603

Advertising and marketing 474,121 804,218

Selling, general and administrative 26,744,543 23,106,451

Stock based compensation 7,712,671 9,885,191

Impairment of goodwiill 45,194,717 -
Total operating expenses 83,821,239 35,863,463
Loss from operations (77,771,705) (33,138,142)
Other income (expense):

Other income (expense) (13,640) 43,332

Interest expense, net (2,881,416) (680,921)
Total other income (expense) (2,895,056) (637,589)
Loss before income taxes (80,666,761) (33,775,731)
Benefit from income taxes (435,678) (549)
Net loss (80,231,083) (33,775,182)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 257,930 1,062,247

Comprehensive loss $ (79,973,153) $ (32,712,935)




Net loss per common share - basic and diluted (Note 3) $ (7.22) $ (3.64)
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 11,117,316 9,275,554
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 11,117,316 9,275,554
The accompanying footnotes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CISO GLOBAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (NOTE 3)
Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Stock Preferred Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Gainl/(Loss) Deficit Total

Balance at January 1,
2023 9,697,921 $ 97 - % - $153,170,351 $ 1,062,247 $(77,787,604) $76,445,091
Stock based compensation -
stock options - - - - 11,469,667 - - 11,469,667
Stock based compensation -
common stock 233,333 2 - - 733,498 - - 733,500
Stock issued for cash 1,782,658 18 - - 6,655,475 - - 6,655,493
Exercise of options 69,378 1 - - 491,852 - - 491,853
Stock issued for SB Cyber
acquisition 33,335 - - - 99,000 - - 99,000
Stock issued as lending
discount 133,334 1 - - 217,999 218,000
Foreign currency translation - - - - - 257,930 - 257,930

(
Net loss - - - - - - (80,231,083)  80,231,083)
Balance at December 31, (
2023 11,949,959 $ 119 - $ - $172,837,842 $ 1,320,177 $158,018,687) $16,139,451
Balance at January 1,
2022 8,328,397 $ 83 - $ - $ 69,310,544 $ - $(44,012,422) $25,298,205
Stock based compensation -
stock options - - - - 15,464,587 - - 15,464,587
Stock based compensation -
common stock 60,655 1 - - 2,266,233 - - 2,266,234
Stock issued for cash 23,499 - - - 1,167,289 - - 1,167,289
Exercise of options 179,268 2 - - 1,480,140 - - 1,480,142
Stock issued for cash in
public offering 137,334 1 - - 9,521,797 - - 9,521,798
Stock issued for True Digital
acquisition 548,600 6 - - 34,726,374 - - 34,726,380
Stock issued for VeloclT
acquisition 17,112 - - - - - - -
Stock issued for Red74
acquisition 2,267 - - - - - - -
Stock issued for Creatrix
acquisition 40,000 1 - - 3,629,999 - - 3,630,000
Stock issued for
CyberViking acquisition 33,267 - - - 1,836,320 - - 1,836,320
Stock issued for CUATROI
acquisition 144,463 1 - - 6,847,473 - - 6,847,474
Stock issued for NLT
Secure acquisition 183,059 2 - - 6,919,595 - - 6,919,597
Foreign currency translation - - - - - 1,062,247 - 1,062,247

(
Net loss - - - - - - (33,775,182)  33,775,182)
Balance at December 31,
2022 9,697,921 $ 97 - $ - $153,170,351 $ 1,062,247 $(77,787,604) $76,445,091

The accompanying footnotes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CISO GLOBAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Stock based compensation - stock options

(80,231,083)

11,469,667

$

(33,775,182)

15,464,587



Stock based compensation - common stock
Depreciation and amortization
Right of use amortization
Other
Impairment of intangible assets
Impairment of goodwill

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Inventory
Contract assets
Prepaids and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Lease liability
Settlement liability
Deferred revenue

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Cash acquired/(paid) in acquisitions, net
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Proceeds from stock option exercise
Proceeds from loan payable
Proceeds from convertible notes payable, related party
Proceeds from convertible note payable
Proceeds from line of credit
Payment on line of credit
Payment on loans payable
Payment on notes payable, related party
Payment of convertible note payable
Payment of debt issuance cost

Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents - end of the period
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for:

Interest

Income taxes
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:

Operating lease assets obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations

Common stock issued in True Digital acquisition
Common stock issued in Creatrix acquisition
Common stock issued in VelocIT acquisition
Common stock issued in RED 74 acquisition
Common stock issued in CyberViking acquisition
Common stock issued in CUATROi acquisition
Common stock issued in NLT Secure acquisition
Common stock issued in SB Cyber acquisition
Common stock issued as a lending discount

733,500 1,932,908
3,144,047 3,071,917

227,241 247,474

200,317 35,782

3,116,039 -

45,194,717 -
2,085,883 (979,898)

(217,664) 173,156
134,559 (166,908)
(493,328) (2,625,108)

8,125,856 4,237,986
(199,069) (206,870)
- (470,000)

789,206 2,379,149

(5,920,112) (10,681,007)

(213,629) (512,247)

30,430 (5,536,697)

23,041 -

(160,158) (6,048,944)

6,655,493 10,689,087

491,853 1,480,142

6,852,408 5,000,000

5,000,000 -

2,050,000 1,000,000

264,723 86,585

(261,591) -

(12,118,340) (369,829)

: (2,083,076)

(2,550,000) -

(191,500) (25,000)

6,193,046 15,777,909

(883,497) 60,170

(770,721) (891,872)

1,833,163 2,725,035

$ 1,062,442  $ 1,833,163
$ 2,376,477  $ 512,374
$ - -
$ 733782 % 476,986
$ -8 34,726,380
$ -8 3,630,000
$ - -
$ -8 -
$ -8 1,836,320
$ -8 6,847,474
$ -8 6,919,597
$ 99,000 $ -
$ 218,000 $ ]

The accompanying footnotes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CISO GLOBAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF THE ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS

Unless otherwise indicated or the context requires otherwise, the terms ““we,” “us,” “our,” and “our company” refer to CISO Global, Inc., a

Delaware corporation (“CISO Global”), and our wholly owned subsidiaries. All dollar amounts are expressed in United States dollars.

Nature of the Business

We are a cybersecurity and compliance company comprised of highly trained and seasoned security professionals who work with clients to
enhance or create a better cyber posture in their organization. We provide a full range of cybersecurity consulting and related services, encompassing all
three pillars of compliance, cybersecurity, and culture. Our services include secured managed services, compliance services, security operations center
(“SOC") services, virtual Chief Information Security Officer (“vCISQO”) services, incident response, certified forensics, technical assessments, and
cybersecurity training. We believe that culture is the foundation of every successful cybersecurity and compliance program. To deliver that outcome, we
developed our unique offering of MCCP+ (“Managed Compliance & Cybersecurity Provider + Culture”), which is a holistic solution that provides all three



of these pillars under one roof from a dedicated team of subject matter experts. In contrast to the majority of cybersecurity firms that are focused on a
specific technology or service, we seek to differentiate ourselves by remaining technology agnostic, focusing on accumulating highly sought-after topic
experts. We continually seek to identify and acquire cybersecurity talent to expand our service scope and geographical coverage to provide the best
possible service for our clients. We believe that bringing together a world-class team of technological experts with multi-faceted expertise in the critical
aspects of cybersecurity is key to providing technology agnostic solutions to our clients in a business environment that has suffered from a chronic lack of
highly skilled professionals, thereby setting us apart from competitors and in-house security teams. Our goal is to create a culture of security and to help
quantify, define, and capture a return on investment from information technology and cybersecurity spending.

NOTE 2 - LIQUIDITY AND GOING CONCERN CONSIDERATIONS

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business However, due to losses incurred, substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern exists.

We are evaluating strategies to obtain the required additional funding for future operations. These strategies may include, obtaining equity
financing, issuing debt or entering into other financing arrangements, and restructuring of operations to grow revenues and decrease expenses. However,
we may be unable to access further equity or debt financing when needed. As such, there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional
liquidity when needed or under acceptable terms, if at all.

The ability for us to continue as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to successfully accomplish the plan described in the Growth
Strategy paragraph and eventually attain profitable operations. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying
amounts and classification of assets, liabilities, and reported expenses that may be necessary if the Company were unable to continue as a going
concern.

F-9

NOTE 3 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”). The summary of significant accounting policies presented below is designed to assist in understanding our
consolidated financial statements. Such consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are the representations of our management, who is
responsible for their integrity and objectivity.

Reverse Stock Split

On February 29, 2024, our board of directors approved a 1-for-15 reverse stock split of our common stock. The record date for the reverse stock
split was the close of business on March 7, 2024, with share distribution occurring on March 8, 2024. As a result of the reverse stock split, stockholders
received one share of CISO Global, Inc. common stock, par value $ 0.00001 , for each 15 shares they held as of the record date. All share and per share
amounts have been retroactively restated for the effects of this reverse stock split. Common stock underlying our outstanding warrants, convertible notes,
and options have also been adjusted, and the conversion and exercise prices have also been adjusted.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of our company and our wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Prior Period Reclassifications
Reclassification of certain immaterial prior period amounts have been made to conform to the current period presentation.
Use of Estimates

Preparing financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more material judgments and estimates used in the preparation of the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. Material estimates include the allowance for credit losses, the carrying value of intangible assets and
goodwill, deferred tax asset and valuation allowance, the estimated fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and stock issued in business
combinations, and assumptions used in the Black-Scholes-Merton pricing model, such as expected volatility, risk-free interest rate, share price, expected
dividend rate, and the adequacy of insurance reserves.

Revenue

Our revenues are derived from two major types of services to clients: security managed services and professional services. With respect to
Security Managed Services, we provide culture education and enablement, tools and technology provisioning, data and privacy monitoring, regulations
and compliance monitoring, remote infrastructure administration, and cybersecurity services including, but not limited to, antivirus and patch
management. With respect to Professional Services, we provide cybersecurity consulting, compliance auditing, vulnerability assessment and penetration
testing, and disaster recovery and data backup solutions.

Our managed services offerings typically are paid in advance of providing services. We have determined that our contracts do not include a
significant financing component. Payments received in advance of our performance are initially recorded as deferred revenue and then recognized as
revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract. Revenue is recognized net of allowances for applicable transaction-based taxes collected
from customers.

Our revenue is categorized and disaggregated as reflected in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, as follows:
Security Managed Services

We have three distinct revenue streams under cybersecurity security managed services: risk and compliance, cyber defense operations, and
secured managed services. We derive revenue from risk and compliance by ensuring our customers implement the right controls, properly prioritizing

risks, and investing in the appropriate remediation, so our customers can achieve compliance, adhere to industry standards and guidelines, and manage
continuous monitoring over time. We derive revenue from cyber defense operations through security focused end-to-end network and device



management solutions for companies that want to outsource their administration needs to a team of senior engineers who provide modern strategy,
insights, support, SOC-as-a-service, which is a subscription-based service that manages and monitors clients’ logs, devices, clouds, network, and assets
for possible cyber threats. Secured managed services include road mapping the future state for the client and providing our knowledgeable expertise to
help them achieve their security needs.
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Performance Obligations

Our contract transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance
obligation is satisfied. We have determined the performance obligations for the following services:

Risk and Compliance: We have determined that services provided under risk and compliance contains a single performance obligation. We
recognize revenue as earned based on time and material.

Cyber Defense Operations: We consider these services to be one performance obligation, although they may include various parts (e.g., support
desk, vulnerability identification and patching, firewall management, etc. (referred to generally as the “parts”)). These parts are not viewed as being
distinct, but rather a collection of interrelated parts that are combined to fill a functional need over a period of time (managed IT service). As such, the
parts are not viewed as distinct as the parts are not separable in the contract. We bill the client on a monthly basis under the annual contract, and
revenue is recognized as earned ratably over the contract term.

Secured Managed Services: We have determined that secure IT and architecture services is viewed by our company as one performance
obligation, although it may include various parts (e.g., strategy, advisory, architecture, design, security and oversight (referred to generally as the “parts”)).
This position is based on the fact that these various parts are not viewed as being distinct. Revenue is recognized as earned based on time and
materials.

Professional Services

We have two distinct revenue streams under professional services: incident response and digital forensics, and security testing and training. We
derive revenue from security testing and training by utilizing the same tools and techniques a malicious cybercriminal would use to try to gain
unauthorized access to highly guarded corporate systems and data to evaluate technical controls and quantify business risks in a meaningful way. We
also offer cybersecurity awareness training required under most compliance frameworks, and recommended as a best practice under National Institute of
Standards and Technology standards, to help reduce the risk of a successful cyber-attack. We derive revenue from the sale of hardware and software for
customer’s IT infrastructure along with occasional staffing services.

We derive revenue from incident response and digital forensics by providing our customers with certified experts experienced in locating and
neutralizing threat actors who have breached their environments. Our team is able to identify and contain a cyberattack quickly, implement patches or
configuration changes to prevent re-infection, perform forensic analysis to determine root cause, and provide a plan of attack for improvements that will
prevent a similar attack from succeeding in the future.

Performance Obligations

Our contract transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance
obligation is satisfied. We have determined the performance obligations for the following services:

Security Testing and Training : We have determined that security testing and training is viewed by our company as one performance obligation.
Revenue is recognized at a point in time when the result of the assessment is turned over to the customer, as earned based on time and materials, or
upon delivery of equipment to the client.

Incident Response and Digital Forensics: We consider these services to be one performance obligation, although they may include various parts
(e.g., determine the source, cause, and prevention of recurrence etc. (referred to generally as the “parts”)). These parts are not viewed as being distinct.
We recognize revenue as earned based on time and material.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.
Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are generally unsecured, non-interest bearing and reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances, net of allowances
for credit losses. We provide for allowances for credit losses based on our estimate of uncollectible amounts considering age, collection history, and any
other factors considered appropriate. Payments are generally due within 30 days of invoice. We write off accounts receivable against the allowance for
credit losses when a balance is determined to be uncollectible. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, our allowance for credit losses was $ 219,141 and $
270,011 , respectively.

Prepaid cost of revenue

Prepaid cost of revenue represents amounts charged by our vendors for licenses that we resell to our customers. These amounts are amortized
to cost of revenue over the same period revenue is recognized for the related contract with our customers.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
related assets, generally between three and five years . Expenditures that enhance the useful lives of the assets are capitalized and depreciated.

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. At the time of retirement or other disposition of property and equipment, the cost
and accumulated depreciation will be removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss, if any, will be reflected in operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets, including finite-lived intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that



the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted net
cash flows of the operation to which the assets relate to the carrying amount. Fair value is determined based on discounted cash flows or appraised
values, depending on the nature of the assets. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recognized losses on impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets of $ 45,194,717 and $ 3,116,039 , respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we did not record a loss on impairment.

Intangible Assets

We record our intangible assets at estimated fair value in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 350, Intangibles —
Gooawill and Other. Finite lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful life using the straight-line method, which is determined by
identifying the period over which the cash flows from the asset are expected to be generated.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of the acquired business over the estimated fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at least annually during the fourth quarter, at the reporting unit level or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level by first
performing a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If
the reporting unit does not pass the qualitative assessment, then the reporting unit's carrying value is compared to its fair value. The fair values of the
reporting units are estimated using a market approach. Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value.
Failure to maintain a similar market value may cause a future impairment of goodwill at the reporting unit level.

Advertising and Marketing Costs

We expense advertising and marketing costs as they are incurred. Advertising and marketing expenses were $ 474,121 and $ 804,218 for the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are recorded in operating expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.

Fair Value Measurements

As defined in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (exit price). We utilize market data or assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk and the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation
technique. These inputs can be readily observable, market corroborated, or generally unobservable. ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement). This fair value measurement framework
applies at both initial and subsequent measurement.

Level 1: Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date. Active markets are those in which
transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2:  Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the
reported date. Level 2 includes those financial instruments that are valued using models or other valuation methodologies. These models are
primarily industry-standard models that consider various assumptions, including quoted forward prices for commodities, time value, volatility
factors, and current market and contractual prices for the underlying instruments, as well as other relevant economic measures. Substantially
all of these assumptions are observable in the marketplace throughout the full term of the instrument, can be derived from observable data, or
are supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed in the marketplace.

Level 3:  Pricing inputs include significant inputs that are generally less observable from objective sources. These inputs may be used with internally
developed methodologies that result in management’s best estimate of fair value. The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement for nonrecurring fair value measurements of long-lived assets include pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and
similar techniques.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses, and other current liabilities approximate their fair
values using Level 3 inputs, based on the short-term maturity of these instruments. The carrying amount of loans and notes payable approximate the
estimated fair value for this financial instrument as management believes that such debt and interest payable on the notes approximates our incremental
borrowing rate. The long-lived assets (i.e., goodwill and intangible assets) were valued utilizing Level 3 inputs. Significant unobservable inputs used in fair
value measurement of the intangible assets include projected revenue, gross profit and operating expenses, income tax rates, discount rates, royalty
rates, and attrition rates.
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Net Loss per Common Share

Net loss per common share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
period. All outstanding options are considered potentially outstanding common stock. The dilutive effect, if any, of stock options is calculated using the
treasury stock method. All outstanding convertible notes are considered common stock at the beginning of the period or at the time of issuance, if later,
pursuant to the if-converted method. Since the effect of common stock equivalents is anti-dilutive with respect to losses, the options and shares issuable
upon conversion have been excluded from our computation of net loss per common share for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

On March 8, 2024, we filed an amendment to our certificate of incorporation to effectuate a 1-for-15 reverse stock split. Our shares of outstanding
common stock and earnings per share calculation have been retroactively restated for all periods presented. The following tables summarize the
securities that were excluded from the diluted per share calculation because the effect of including these potential shares was antidilutive due to our net
loss position even though the exercise price could be less than the average market price of the common shares:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Stock options 2,105,168 2,426,428
Warrants 49,614 9,614

Convertible debt 846,122 28,715




Total 3,000,904 2,464,757

Stock-Based Compensation

We apply the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation, which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation
expense for all stock-based awards made to employees and nonemployees, in the consolidated statements of operations.

For stock options issued to employees and members of our Board of Directors for their services, we estimate the grant date fair value of each
option using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model. The use of the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model requires management to make
assumptions with respect to the expected term of the option, the expected volatility of the common stock consistent with the expected life of the option,
risk-free interest rates and expected dividend yields of the common stock. For awards subject to service-based vesting conditions, including those with a
graded vesting schedule, we recognize stock-based compensation expense equal to the grant date fair value of stock options on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting term. Forfeitures are recorded as they are incurred. Due to our company'’s limited history and
lack of public market for its common stock, we used the average of historical share prices of our common stock and that of similar companies within our
industry to calculate volatility for use in the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model.

We issued shares of our stock to vendors and nonemployee for services provided. We recognize the accounting grant date fair value of the stock
award as compensation expense over the required service period of each award. Shares issued for services are measured based on the fair market
value of the underlying common stock on their respective accounting grant dates. New shares are issued upon the exercise of stock options.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue primarily consists of billings or payments received from customers in advance of revenue recognized for the services provided
to our customers or annual licenses and is recognized as services are performed or ratably over the life of the license. We generally invoice customers in
advance or in milestone-based installments.

Deferred revenue consisted of the following:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Current:

Security managed services $ 3,366,273  $ 3,609,087
Professional services 792,696 863,053
Total deferred revenue - current $ 4,158,969 $ 4,472,140
Long-term:

Security managed services $ 1,099,734 $ -
Total deferred revenue — long term $ 1,099,734 $ =

F-14

The increase in the deferred revenue balance is primarily driven by payments received in advance of satisfying our performance obligations,
offset by $ 4,120,260 of revenue recognized during 2023, which was included in the deferred revenue balance as of December 31, 2022. The deferred
revenue balance as of December 31, 2023 represents our remaining performance obligations that will be recognized as revenue over the period in which
the performance obligations are satisfied, and is expected to be recognized in revenue as follows:

2024 2025 Total
Security managed services $ 3,366,273  $ 1,099,734  $ 4,466,007
Professional services 792,696 - 792,696
Total deferred revenue $ 4,158,969 $ 1,099,734 $ 5,258,703

Foreign Currency

Our functional and reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. For certain of our foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is other than the U.S.
dollar, we translate revenue and expense transactions at average exchange rates. We translate assets and liabilities at period-end exchange rates and
include foreign currency translation gains and losses as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income.

Leases

Leases in which our company is the lessee are comprised of corporate offices and property and equipment. All of the leases are classified as
operating leases. We lease multiple office spaces with a remaining weighted average term of 3.76 years.

Right-of-use (“ROU") assets include any prepaid lease payments and exclude any lease incentives and initial direct costs incurred. Lease
expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The lease terms may include options to extend or
terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option.

In accordance with ASC 842, Leases, we recognized a ROU asset and corresponding lease liability on our consolidated balance sheet for long-
term office leases and a vehicle operating lease agreement. See Note 14 — Leases for further discussion, including the impact on our consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets, including tax loss and credit carry
forwards, and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date.

We utilize ASC 740, Income Taxes, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences
of events that have been included in the consolidated financial statements or tax returns. We account for income taxes using the asset and liability
method to compute the differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the related financial amounts, using currently enacted tax rates. A
valuation allowance is recorded when it is “more likely than not” that a deferred tax asset will not be realized. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, our net
deferred tax asset has been fully reserved.
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For uncertain tax positions that meet a “more likely than not” threshold, we recognize the benefit of uncertain tax positions in the consolidated
financial statements. Our practice is to recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense in the
consolidated statements of operations when a determination is made that such expense is likely.

Emerging Growth Company Status

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). Under the JOBS Act,
emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until those
standards apply to private companies. We have elected to use this extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards
that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that it is (i) no longer an emerging growth company or (ii)
affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, these consolidated financial statements may
not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company effective dates. The JOBS Act
does not preclude an emerging growth company from early adopting new or revised accounting standards. We expect to use the extended transition
period for any new or revised accounting standards during the period which we remain an emerging growth company.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In October 2021, the Financial Standards Accounting Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2021-08, Business
Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers. The new guidance requires contract
assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination to be recognized in accordance with ASC Topic 606 as if the acquirer had originated
the contracts. The ASU is applied prospectively and is effective for us for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, and interim periods within
those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures which
expands annual and interim disclosure requirements for reportable segments, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment
expenses. ASU 2023-07 is effective for our annual periods beginning January 1, 2024, and for interim periods beginning January 1, 2025, with early
adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the potential effect that the updated standard will have on our financial statement disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topics 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures to expand the
disclosure requirements for income taxes, specifically related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. ASU 2023-09 is effective for our annual
periods beginning January 1, 2025, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the potential effect that the updated standard will have on
our financial statement disclosures.

NOTE 4 - ACQUISITIONS
True Digital Security, Inc. Acquisition

On January 5, 2022, we entered into the True Digital Stock Purchase Agreement with certain stockholders of True Digital and the True Digital
Merger Agreement with True Digital and certain of its other stockholders. On January 19, 2022, the transactions contemplated by the True Digital Stock
Purchase Agreement and the True Digital Merger Agreement were consummated, with True Digital becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of our company
(the “True Digital Acquisition”). True Digital’'s outstanding common stock was exchanged for $ 6,153,000 in cash and 548,600 shares of our common
stock.
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The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as of the
transaction date:

Consideration $ 40,879,380
Tangible assets acquired:
Cash 485,232
Accounts receivable 1,404,386
Contract assets 131,342
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 196,825
Property and equipment 906,006
Other assets 17,505
Total tangible assets 3,141,296
Intangible assets acquired:
Tradename - trademarks 1,744,200
Intellectual property 1,137,000
Non-competes 124,900
3,006,100

Total intangible assets

Assumed liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,283,003
Deferred revenue 1,956,600
Line of credit 283,244
Loans payable 181,741
Loans payable - shareholder 543,581
Total assumed liabilities 4,248,169
Net assets acquired 1,899,227
Goodwill (a) $ 38,980,153

(a) Goodwill and intangibles are not deductible for tax purposes.

Creatrix, Inc. Acquisition



On June 1, 2022, we entered into a stock purchase agreement with the stockholders of Creatrix, pursuant to which Creatrix became our wholly
owned subsidiary. We anticipate that this will expand our professional services offerings and capabilities. Creatrix offers recognized expertise in identity
management as wells as systems integration and software engineering and specializes in biometrics, vetting, credentialing, and case management.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as of the
transaction date:

Consideration paid $ 3,630,000
Tangible assets acquired:

Cash 3,672
Accounts receivable 125,908
Contract assets 33,965
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,597
Total tangible assets 167,042

Assumed liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 48,001
Loans payable 56,687
Total assumed liabilities 104,688
Net assets acquired 62,354
Goodwill (a) $ 3,567,646
(a) Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.
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CyberViking, LLC Acquisition

On July 1, 2022, we entered into a stock purchase agreement with the interest holders of CyberViking and its interest holders, pursuant to which
we acquired all of the issued and outstanding units of CyberViking, with CyberViking becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of our company. We anticipate
that this will expand our professional services offerings and capabilities. CyberViking specializes in application security services, incident response, and
threat hunting as well as the creation and management of security operation centers.

We did not acquire assets nor assume liabilities in our purchase of CyberViking, as a result the $ 1,836,320 of consideration paid is recognized
as goodwill. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

CUATROi Acquisition

On August 25, 2022, we entered into a stock purchase agreement with CUATROI and its partners, pursuant to which CUATROI became our
wholly owned subsidiary. We anticipate that this will expand our professional services offerings and capabilities. CUATROi is a cloud, managed services
provider and cybersecurity company with offices in South America.

The aggregate purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair
values as of the acquisition date, with the excess recorded to goodwill.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as of the
transaction date:

Consideration paid $ 6,847,474
Tangible assets acquired:

Cash 77,804
Accounts receivable 478,210
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 51,464
Property and equipment 434,816
Total tangible assets 1,042,294

Intangible assets acquired:

Customer base 1,240,000
Total intangible assets 1,240,000

Assumed liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 242 830
Loans payable 850,199
Total assumed liabilities 1,093,029
Net assets acquired 1,189,265
Goodwill (a) $ 5,658,209

(a) Goodwill and intangibles are not deductible for tax purposes.
NLT Secure Acquisition

On September 1, 2022, we entered into a stock purchase agreement with NLT Secure and its interest holders, pursuant to which we acquired all
of the issued and outstanding units of NLT Secure becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of our company. We anticipate that this will expand our
professional services offerings and capabilities. NLT Secure provides a broad range of security solutions and managed services to organizations
throughout South America.
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The aggregate purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimate fair
values as of the acquisition date, with the excess recorded to goodwill.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as of the
transaction date:

Consideration paid $ 6,919,597
Tangible assets acquired:

Cash 48,858
Accounts receivable 66,972
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 154,300
Property and equipment 1,071,401
Total tangible assets 1,341,531
Assumed liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 791,228
Loans payable 1,778,591
Total assumed liabilities 2,569,819
Net liabilities assumed 1,228,288
Goodwill (a) $ 8,147,885

(a) Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.
NOTE 5 - PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Prepaid expenses $ 253,953 % 987,651
Prepaid taxes 886,920 572,645
Prepaid insurance 59,398 164,354
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 1,200,271 $ 1,724,650
NOTE 6 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Computer equipment $ 1,277,609 $ 1,264,713
Building 1,715,929 1,776,040
Leasehold improvements 527,705 541,647
Vehicle - 28,229
Furniture and fixtures 128,904 151,142
Software 1,728,126 1,667,283
5,378,273 5,429,054
Less: accumulated depreciation (1,700,799) (748,559)
Property and equipment, net $ 3,677,474 $ 4,680,495

Total depreciation expense was $ 1,099,048 and $ 736,181 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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NOTE 7 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
Gooawill

During the year ended December 31, 2023, our share price reduction was determined to be an indicator of impairment under ASC 350 of our two
reporting units, United States and Latin America. We performed ongoing assessments to consider whether events or circumstances had occurred that
could more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. The valuation limitation from our recent share price decline
caused us to perform a goodwill impairment test as of December 31, 2023.

Based on the results of this testing, for the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded a pre-tax, non-cash impairment charge related to the
United States reporting unit and Latin America reporting unit of $ 35,933,364 and $ 9,261,353, respectively. This charge is recorded as Impairment of
goodwill on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss. The reduction in fair value for the reporting units, and corresponding
impairment charge, was primarily driven by the decline in our share price and uncertainty surrounding our company and a decrease in forecasted near-
term cashflows of our reporting units.

As part of our quantitative testing process for goodwill of the reporting units, we estimated fair values using a market approach.

The following table summarizes the changes in goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively:

Balance as of December 31, 2021

Goodwill $ 38,870,599
Accumulated impairment losses ( 22,078,064)

16,792,535



Goodwill acquired during year 58,190,213

Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,237,153
Other 444,116
Balance as of December 31, 2022
Goodwill $ 98,742,081
Accumulated impairment losses (22,078,064)
76,664,017
Foreign currency translation adjustment 50,544
Impairment losses (45,194,717)
Balance as of December 31, 2023
Goodwill 98,792,625
Accumulated impairment losses ( 67,272,781)
$ 31,519,844
Intangible Assets

We performed an impairment test of our intangible assets based upon the conditions that precipitated the goodwill impairment test described
above.

Based on the results of this testing, we recorded a pre-tax, non-cash impairment charge totaling $ 3,116,039 for the year ended December 31,
2023, related to our customer base, intellectual property, tradenames-trademarks and non-compete, which is included in the net carry amount of
intangibles in the table below. These charges were recorded in Selling, general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statement of
Operations and Comprehensive Loss.

Fair values used in testing for potential impairment of our intangible assets are calculated using a discounted cash flows method by applying
estimated cash flows from our forecasted revenue and expenses of the business that utilize those assets. The assumed cash flows from this calculation
are discounted at a rate based on a market participant discount rate.
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There is uncertainty surrounding the revenue and cost growth factors for these assets and a change in the long-term revenue and cost growth
rate or increase in the discount rate assumption could increase the likelihood of a future impairment.

Following the recognition of the impairment losses, the affected assets had an aggregate carrying value of $ 455,809 as of December 31, 2023.
Intangible assets, net are summarized as follows:

December 31, 2023

Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Net Carrying Amount
Tradenames — trademarks $ 4,037,142 $ (2,329,498) $ 1,707,644
Customer base 1,145,378 (639,937) 505,441
Non-compete agreements 685,651 (630,595) 55,056
Intellectual property/technology 2,588,560 (1,078,457) 1,510,103
$ 8,456,731 $ (4,678,487) $ 3,778,244
December 31, 2022
Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Net Carrying Amount
Tradenames — trademarks $ 4,744,409 $ (1,167,476) $ 3,576,933
Customer base 2,949,143 (449,565) 2,499,578
Non-compete agreements 796,583 (436,611) 359,972
Intellectual property/technology 2,659,391 (620,645) 2,038,746
$ 11,149,526 $ (2,674,297) $ 8,475,229

Amortization expense of identifiable intangible assets was $ 2,044,999 and $ 2,338,273, for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the weighted-average remaining amortization period for intangible assets was 2.70 years.

Based on the balance of intangibles assets at December 31, 2023, expected future amortization expense is as follows:

2024 $ 1,808,849
2025 983,019
2026 772,645
2027 115,331
2028 49,200
Thereafter 49,200

$ 3,778,244

NOTE 8 - ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following amounts:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Accounts payable $ 11,045,657 $ 5,267,492
Accrued payroll and bonuses 1,873,848 1,274,919
Accrued expenses 1,650,624 740,231
Accrued commissions 100,000 305,768
Indirect taxes payable 793,347 556,151
Accrued interest 487,851 165,776

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 15,951,327 $ 8,310,337
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NOTE 9 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Independent Consulting Agreement with Stephen Scott

In August 2020, we entered into an Independent Consulting Agreement with Stephen Scott, a then director of our company, with respect to
advisory and consulting services relating to our strategic and business development, and sales and marketing. Mr. Scott receives a consulting fee of $
11,500 per month for such services.

In July 2023, we entered into an Independent Consulting Agreement with Mr. Scott, to provide, on a non-exclusive basis, advisory and consulting
services relating to our strategic and business development, intellectual property development, banking relationships, and strategic M&A for a period of
one year. Mr. Scott will receive a consulting fee of $ 15,000 per month for such services under the terms of this agreement. During the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, we paid consulting fees to Mr. Scott in the amounts of $ 159,000 and $ 138,000 , respectively.

Convertible Note Payable — Related Party

In March 2023, we issued an unsecured convertible note to Hensley & Company in the principal amount of $ 5,000,000 bearing an interest rate
of 10.00 % per annum. The principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest is due on March 20, 2025 . At any time prior to or on the maturity
date, Hensley & Company is permitted to convert all or any portion of the outstanding principal amount and all accrued and unpaid interest thereon into
shares of our common stock at a conversion price of $ 18.00 per share ($ 1.20 on a pre-reverse split basis). During the year ended December 31, 2023,
we recorded interest expense of $ 388,888 and as of December 31, 2023, we had accrued interest of $ 388,888 . Andy McCain, a director of our
company, is President and Chief Executive officer of Hensley & Company.

Managed Services Agreement with Hensley Beverage Company — Related Party

In July 2021, we entered into a 1-year Managed Services Agreement with Hensley Beverage Company, an entity affiliated with Mr. McCain, a
director of our company, to provide secured managed services. We also may be engaged by Hensley Beverage Company from time to time to provide
other related services outside the scope of the Managed Services Agreement. While the agreement provides for a term through December 31, 2021, the
agreement will continue until terminated by either party. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we received $ 1,417,398 and $ 850,445 ,
respectively from Hensley Beverage Company for contracted services and had an outstanding receivable balance of $ 152,213 and $ 15,737 as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

NOTE 10 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorized the issuance of up to 300,000,000 shares of common stock and 50,000,000
shares of undesignated preferred stock, each having a par value of $ 0.00001 per share. Shares of common stock have both economic and voting rights.

Equity Transactions

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we issued an aggregate of 1,782,658 and 160,833 shares of common stock ( 26,739,853
and 2,412,474 on a pre-reverse split basis) to investors for cash proceeds of $ 6,682,198 and $ 10,689,087 , respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we issued an aggregate of 366,667 and 60,655 shares of common stock ( 5,500,000 and
909,819 on a pre-reverse split basis), respectively, to consultants, lenders, and vendors for services rendered.

In January 18, 2022, we issued a warrant to the underwriter of our Form S-1 to purchase an aggregate 9,614 shares of our common stock (
144,200 on a pre-reverse split basis). The warrant is exercisable for a period of 5 years from the date of issuance at an exercise price of $ 75.00 per
share ($ 5.00 on a pre-reverse split basis).

On May 19, 2023, we completed a $ 4,000,000 registered direct offering of our common stock, pursuant to which 1,333,334 shares of our
common stock ( 20,000,000 on a pre-reverse split basis) were issued. In addition, we granted the placement agent warrants to purchase 40,000 shares (
600,000 on a pre-reverse split basis) of our common stock at a price of $ 3.75 per share ($ 0.25 on a pre-reverse split basis). We have used the net
proceeds from the offering to repay $ 2,000,000 in outstanding principal of short-term indebtedness and for general corporate purposes. The warrant is
exercisable at any time on or after November 12, 2023, and expires on May 16, 2028 .
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The follow table summarizes warrant activity:
Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Life (in years) Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2022 = $ = S $ S
Granted 9,614 75.00 - -
Exercised - - - -
Expired or cancelled - z Z Z
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 9,614 $ 75.00 4.01 $ -
Exercisable at December 31, 2022 9,614 $ 75.00 4.01 $ -

Weighted

Average
Remaining Aggregate
Weighted Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Life (in years) Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2023 9,614 $ 75.00 4.01 $ =
Granted 40,000 3.75 5.00 -
Exercised - - - -

Expired or cancelled - - - -




Outstanding at December 31, 2023 49,614 $ 17.56 4.12 $ -
Exercisable at December 31, 2023 49,614 $ 17.56 4.12 $ -

NOTE 11 - STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
2023 Equity Incentive Plan

Our 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2023 Plan”), which replaces our 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”), became effective on
September 13, 2023. The total number of shares of our common stock reserved and available for delivery under the 2023 Plan at any time during the
term of the 2023 Plan will be 2,666,667 shares ( 40,000,000 on a pre-reverse split basis) plus any remaining available for delivery under the 2019 Plan
on the effective date of the 2023 Plan. As of the effective date of the 2023 Plan, there were 1,455,983 shares ( 21,839,752 on a pre-reverse split basis)
remaining available for delivery under the 2019 Plan. Therefore, as of September 13, 2023, there were an aggregate of 4,122,650 shares ( 61,839,752
on a pre-reverse split basis) reserved and available for delivery under the 2023 Plan. In addition, to the extent that any stock options pursuant to the 2019
Plan expire, terminate or are canceled or forfeited under the terms of the 2019 Plan, the shares of common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to such
stock options will become available for issuance under the 2023 Plan.

Options

We granted options for the purchase of 326,512 and 1,049,489 shares of common stock ( 4,900,833 and 17,457,613 on a pre-reverse split
basis) during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

In applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model to stock options granted, we used the following assumptions:

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Risk free interest rate 3.46 % - 4.79% 1.43 % - 4.22%
Contractual term (years) 5.00 — 10.00 5.00 — 10.00
Expected volatility 94.58 % - 136.47% 87.11 % - 90.90%
Expected dividend yield -% -%
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The follow table summarizes stock option activity:
Weighted Average
Remaining
Weighted Average Contractual Life Aggregate
Shares Exercise Price (in years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2022 2,205,824 $ 27.60 = $ =
Granted 1,049,489 52.65 - -
Exercised (179,268) 8.25 - -
Expired or cancelled (649,617) 45.45 - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 2,426,428 36.73 - -
Granted 326,512 6.15 - -
Exercised (69,378) 7.18 - =
Expired or cancelled (578,394) 41.56 - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 2,105,168 $ 31.63 4.40 $ 1,542
Exercisable at December 31, 2023 1,514,541 $ 28.53 318 % -

The aggregate intrinsic value for stock options outstanding and exercisable is defined as the positive difference between the fair market value of
our common stock and the exercise price of the stock options.

Total compensation expense related to the options was $ 11,469,667 and $ 15,464,587 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. As of December 31, 2023, there was future compensation expense of $ 16,337,762 with a weighted average recognition period of 1.85
years related to the options. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years 2023 and 2022 was $ 2.57 and $ 38.82,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, was $ 887,595 and $ 7,164,856,
respectively.

During the year-ended December 31, 2023, 317,929 options vested, net of forfeitures.
NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Legal Claims

From time-to-time, we are a party to litigation and subject to claims, suits, regulatory and government investigation, other proceedings and
consent decrees in the ordinary course of business. We investigate claims as they arise and accrue estimates for resolutions of legal and other
contingencies when losses are probable and reasonably estimable.

There are no material pending legal proceedings in which we or any of our subsidiaries is a party or in which any of our directors, officers or
affiliates, any owner of record or beneficially of more than 5% of any class of our voting securities, or security holder is a party adverse to us or has a
material interest adverse to us . While the results of such normal course claims and legal proceedings, regardless of the underlying nature of the claims,
cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes, based on current knowledge and the likely timing of resolution of various matters, any
additional reasonably possible potential losses above the amounts accrued for such matters would not be material. However, the outcome of claims,
legals proceedings or investigations are inherently unpredictable and subject to uncertainty, and may have an adverse effect on us because of defense
costs, diversion of management resources and other factors that are not known to us or cannot be quantified at this time. We may also receive
unfavorable preliminary or interim rulings in the course of litigation, and there can be no assurances that favorable final outcomes will be obtained. The
final outcome of any current or future claims or lawsuits could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. We periodically
evaluate developments in our legal matters that could affect the amount of liability that has been previously accrued or the reasonably possible losses
that we have disclosed, and make adjustments as appropriate.

Indirect Taxes

We are subject to indirect taxation in some, but not all, of the various states and foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Laws and
regulations attempting to subject commerce conducted over the Internet to various indirect taxes are becoming more prevalent, both in the United States
and internationally, and may impose additional burdens on us in the future. Increased regulation could negatively affect our business directly, as well as
the business of our customers. Taxing authorities may impose indirect taxes on the Internet-related revenue we generated based on regulations currently



being applied to similar, but not directly comparable industries. There are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate indirect tax
determination is uncertain. In addition, domestic and international indirect taxation laws are complex and subject to change. We may be audited in the
future, which could result in changes to our indirect tax estimates. We continually evaluate those jurisdictions in which nexus exists, and believe we
maintain adequate indirect tax accruals.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, our accrual for estimated indirect tax liabilities was $ 793,347 and $ 409,187 , respectively, reflecting our
best estimate of the potential liability based on an analysis of our business activities, revenues subject to indirect taxes, and applicable regulations.
Although we believe our indirect tax estimates and associated liabilities are reasonable, the final determination of indirect tax audits, litigation, or
settlements could be materially different than the amounts established for indirect tax contingencies.
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Warranties

Our services are generally warranted to deliver and operate in a manner consistent with general industry standards that are reasonably
applicable and materially conform with our documentation under normal use and circumstances.

We offer a limited warranty to certain customers, subject to certain conditions, to cover certain costs incurred by the customer in case of a
security breach. We have entered into an insurance policy to cover our potential liability arising from this limited warranty arrangement. We have not
incurred any material costs related to such obligations and have not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in the consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

In addition, we also indemnify certain of our directors and executive officers against certain liabilities that may arise while they are serving in good
faith in their company capacities. We maintain director and officer liability insurance coverage that would generally enable us to recover a portion of any
future amounts paid.

NOTE 13 - LOANS PAYABLE, CONVERTIBLE NOTE PAYABLE AND LINES OF CREDIT
Loans Payable

Loans payable was as follows:

Effective Interest December 31, December 31,
Rate Maturities 2023 2022
Term loans (US dollar denominated) 4.00 % — 71.55% 2023 - 2027 $ 1,899,035 $ 5,461,520
Term loans (Chilean peso denominated) 3.48 % - 19.20% 2023 - 2031 4,541,217 6,541,113
6,440,252 12,002,633
Less current portion (3,691,464) (7,758,831)
Long term loans payable $ 2,748,788 $ 4,243,802

Bridge Loan

We entered into a bridge loan with Bell Bank (the “Bell Bank Note”), secured by substantially all of our assets, in the principal amount of $
5,000,000 bearing an interest rate of 4.00 % per annum payable monthly with a maturity date of December 14, 2022 , which was extended to March 14,
2023. We did not repay this bridge loan on the maturity date, which resulted in an event of default under the terms thereof. As a result, the interest rate
applicable to amounts due under this bridge loan increased from 4.00 % to 7.50 %. This bridge loan was repaid in full on March 20, 2023. We recorded
interest expense of $ 116,667 and $ 114,167 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and had accrued interest of zero and $
4,167 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Term Loans

Various subsidiaries in the United States are borrowers under certain term loans. These term loans require monthly principal and interest
payments. The term loans are secured by various assets owned by our subsidiaries. We recorded aggregate interest expense of these term loans of $
20,605 and $ 50,754 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Accrued interest for the loans was zero and $ 13,435 as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The aggregate effective interest rate of the terms loans was 8.61 %.

Our Latin America subsidiaries are the borrowers under certain term loans denominated in Chilean Pesos. These term loans require monthly
principal and interest payments. The loans are secured by various assets owned by our subsidiaries. We recorded aggregate interest expense on these
term loans of $ 617,804 and $ 318,055 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The aggregate effective interest rate of these
term loans was 11.15 %.

In March 2023, we entered into a cash advance agreement, pursuant to which we received gross proceeds of $ 2,000,000 and paid $ 87,500 in
upfront fees. The terms of the cash advance agreement called for us to remit aggregate weekly payments of $ 99,398 until such time as we had repaid $
2,870,000 . This cash advance agreement was secured by the accounts receivable of CISO Global Inc. and our wholly owned subsidiaries, Talatek, LLC
and True Digital Security, Inc. We recorded interest expense of $ 978,833 for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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In August 2023, we entered into a second cash advance agreement, pursuant to which we received gross proceeds of $ 2,000,000 and paid $
50,000 in upfront fees. The terms of the second cash advance agreement called for us to remit weekly payments of $ 80,588 until such time as we had
repaid $ 2,740,000 . This cash advance agreement was secured by the accounts receivable of CISO Global Inc. and our wholly owned subsidiaries,
Talatek, LLC and True Digital Security, Inc. We recorded interest expense of $ 468,707 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

In November 2023, we entered into a business loan and security agreement, pursuant to which we obtained a loan with a principal amount of $
2,200,000 and paid an origination fee of $ 44,000 . The business loan bears interest at a rate of 53.44 % per annum and is payable in 52 weekly
installments of $ 53,731 . We may prepay the loan in whole or in part, but partial repayments do not reduce the total interest payable on the loan, of $
594,000 . The business loan is secured by all of the assets of our US subsidiaries. The proceeds of the loan were used to repay in full the amount owned
under our cash advance agreements that we entered into in March and August 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded interest
expense of $ 200,881 .

In connection with the business loan, we entered into a fee agreement pursuant to which we issued 133,334 shares ( 2,000,000 on a pre-
reverse split basis) of our common stock as partial consideration for the lender to enter into the business loan and extend credit to us. We recorded the



issuance of our common stock as a discount to the business loan, which is amortized using the effective interest method over the term of the loan.
Convertible Notes Payable

In October 2021, we issued to Neil Stinchcombe, a convertible note in the principal amount of $ 1,500,000 bearing an interest rate of 5.00 % per
annum payable at maturity with a maturity date of January 27, 2022 , with a conversion price of $ 75.00 per share ($ 5.00 on a pre-reverse split basis).
On March 10, 2022, we entered into Amendment #1 to the note pursuant to which the maturity date was extended to October 27, 2022 . On March 27,
2023, we entered into a letter agreement with Neil Stinchcombe to resolve certain payment terms of his convertible note. We agreed to repay the principal
amount of the note in three equal installment payments of $ 500,000 on each of March 31, April 28 and May 31, 2023, with accrued interest to be paid on
May 31, 2023 at the note’s reflected interest rate of 5.00 % per annum. The principal amount of this note, plus all accrued interest was repaid in full under
the terms of the letter agreement. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we recorded interest expense (recovery) of ($ 16,970) and $
106,507 .

In June 2022, we issued an unsecured convertible note payable in the principal amount of $ 1,000,000 bearing an interest rate of 5.00 % per
annum payable monthly with a maturity date of June 2023, with a conversion price of $ 117.45 ($ 7.83 on a pre-reverse split basis). The outstanding
principal of this note can be redeemed at any time by us or at maturity at 105% . At maturity in June 2023, we repaid the unpaid accrued interest on this
convertible note and rolled the principal amount of $ 1,050,000 into a new convertible note with the lender. We recorded interest expense of $ 22,101
and $ 79,167 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

In June 2023, we issued an unsecured convertible note in the principal amount of $ 1,050,000 bearing an interest rate of 10.00 % per annum
payable monthly. The principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest is due on June 7, 2024 . At any time prior to or on the maturity date the
holder is permitted to convert all of the outstanding principal amount into 4.20 % of the authorized units of our wholly owned subsidiary vCISO, LLC. We
recorded interest expense of $ 61,954 for the year ended December 31, 2023. Accrued interest as of December 31, 2023 was $ 61,954 .

In March 2023, we issued an unsecured convertible note to Hensley & Company in the principal amount of $ 5,000,000 bearing an interest rate
of 10.00 % per annum. The principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest is due on March 20, 2025 . At any time prior to or on the maturity
date, Hensley & Company is permitted to convert all or any portion of the outstanding principal amount and all accrued but unpaid interest thereon into
shares of our common stock at a conversion price of $ 18.00 per share ($ 1.20 on a pre-reverse split basis). During the year ended December 31, 2023,
we recorded interest expense of $ 388,888 . Accrued interest as of December 31, 2023 was $ 388,888 . Mr. McCain, a director of our company, is
President and Chief Executive Officer of Hensley & Company.

In October 2023, we issued an unsecured convertible note in the principal amount of $ 1,000,000 bearing an interest rate of 12.00 % per annum
payable monthly. The principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest is due on October 12, 2024 . At any time prior to or on the maturity
date the holder is permitted to convert all of the outstanding principal amount into shares of our common stock at a conversion price of $ 1.7595 per
share ($ 0.1173 on a pre-reverse split basis). We recorded interest expense of $ 26,983 for the year ended December 31, 2023. Accrued interest as of
December 31, 2023 was $ 26,983 .
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Future minimum payments under the above debt instruments following the year ended December 31, 2023, are as follows:

2024 $ 5,867,234
2025 6,522,165
2026 535,515
2027 293,634
2028 246,145
Thereafter 344,110
13,808,803

Less: discount (318,551)
13,490,252

Less: current (5,741,464)
$ 7,748,788

NOTE 14 - LEASES

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we recognized additional ROU assets and lease liabilities of $ 733,782 and $ 476,986 ,
respectively. We elected to not recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities arising from short-term office leases, leases with initial terms of twelve months
or less (deemed immaterial) on the consolidated balance sheets.

When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, we discounted lease payments using its estimated
incremental borrowing rate. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied was 9.99 %. As of December 31, 2023, our leases had a
remaining weighted average term of 3.76 years.

The following table presents net lease cost and other supplemental lease information:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Lease cost

Operating lease cost (cost resulting from lease payments) $ 270,638 $ 259,033

Short term lease cost 156,828 66,658
Net lease cost $ 427,466 $ 325,691
Operating lease — operating cash flows (fixed payments) $ 270,638 $ 259,003
Operating lease — operating cash flows (liability reduction) $ 199,069 $ 233,425
Non-current leases — right of use assets $ 762,228 $ 255,687
Current liabilities — operating lease liabilities $ 219,342 $ 121,731
Non-current liabilities — operating lease liabilities $ 596,307 $ 159,205

Future minimum payments under non-cancelable leases for operating leases for the remaining terms of the leases following the year ended
December 31, 2023, are as follows:

Fiscal Year Operating Leases

2024 $ 293,689
2025 252,040
2026 198,690

2027 204,644



2028 53,816

Total future minimum lease payments 1,002,879

Amount representing interest (187,230)

Present value of net future minimum lease payments $ 815,649
F-27

NOTE 15 - INCOME TAXES

For the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022, the income tax benefit consisted of the following:
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Current:
Federal $ - $ -
Foreign - 1,432
State - 6,869
Total current income taxes $ = $ 8,301
Deferred
Federal $ $ (95,018)
Foreign (435,678) 100,466
State - (14,298)
Total deferred income taxes $ (435,678) $ (8,850)
Total $ (435,678) $ (549)

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax benefit to actual tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Computed tax benefit at statutory rate 21.00% 21.00%
Stock-based compensation (3.28)% (5.10)%
Change in valuation allowance (10.77)% (9.12)%
Return to provision adjustments (6.81)% (6.39)%
Other, net (0.14)% (0.39)%
Effective tax rate 0.00% 0.00%

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Deferred tax assets:
Property and equipment $ 213,643 $ 69,252
Allowance for doubtful accounts 53,700 143,804
Net operating loss carryforwards 9,696,873 1,452,734
Stock-based compensation 9,841,300 4,303,860
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 307,842 3,191
Goodwill impairment 12,298,349 -
Other 19,770 208,043
Total deferred tax assets $ 32,431,477 $ 6,180,884
Valuation allowance (31,988,729) (4,381,644)
Net deferred income taxes $ 442,748 $ 1,799,240
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assets $ (326,448) % (2,041,418)
Prepaid expenses (116,300) (1193,500)
Total deferred tax liabilities (442,748) (2,234,918)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ - $ (435,678)
Net deferred tax liability by jurisdiction
Domestic $ - $ -
Chile - (435,678)
Peru - -
Colombia = =
Total $ - $ (435,678)
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We account for deferred taxes under ASC 740, Income Taxes, which requires a reduction of the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets by a
valuation allowance if, based on available evidence, it is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized. Accordingly, the need to establish
valuation allowances for deferred tax assets is assessed periodically based on the ASC 740 more-likely-than-not realization threshold criterion. This
assessment considers matters such as future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning
strategies, legislative developments, and results of recent operations. The evaluation of the recoverability of the deferred tax assets requires that we
weigh all positive and negative evidence to reach a conclusion that it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. The weight given to the evidence is commensurate with the extent to which it can be objectively verified.

We have provided a valuation allowance for our net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2023 and 2022, due to the uncertainty surrounding the
future realization of such assets and the cumulative losses we have generated. Therefore, no benefit has been recognized in the financial statements for
the net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, the valuation
allowance increased by $ 27,607,085 and decreased by $ 4,555,842 , respectively.



As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately $ 34,870,734 of consolidated federal net operating loss carryforwards and $ 39,385,617 of
apportioned state net operating loss carryforwards available to offset future taxable income, respectively. If unused, the federal and state net operating
loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2032. Additionally, we had $ 3,579,475 of net operating loss carryforwards from our subsidiaries located in Latin
America, primarily within Chile. An indefinite carryforward of losses is allowed in Chile. The net operating loss carryforward in Peru will begin to expire in
2026.

Utilization of net operating loss carryforwards and credits may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (IRC), and similar state provisions. We have not performed a detailed analysis to
determine whether an ownership change under Section 382 of the IRC has occurred or will occur. We will perform an analysis as soon as is practicable
to determine the extent of limitations, especially in regard to our subsidiaries. It is possible that additional limitations may arise in future years, even after
an analysis is completed, due to future changes in the ownership of our Company.

We file federal and state income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations. With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to
federal or state income tax examinations by tax authorities for tax years prior to 2022 and 2021, respectively. We believe our income tax filing positions
and deductions are more likely than not to be sustained on audit. Therefore, no liabilities for uncertain tax positions have been recorded.

As of the date of this filing, we have not filed our 2023 federal and state income tax returns. We expect to file these documents as soon as
practicable.

NOTE 16 —- DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

On January 1, 2023, we began sponsoring a defined contribution 401(k) plans covering eligible U.S. employees, who may contribute up to 80 %
of their compensation, subject to limitations established by the Internal Revenue Code. We match employee contributions on a discretionary basis.
Expense for our matching contributions was $ 637,365 during 2023.
NOTE 17 - CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK AND SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS
Cash Deposits

Our financial instruments exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. Although we deposit cash with
multiple banks, these deposits, including those held in foreign branches of global banks, may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits.
These deposits may generally be redeemed upon demand and bear minimal risk.
Revenue

No single customer represented over 10 % of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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NOTE 18 - GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Revenue by geography is based on the customer’s billing address and was as follows:

2023 2022
u.s. $ 33,953,744 $ 36,559,841
Chile 22,570,883 9,634,082
All other countries 534,130 355,694
$ 57,058,757 $ 46,549,617
No other international country represented more than 10% of revenue in any period presented.
Property and equipment, net by geography was as follows:
2023 2022
u.S. $ 1,052,637 $ 1,198,057
Chile 2,623,881 3,480,911
All other countries 956 1,527
$ 3,677,474 $ 4,680,495

No other international country represented more than 10% of property and equipment, net in any period presented.
NOTE 19 - ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The following table presents AOCI activity in equity:
Foreign Currency

Translation

Adjustments Total AOCI
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ - $ -
Other comprehensive income 1,062,247 1,062,247
Amounts reclassified from AOCI = =
Balance as of December 31, 2022 1,062,247 1,062,247
Other comprehensive income 257,930 257,930
Amounts reclassified from AOCI - -
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 1,320,177 $ 1,320,177

NOTE 20 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 31, 2024, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan and Security Agreement”) with Aion Financial Technologies,
Inc. (“Aion”), pursuant to which we may borrow up to $ 3,500,000 . The amount available for borrowing at any one time is limited to 80% of our eligible
accounts receivable. The Loan and Security Agreement will bear interest at a rate of 19.25 % per annum (based a 360-day year), payable on the first
business day of each month following the accrual thereof. The Loan and Security Agreement, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon, is due



on January 30, 2025 (the “Maturity Date”). Upon providing 30 days written notice we may terminate the Loan and Security Agreement, subject to an early
termination fee of $ 35,000 . Upon the occurrence of an “Event of Default” (as defined in the Loan Security Agreement and including the failure to make
required payments when due after specified grace periods, certain breaches and certain specified insolvency events), Aion would have the right to
accelerate payments due, which from after such acceleration would bear interest at a default rate of 29.25 % per annum. The Loan and Security
Agreement is secured by our assets.

In connection with the Loan and Security Agreement, Aion opened a bank account in our name to be used for general business purposes
including receipt of customer payments, disbursements paying normal business expenses, and receipt of any advances from Aion under this agreement.

We will use proceeds from the Loan and Security Agreement to repay our business loan entered into November 2023 and for general corporate
purposes, which may include working capital, capital expenditures, and repayment of debt.

On February 29, 2024, our board of directors approved a 1-for-15 reverse stock split of our common stock. The record date for the reverse stock
split was the close of business on March 7, 2024, with share distribution occurring on March 8, 2024. As a result of the reverse stock split, stockholders
received one share of CISO Global, Inc. common stock, par value $ 0.00001 , for each 15 shares they held as of the record date. All share and per share
amounts have been retroactively restated for the effects of this reverse stock split. Common stock underlying our outstanding warrants, convertible notes,
and options have also been adjusted, and the conversion and exercise prices have also been adjusted.

On March 22, 2024, we received notification from the Nasdaq Stock Market that we had sufficiently demonstrated compliance with the bid price
requirement in Nasdagq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) by maintaining a share price in excess of $ 1.00 per share for 10 consecutive trading days.

On March 28, 2024, we and our US subsidiaries entered into a Business Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan Agreement” with LendSpark
Corporation (the “Lender”), pursuant to which we obtained a loan with a principal amount of $ 2,200,000 (the “Loan”) from the Lender. Pursuant to the
Loan Agreement, we paid the Lender a $ 44,000 origination fee. The Loan bears interest at a rate of 51.73 % per annum and is payable in 52 weekly
installments of $ 53,308, commencing on April 5, 2024. We may prepay the Loan in whole or in part, but partial repayments do not reduce the total
interest payable on the Loan, or $ 572,000 . If the Loan is prepaid in full prior to the 60-day anniversary of the date of the Loan Agreement, the total
interest is reduced as follows: (i) if the Loan is repaid within 30 days, the total amount of interest due will be $242,000, and (ii) if the Loan is repaid within
60 days, the total amount of interest due will be $286,000.

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, we granted the Lender a security interest in all if our assets and the assets of our US subsidiaries (the
“Collateral”) that is secondary to the security interest held by Aion. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the Lender may, among other things,
accelerate the Loan and declare all obligations immediate due and payable or take possession of the Collateral.

In connection with Loan, we entered into a Fee Agreement (the “Fee Agreement”) with the Lender pursuant to which we issued 100,000 shares
of our common stock, par value $ 0.00001 per share (the “Shares”) as partial consideration for the Lender’s agreement to enter into the Loan Agreement
and extend credit to us. Pursuant to the Fee Agreement, if we repay the Loan in full by (i) May 1, 2024, the Lender will return 75% of the Shares to us,
and (i) June 1, 2024, the Lender will return 50% of the Shares to us. The Fee Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, agreements
and obligations of the parties.
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EXHIBIT 4.2
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES REGISTERED UNDER SECTION 12 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

The following description of the common stock, par value $0.00001 per share (the “Common Stock”) of Cerberus Cyber Sentinel Corporation
(“us,” “our,” “we,” or “our company”), which is the only security of our company registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), is intended as a summary only and does not purport to be complete. This description is subject to, and qualified in its
entirety by, reference to our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), our By-laws (the “By-laws”), and the
applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”"), each as amended from time to time. You should read the Certificate of
Incorporation and the By-laws which are incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3.1 and Exhibit 3.2, respectively, to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of
which this Exhibit 4.2 is a part.

Authorized Capital Stock

Our authorized capital stock consists of 300,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.00001 per share
(the “Preferred Stock”).

Common Stock

Voting Rights. Holders of our Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders and do not
have cumulative voting rights. Holders of our common stock, voting as a single class, are entitled to elect all of the directors of our company. Matters
submitted for stockholder approval generally require a majority vote.

Dividends. Holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive proportionately any dividends as may be declared by our Board of Directors, subject to any
preferential dividend rights of any series of outstanding Preferred Stock.

Liquidation and Dissolution. Subject to the DGCL and the rights, if any, of the holders of one or more series of Preferred Stock created and issued by our
Board of Directors, the holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive our assets available for distribution to our stockholders ratably in proportion to the
number of shares of our common stock held by them. A merger or consolidation of us with or into another entity, or a sale or conveyance of all or any part
of our assets (which does not in fact result in the liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of us and the distribution of our assets to our stockholders) will not
be deemed to be a liquidation, dissolution, or winding up for purposes of the prior sentence.

Other Rights. Holders of our Common Stock have no preemptive, subscription, redemption, or conversion rights. The rights, preferences, and privileges of
holders of Common Stock are subject to and may be adversely affected by the rights of the holders of shares of any series of Preferred Stock that we may
designate and issue in the future.

Preferred Stock

Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes our Board of Directors to issue up to 50,000,000 shares of our Preferred Stock, which may be issued in one or
more series upon authorization of our Board of Directors. Subject to the limitations prescribed by our Certificate of Incorporation, our Board of Directors is
authorized to establish the number of shares constituting each series of Preferred Stock and to fix the designation of the series, the number of authorized
shares of the series, dividend rights and terms, conversion rights, voting rights, redemption rights and terms, liquidation preferences and any other rights,
powers, preferences and limitations applicable to each series of Preferred Stock. The authorized shares of our Preferred Stock are available for issuance
without further action by our stockholders, unless such action is required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange on which our securities may
be listed. If the approval of our stockholders is not required for the issuance of shares of our Preferred Stock, our Board of Directors may determine not to
seek stockholder approval. The issuance of Preferred Stock could impede the completion of a merger, tender offer, or other takeover attempt.

Provisions of Our Certificate of Incorporation, By-laws and the Delaware General Corporation Law That May Have Anti-Takeover Effects

The DGCL contains, and our Certificate of Incorporation and our By-laws contain, provisions that could have the effect of delaying, deferring, or
discouraging another party from acquiring control of us. These provisions, which are summarized below, are expected to discourage coercive takeover
practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with
our Board of Directors.

Removal of Directors

A director may be removed only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the votes that all of our stockholders would be entitled to
cast in an annual election of directors. Any vacancy on our Board of Directors, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement of our Board of
Directors, may be filled only by vote of a majority of our directors then in office.

Delaware Law

We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, an anti-takeover statute. Subject to certain exceptions set forth therein, Section 203 of the DGCL prohibits a
business combination with any interested stockholder for a period of three years following the time that the interested stockholder became an interested
stockholder, unless (a) prior to such time our Board of Directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the
interested stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, (b) upon the consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an
interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of our outstanding voting stock at the time the transaction commenced, excluding
for purposes of determining our outstanding voting stock (but not our outstanding voting stock held by the interested stockholder) our outstanding voting
stock held by our directors and officers and our employee stock plan in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially
whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer (if any), and (c) at or subsequent to such time, the business
combination is approved by our Board of Directors and authorized at a meeting of our stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of our
outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

An interested stockholder generally is defined in Section 203 of the DGCL to include (a) any person (other than the corporation and any of its direct or
indirect majority-owned subsidiaries) that is the owner of 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation, or is an affiliate or associate of
the corporation and was the owner of 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation at any time within three years immediately prior to
the date of determination; and (b) the affiliates and associates of any such person.

The provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL may encourage persons interested in acquiring us to negotiate in advance with our board of directors and may
also have the effect of preventing changes in our management. It is possible that the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL could make it more difficult to



accomplish transactions which one or more of our stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.
Series of Preferred Stock

Our Certificate of Incorporation empowers our Board of Directors to create and issue, without stockholder approval, one or more series of preferred stock
having such powers, preferences, and rights, if any, and such qualifications, limitations, and restrictions, if any, as established our Board of Directors.

Exclusive Forum Provision

Our Certificate of Incorporation provide that unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the United States District Court for the
District of Arizona sitting in Phoenix, Arizona, or, if such court lacks jurisdiction, the state district court of Maricopa County, Arizona, shall, to the fullest

extent permitted by applicable law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (b) any action

asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, or other employees to us or our shareholders; (c) any action asserting
a claim against us or any of our directors, officers, or other employees pursuant to any provision of our certificate of formation or bylaws or the DGCL; and
(d) any action asserting a claim against us or any of our directors, officers, or other employees relating to our internal affairs. Any person or entity
purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in our stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to jurisdiction and venue
in the United States District Court for the District of Arizona sitting in Phoenix, Arizona, and the state district court of Maricopa County, Arizona. If any

action within the scope of this provision is filed in violation of such provision (a “violating action”), the violating party shall be deemed to have consented
to (a) the personal jurisdiction of such Arizona federal and state courts in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce such provision
and (b) having service of process made upon the violating party in any such action by service upon the violating party’s counsel in the violating action as
agent for such shareholder. This provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us
and our directors, officers or other employees, and may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims.

We believe that the provisions described above apply to actions arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and the
Exchange Act. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such provisions, as Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent
jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations
thereunder.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our Common Stock is Securities Transfer Corporation.




LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Name

Exhibit 21.1

State or Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization

GenResults, LLC
TalaTek, LLC
Technologyville, Inc.
Clear Skies Security, LLC
Alpine Security, LLC

Catapult Acquisition Corporation dba VelocIT

Ocean Point Equities, Inc.

RED74 LLC

Atlantic Technology Systems, Inc.
Atlantic Technology Enterprises, Inc.
True Digital Security, Inc.

Creatrix, Inc.

CyberViking, LLC

Servicios Informaticos CUATROI, S.P.A.
Comercializadora CUATROI S.P.A.
CUATROi Peru, S.A.C.

CUATROI S.AS.

NLT Networks, S.P.A.

NLT Tecnologias, Limitada

NLT Servicios Profesionales, S.P.A.
White and Blue Solutions, LLC

CISO Global Chile, S.P.A.

CISO Cybersecurity Limited

CISO Cybersecurity Global Holdings Limited

Arizona
Virginia
Illinois
Georgia
Illinois
New Jersey

British Virgin Islands

New Jersey
New Jersey
New Jersey
Delaware
Maryland
Oregon
Chile
Chile
Peru
Colombia
Chile
Chile
Chile
Florida
Chile
Ireland
Ireland




Exhibit 23.1

SEMPLE, MARCHAL & COOPER, LLP

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND CONSULTANTS

3101 NORTH CENTRAL AVENUE, SUITE 1600, PHOENIX, ARIZONA 85012

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

CISO Global, Inc.
Scottsdale, Arizona

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (File No. 333-265574), as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commissions (“SEC”) on June 24, 2022, and Form S-8, as filed with the SEC on October 31, 2023 (File No. 333-275230), of CISO Global, Inc.
(the “Company”) of our report dated April 16, 2024, relating to the consolidated financial statements, which appear in this Form 10-K. Our report contains
an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

We did not audit the combined financial statements of the Company’s wholly-owned “South American Subsidiaries,” which include the consolidated
balance sheets of Arkavia Networks SpA. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Arkavia Networks Limitada and Arkavia Networks, as of December 31, 2023
and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022;
the combined balance sheets of Servicios Informaticos CUATROI, S.P.A., Comercializadora CUATROIi S.P.A., CUATROI Peru S.A.C., and CUATROi
S.A.S. (entities under common ownership and management) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the related combined statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the period from August 26, 2022 (Acquisition) to December 31, 2022;
and the combined balance sheets of NLT Networks, S.P.A., NLT Tecnologias, Limitada, NLT Servicios Profesionales, S.P.A. and White and Blue
Solutions, LLC (entities under common ownership and management) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the related combined statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023 and for the period from September 1, 2022 (Acquisition) to
December 31, 2022; and the related notes (collectively “combined financial statements”). The combined financial statements of the South American
Subsidiaries reflect total assets of $21.9 million and $39.5 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and total revenues of $23.1 and $10.0
million for the periods then ended. Those statements were audited by another auditor whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as
it relates to the amounts included for the South American Subsidiaries, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.

/s/ Semple, Marchal & Cooper, LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Phoenix, Arizona
April 16, 2024

TEL 602-241-1500 = FAX 602-234-1867 = WWW SEMPLECPA.COM




Exhibit 23.2

@ pakertilly

www, bakertilly.cl

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

€150 Global, Inc.
Scottsdale, Arizona

We herehy consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement Form 5-8 (File N® 333-275230) of
our report dated April 16, 2024 relating to the combined financial statements of Arkava Networks Spa., and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries Arkavia Networks Limitada and Arkavia Metworks as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the
year ended December 31, 2023, and 2022, and Servicios Informaticos CUATROI, 5.P.A., Comercializadera CUATROI
S.PA,, CUATROI Peru 5.4.C., and CUATRQI 5.4.5, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the year 2023 and for the
periad from August 26, 2022 (Acquisition) to December 31, 2022, and NLT Netwoarks, 5.P.A_, NLT Techologias, Limitada
and Servicios Profesionales, 5.P.A, for the year ended Decermnber 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the year 2023 and for the
periad from September 1, 2022 {Acquisition)to December 31, 2022, appearing in the CIS0 Global, Inc., Annual Report
on Form 10-K far the year ended Decemnber 31, 2023,

CLANDI|O SILVA MORALES BAKER TILLY CHILE LTDA.
Certifigd Public Accountants

Santiago, Chile
April 16, 2024

Baker Tilly Chile Audiores Consuliores Lida,, trading as Baker Tilly Chile is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly Intemational
Lid., the membears of which are saparale and independent lagal enfities.

AUDITORIA - CONSULTORIA - ASESORIAS TRIBUTARIAS

Baker Tilly Chile trading as Baker Tilly is a member of the global netwaork of Baker Tilly International Lt the members of which are separate
and independent legal entities,




Exhibit 31.1

CISO GLOBAL, INC.
CERTIFICATE
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

I, David G. Jemmett, certify that:

1.

2.

Date:

By:
Name:
Title:

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 for CISO Global, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

April 16, 2024

/s/ David G. Jemmett

David G. Jemmett
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CISO GLOBAL, INC.
CERTIFICATE
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

I, Debra L. Smith, certify that:

1.

2.

Date:

By:
Name:
Title:

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 for CISO Global, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

April 16, 2024

/s/ Debra L. Smith

Debra L. Smith
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CISO GLOBAL, INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CISO Global, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, in the capacity and on the date indicated below, hereby certifies pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the Registrant.
Date: April 16, 2024

By: /s/ David G. Jemmett

Name: David G. Jemmett
Title:  Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

This certification accompanies the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of CISO Global, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Annual Report on Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language
contained in such filing.




Exhibit 32.2

CISO GLOBAL, INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CISO Global, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, in the capacity and on the date indicated below, hereby certifies pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to her knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the Registrant.
Date: April 16, 2024

By: /s/ Debra L. Smith

Name: Debra L. Smith

Title:  Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

This certification accompanies the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of CISO Global, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Annual Report on Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language
contained in such filing.




CISO Global, Inc.
Executive Officer Clawback Policy

Approved by the Board of Directors on November 30, 2023 (the “Adoption Date”)

L Purpose

This Executive Officer Clawback Policy describes the circumstances under which Covered Persons of
CISO Global, Inc. and any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries (the “Company”) will be required to repay
or return Erroneously-Awarded Compensation to the Company.

This Policy and any terms used in this Policy shall be construed in accordance with any SEC regulations
promulgated to comply with Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Strect Reform and Consumer Protection
Act 0f 2010 and the rules adopted by Nasdagq.

Each Covered Person of the Company shall sign an Acknowledgement and Agreement to the Executive
Officer Clawback Policy in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A as a condition to his or her participation
in any of the Company’s incentive-based compensation programs.

1L Definitions

For purposes of this Policy, the following capitalized terms shall have the meaning set forth below:

(a) “Accounting Restatement” shall mean an accounting restatement (i) due to the material
noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws,
including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial
restatements that is material to the previously issued financial statements (a “Big R” restatement), or
(i1) that corrects an error that is not material to previously issued financial statements, but would result
in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the
current period (a “little r”” restatement).

(b) “Adoption Date” shall have the meaning set forth under the title of this Policy.

(c

N

“Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.

(d) “Clawback-Eligible Incentive Compensation” shall mean, in connection with an Accounting
Restatement, any Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a Covered Person (regardless of whether
such Covered Person was serving at the time that Erroncously-Awarded Compensation is required to
be repaid) (i) on or after the Nasdaq Effective Date, (ii) after beginning service as a Covered Person,
(1i1) while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or national
securities association, and (iv) during the Clawback Period.

(e

-

“Clawback Period” shall mean, with respect to any Accounting Restatement, the three completed
fiscal years immediately preceding the Restatement Date and any transition period (that results from a
change in the Company’s fiscal year) of less than nine months within or immediately following those
three completed fiscal years.

(f) “Committee” shall mean the Compensation Committee of the Board.

(g) “Company” shall have the meaning set forth in Section I above.
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(h) “Covered Person” shall mean any person who is, or was at any time, during the Clawback Period, an
Executive Officer of the Company. For the avoidance of doubt, Covered Person may include a former
Exccutive Officer that left the Company, retired, or transitioned to an employee role (including after
serving as an Executive Officer in an interim capacity) during the Clawback Period.

(i) “Erroneously-Awarded Compensation” shall mean the amount of Clawback-Eligible Incentive
Compensation that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that otherwise would have
been Received had it been determined based on the restated amounts. This amount must be computed
without regard to any taxes paid.

(i) “Executive Officer” shall mean the Company’s president, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting officer, the controller), any vice-president in charge
of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any other
officer who performs a policy-making function, or any other person (including an officer of the
Company’s parent(s) or subsidiaries) who performs similar policy-making functions for the Company.
For the sake of clarity, at a minimum, all persons who would be executive officers pursuant to Rule
401(b) under Regulation S-K shall be deemed “Executive Officers.”

(k

<

Financial Reporting Measures” shall mean measures that are determined and presented in
accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and
all other measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. For purposes of this Policy,
Financial Reporting Measures shall include stock price and total sharcholder return (and any measures
that are derived wholly or in part from stock price or total shareholder return).

(1) “Incentive-Based Compensation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section III below.
(m) “Nasdaq” shall mean The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC.
(n) “Nasdaq Effective Date” shall mean October 2, 2023.

(o) “Policy” shall mean this Exccutive Officer Clawback Policy, as the same may be amended and/or
restated from time to time.

(p) “Received” shall mean Incentive-Based Compensation received, or deemed to be received, in the
Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-
Based Compensation is attained, even if the payment or grant occurs after the fiscal period.

(q) “Repayment Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section V(d) below.

(r) “Restatement Date” shall mean the earlier of (i) the date the Board, a committee of the Board, or the
officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or
reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement,
or (ii) the date that a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare
an Accounting Restatement.

(s) “SARs” shall mean stock appreciation rights.

(t) “SEC” shall mean the U.S. Securitics and Exchange Commission.




111. Incentive-Based Compensation

“Incentive-Based Compensation” shall mean any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested wholly or
in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.

For purposes of this Policy, specific examples of Incentive-Based Compensation include, but are not limited
to:

e Non-cquity incentive plan awards that are carned, wholly or in part, based on satisfaction of a
Financial Reporting Measure performance goal;

e Bonuses paid from a “bonus pool,” the size of which is determined, wholly or in part, based on
satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal;

e Other cash awards based on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal;

e Restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance share units, stock options, and SARs that are
granted or become vested, wholly or in part, on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure
performance goal; and

e Proceeds received upon the sale of shares acquired through an incentive plan that were granted or
vested based, wholly or in part, on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal.

For purposes of this Policy, Incentive-Based Compensation excludes:

e Any base salaries (except with respect to any salary increases earned, wholly or in part, based on
satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal);

e Bonuses paid solely at the discretion of the Committee or Board that are not paid from a “bonus
pool” that is determined by satisfying a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal;

e Bonuses paid solely upon satisfying one or more subjective standards and/or completion of a
specified employment period;

e Non-equity incentive plan awards earned solely upon satisfying one or more strategic measures or
operational measures; and

e Equity awards that vest solely based on the passage of time and/or satisfaction of one or more non-
Financial Reporting Measures.

1v. Determination and Calculation of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation

In the event of an Accounting Restatement, the Committee shall promptly and in all events within ninety
(90) days after the Restatement Date) determine the amount of any Erroneously-Awarded Compensation
for each Executive Officer in connection with such Accounting Restatement and shall promptly thereafter
provide each Executive Officer with a written notice containing the amount of Erroneously-Awarded
Compensation and a demand for repayment or return, as applicable.

(a) Cash Awards. With respect to cash awards, the Erroncously-Awarded Compensation is the difference
between the amount of the cash award (whether payable as a lump sum or over time) that was Received
and the amount that should have been received applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure.

(b) Cash Awards Paid From Bonus Pools. With respect to cash awards paid from bonus pools, the
Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is the pro rata portion of any deficiency that results from the
aggregate bonus pool that is reduced based on applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure.

(c) Equity Awards. With respect to equity awards, if the shares, options, or SARs are still held at the time
of recovery, the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation is the number of such securities Received in
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V.

cxcess of the number that should have been received applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure
(or the value in excess of that number). If the options or SARs have been exercised, but the underlying
shares have not been sold, the Erroncously-Awarded Compensation is the number of shares underlying
the excess options or SARs (or the value thereof). If the underlying shares have already been sold, then
the Committee shall determine the amount which most reasonably estimates the Erroneously-Awarded
Compensation.

Compensation Based on Stock Price or Total Shareholder Return. For Incentive-Based
Compensation based on (or derived from) stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of
Erroncously-Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the
information in the applicable Accounting Restatement, the amount shall be determined by the
Committee based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock
price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was Received (in which
case, the Committee shall maintain documentation of such determination of that reasonable estimate
and provide such documentation to Nasdaq in accordance with applicable listing standards).

Recovery of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation

Once the Committee has determined the amount of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation recoverable from
the applicable Covered Person, the Committee shall take all necessary actions to recover the Erroncously-
Awarded Compensation. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, the Committee shall pursue the
recovery of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation in accordance with the below:

(@)

(b

N

(c

N

(d)

Cash Awards. With respect to cash awards, the Committee shall either (i) require the Covered Person
to repay the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation in a lump sum in cash (or such property as the
Committee agrees to accept with a value equal to such Erroneously-Awarded Compensation)
reasonably promptly following the Restatement Date or (ii) if approved by the Committee, offer to
enter into a Repayment Agreement. If the Covered Person accepts such offer and signs the Repayment
Agreement within a reasonable time as determined by the Committee, the Company shall countersign
such Repayment Agreement.

Unvested Equity Awards. With respect to those equity awards that have not yet vested, the Committee
shall take all necessary action to cancel, or otherwise cause to be forfeited, the awards in the amount of
the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation.

Vested Equity Awards. With respect to those equity awards that have vested and the underlying shares
have not been sold, the Committee shall take all necessary action to cause the Covered Person to deliver
and surrender the underlying shares in the amount of the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation.

In the event that the Covered Person has sold the underlying shares, the Committee shall either (i)
require the Covered Person to repay the Erroneously-Awarded Compensation in a lump sum in cash
(or such property as the Committee agrees to accept with a value equal to such Erroneously-Awarded
Compensation) reasonably promptly following the Restatement Date or (ii) if approved by the
Committee, offer to enter into a Repayment Agreement. If the Covered Person accepts such offer and
signs the Repayment Agreement within a reasonable time as determined by the Committee, the
Company shall countersign such Repayment Agreement.

Repavment Agreement. “Repayment Agreement” shall mean an agreement (in a form reasonably
acceptable to the Committee) with the Covered Person for the repayment of the Erroneously-Awarded
Compensation as promptly as possible without unreasonable economic hardship to the Covered Person.




(c) Effect of Non-Repavment. To the extent that a Covered Person fails to repay all Erroncously-Awarded
Compensation to the Company when due (as determined in accordance with this Policy), the Company
shall, or shall cause one or more other members of the Company to, take all actions reasonable and
appropriate to recover such Erroneously-Awarded Compensation from the applicable Covered Person.

The Committee shall have broad discretion to determine the appropriate means of recovery of
Erroneously-Awarded Compensation based on all applicable facts and circumstances and taking into
account the time value of money and the cost to sharcholders of delaying recovery. However, in no
event may the Company accept an amount that is less than the amount of Erroneously-Awarded
Compensation in satisfaction of a Covered Person’s obligations hereunder.

VL Discretionary Recovery

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to take action to recover
Erroneously-Awarded Compensation if any one of the following conditions are met and the Committee
determines that recovery would be impracticable:

(1) The direct expenses paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy against a Covered
Person would exceed the amount to be recovered, after the Company has made a reasonable
attempt to recover the applicable Erroncously-Awarded Compensation, documented such
attempts, and provided such documentation to Nasdaq;

(11) Recovery would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28,
2022, provided that, before determining that it would be impracticable to recover any amount
of Erroneously-Awarded Compensation based on violation of home country law, the Company
has obtained an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to Nasdagq, that recovery would
result in such a violation and a copy of the opinion is provided to Nasdaq; or

(iii)  Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits
arc broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of 26
U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.

VII.  Reporting and Disclosure Requirements

The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this Policy in accordance with the requirements of
the federal securities laws, including the disclosure required by the applicable filings required to be made
with the SEC.

VIII. Effective Date

This Policy shall apply to any Incentive-Based Compensation Received on or after the Nasdaq Effective
Date.

IX. No Indemnification
The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Person against the loss of Erroneously-Awarded
Compensation and shall not pay, or reimburse any Covered Persons for premiums, for any insurance policy

to fund such Covered Person’s potential recovery obligations.

X. Administration




The Committee has the sole discretion to administer this Policy and ensure compliance with Nasdaq
Rules and any other applicable law, regulation, rule, or interpretation of the SEC or Nasdaq promulgated
or issued in connection therewith. Actions of the Committee pursuant to this Policy shall be taken by the
vote of a majority of its members. The Committee shall, subject to the provisions of this Policy, make
such determinations and interpretations and take such actions as it deems necessary, appropriate, or
advisable. All determinations and interpretations made by the Committee shall be final, binding, and
conclusive.

XL Amendment; Termination

The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this Policy as it deems
necessary, including as and when it determines that it is legally required by any federal securitics laws, SEC
rule, or the rules of any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the
Company’s securities are then listed. The Board may terminate this Policy at any time. Notwithstanding
anything in this Section XI to the contrary, no amendment or termination of this Policy shall be effective if
such amendment or termination would (after taking into account any actions taken by the Company
contemporaneously with such amendment or termination) cause the Company to violate any federal
sccurities laws, SEC rule, or the rules of any national securities exchange or national securities association
on which the Company’s securities are then listed.

XII.  Other Recoupment Rights; No Additional Pavments

The Committee intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent of the law. The Committee may
require that any employment agreement, equity award agreement, or any other agreement entered into on
or after the Adoption Date shall, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, require a Covered
Person to agree to abide by the terms of this Policy. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition
to, and not in lieu of, any other rights under applicable law, regulation, or rule or pursuant to the terms of
any similar policy in any employment agreement, equity plan, equity award agreement, or similar
arrangement and any other legal remedics available to the Company. However, this Policy shall not provide
for recovery of Incentive-Based Compensation that the Company has already recovered pursuant to Section
304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or other recovery obligations.

XIII. Successors

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Persons and their beneficiaries, heirs,
executors, administrators, or other legal representatives.




Exhibit A

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT
TO THE
EXECUTIVE OFFICER CLAWBACK POLICY
OF
CISO GLOBAL, INC.

By signing below, the undersigned acknowledges and confirms that the undersigned has received and
reviewed a copy of the CISO Global, Inc. Executive Officer Clawback Policy (the “Policy”). Capitalized
terms used but not otherwise defined in this Acknowledgement and Agreement (this “Acknowledgement
Form”) shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Policy.

By signing this Acknowledgement Form, the undersigned acknowledges and agrees that the undersigned is
and will continue to be subject to the Policy and that the Policy will apply both during and after the
undersigned’s employment with the Company. Further, by signing below, the undersigned agrees to abide
by the terms of the Policy, including, without limitation, by returning any Erroneously-Awarded
Compensation (as defined in the Policy) to the Company to the extent required by, and in a manner
permitted by, the Policy.

Signature

Name

Date




